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2019 due to other work commitment. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated March 20, 2019 for details.
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KEY HIGHLIGHTS
MEE

For the year ended December 31,2018, on a combined basis: HE-_FTE-N\F+-_A=1T—HILFE  &&
BREE

* Revenue increased by 16.5% year-to-year to RMB6,090.8 million from e WABHZZ—LtHFMARBS261BET
RMBS5,226.1 million in 2017. LM I6s% EARKEC0908BET -

e Adjusted EBITDA increased by 55.6% year-to-year to RMB1,481.7 million from o EHEBBITDAR-ZZE—EFHARY 952
RMB952.1 million in 2017. Adjusted EBITDA margin increased from 18.2% in E,%ﬁlﬂtbi%m%.é%i/&% 1481788
2017 t0 24.3% in 2018. TC o RABEBITDAR BXA - T —tF1

182% 18I % —F— \FH)243% °

e Adjusted profit for the year increased by 66.8% year-to-year to RMB1,140.7 e FALAERENH-_ZT—LtFHNAR
million from RMB684.0 million in 2017. Adjusted net margin increased from 68408 8 7T [A Lk 1 jJI] 668% % A R ¥
13.1%in 2017 to 18.7% in 2018. L4 7B 8T KABRFMNEEXHR T

—HFEH131% FFAE T~ \FH)18.7% °

e Average MAUs increased by 44.6% year-to-year from 121.2 million in 2017 to e FHRAFBAPHZ-IZT—LFMII2EE

175.2 million in 2018. AR IEN446%ZE —F— N\NFH 17528
BA

e Average MPUs increased by 28.2% year-to-year from 15.6 million in 2017 to s FTHANEBEAFPFA-_Z—tHFWNIS6ES

20,0 million in 2018 YNGil=#:-ill 28.2%i:§—)\¢a’\3 20088

Revenue on a combined basis
BREOtEETTHWA
RMB million
AREBETT

*16.5

2017 2018

A °

Adjusted profit on a combined basis

BEHEETNERAEER

RMB million
ARBEEET
18.7%
13.1% A

66.8

=

>

O

Adjusted Net Margin
AR EE=

2017 2018



1. KEY FINANCIAL METRICS ON A COMBINED BASIS

tZR=t-A

Revenue KA

Adjusted EBITDA ISR EBITDA

Adjusted profit for the year ERERAE R

Revenue growth (year-to-year) WAER(FL)

Adjusted EBITDA margin B EBITDA R

Adjusted net margin EARFREE
Notes:

Year ended

December 31,

Bz

LFE
2018
“E2-N\F

Group
A4

5,255,639
1,152,134

915,945

Period ended
March 9,

Bz
=EhA
1115
2018
ZB-N\fF
Tongcheng
Online Business
ARELEH
(in RMB'000)
(AR®TT)

835,148
329,515
224,744

1. Please refer to “Other Financial Information” below for the meaning of “adjusted

EBITDA” and "adjusted profit for the year”.

2. Please refer to the Prospectus for the financial information of each of Tongcheng

Online Business and eLong for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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Y

Dec

tZR=1-A

ear ended
ember 31,

Bz

LEE
2018

ZE-N\E

Combined

At

6,090,787
1,481,649
1,140,689
16.5%
24.3%
18.7%

Year ended December 31,

HET-A=T-HILEE

2017
“EtF
Tongcheng
Group  Online Business Combined
AEE RERLES At
(in RMB"000)
(ARETT)

2518591 2,707499 5,226,090
169647 782407 952,054
192657 491,338 683,995

N/A TR
18.2%
13.1%

B FHZEEBITDA] K[ F N T & % T #)%
& AESETXEMBBELS] -

FHRRRLEBREESEREC

T4

TZA=Z+T—BLEFENNBER  F2HER

I
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2. FINANCIAL SUMMARY ON THE GROUP’S
STANDALONE BASIS

Revenue A

Gross profit E7

Profit before income tax R PS5 Al g A
Profit for the year F 1R A
Adjusted profit for the year FREAEEF

2. AEEEBNHRHE

|
Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2018 2017 Year-to-year
—E-N\F —T—tF change
RMB ' 000 RMB’ 000 [l b

ARBTT AREFT
5,255,639 2,518,591 108.7%
3,655,126 1,706,810 114.1%
601,526 134,021 348.8%
534,539 194,377 175.0%
915,945 192,657 3754%

3. OPERATING METRICS ON A COMBINED BASIS

Jajs N b
3. EfEERER
|
Year ended December 31,

BE+t-A=+—HLEFE

Year-to-year

GMV (in RMB billion) RXHBAREHET)

Number of average MAUs (in million) FHAERRAFEE
(RBE&E)

Number of average MPUs (in million) FHANEBRFEE

(#a &)

2018 2017 change
—ZE-N\F —E—+tF il=d-)
102.3 28.5%

121.2 44.6%

156 28.2%




CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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FOUR-YEAR PERFORMANCE REVIEW
RS S CI)

FHASEZERER

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-NE ZZ—HF ZE-—XRE ZZT—AF
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000 RMB’ 000 RMB' 000
ARBTRT ARBTT ARBTFT ARETT
Revenue ['ON 5,255,639 2,518,591 2,204,565 1,026,124
Gross profit EF 3,655,126 1,706,810 1,171,652 386,401
Profit/(loss) before income tax FRFT BB AT
wRL(EE) 601,526 134,021 (2,159,618) (957,813)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRERN,(BR) 534,539 194,377 (2,160,596) (963,019)
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity ARATERFEA
holders of the Company BEER(&R) 529,957 195,575 (2,139,267) (916,266)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FEREEBA
for the year (BHB)#5E 519,554 147,785 (2,123,815) (963,019)
KATERBEA
Total comprehensive income/(loss) EaZERA
equity holders of the Company (BR)EHE 514,972 148,983 (2,102,486) (916,266)
FREFHBER
Adjusted profit/(loss) for the year (BH) 915,945 192,657 (239,609) (730,294)
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FOUR-YEAR PERFORMANCE REVIEW

7O 248 Bl FE
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 4R S B AR R &R
FINANCIAL POSITION
|
As of December 31,
#z+=-A=+-8
2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-NE ZZ—HF ZE-—XRE ZZT—AF
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000 RMB' 000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT AR®BTT ARKETRT

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FERBEE 9,294,478 924,459 584,293 457,063
Current assets REBEE 7,496,865 1,843,551 1,721,516 1,799,734
Total assets EEH#E 16,791,343 2,768,010 2,305,809 2,256,797
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable to ERRERFEA

equity holders of the Company BEEXREE 11,535,453 (5,336,815) (5,538,199) 1,020,877
Non-controlling interests IR R (7,642) 4,881 6,079 27,510
Total equity QB 11,527,811 (5331,934) (5,532,120) 1,048,387
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities FEREEE 729,341 6,521,992 6,405,289 6,688
Current liabilities REAE 4,534,191 1,577,952 1,432,640 1,201,722
Total liabilities =Rt 5,263,532 8,099,944 7,837,929 1,208,410

Total equity and liabilities EZRkEERE 16,791,343 2,768,010 2,305,809 2,256,797




REH

ERUBAEFRANTES

I am pleased to present our first annual report for the year ended December 31,

2018 as a publicly listed company to our shareholders.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

2018 was a remarkable year for the Company. We successfully completed the
merger of Tongcheng and elLong and achieved solid growth and profitability as
a combined business. We listed our Shares on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on November 26, 2018. Through the pubilic listing, we have built
our name in the capital market as an industry innovator, a market leader as well
as a pioneer in the OTA industry. As we continue to focus on user reach, product
innovation and user experience, we have achieved strong business growth in
2018 and continued our momentum, which we believe makes us one of the

fastest growing companies in China’s online travel industry.

2018 Results Highlights on a Combined Basis

Our total revenues increased by 16.5% from RMB5,226.1 million in 2017 to
RMB6,090.8 million in 2018. Our adjusted profit for the year increased by 66.8%
from RMB684.0 million in 2017 to RMB1,140.7 million in 2018. Our adjusted net
margin rose from 13.19% in 2017 to 18.7% in 2018.

WU ZHIXIANG
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Co-Chairman of the Board and Executive Director
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Benefited from faster penetration in non-first-tier cities and continuous innovation
on various ancillary value-added products and services, we have maintained
high growth in our MAUs and MPUs. For the year ended December 31, 2018, our
average MAUSs increased by 44.6% year-to-year from 121.2 million to 175.2 million,
of which 140.6 million were from Tencent-based platforms. Over the same period,
our average MPUs increased by 28.2% year-to-year from 15.6 million to 20.0

million.

According to the Aladdin Index, we topped the list of “Monthly Ranking of Top
100 Weixin Mini Programs” A E#{Z/NMEFF TOP100#5 ) for four consecutive
months since September 2018. We were awarded the “Best Mini Program of the
Year” at the Aladdin Annual Conference on January 5, 2019, in recognition of our
outstanding product and service quality, the superior customer experience we

deliver and our industry influence.

Business Review

We are a market leader in China’s online travel industry. Benefiting from years
of experience and technological development of Tongcheng and elLong and
their complementary resources, we have achieved greater economies of scale,
solidified our market leading position, and enhanced our ability to provide
comprehensive travel products and services offerings following the Tongcheng-
elong Merger in March 2018. Our GMV achieved a year-to-year increase of 28.5%
and reached RMB131.5 billion in 2018.

We are a one-stop shop for users’ travel needs. We offer a comprehensive and
innovative selection of products and services covering nearly all aspects of travel,

including transportation ticketing, accommodation reservation and various

=l

SN ERTHRREE R L EREILEE
m R RSB ET R - B AEEAP RAR
BERFRESARRE -HE-T - N\F+=A
=T—BIEFE KZMNFHAERBFPA=T
—tEFEMNIEBRLIER46%E17528
& HER 1406 BEREEMET TS - BH -
BPH T ANERPRLLIER282% - B156
BEEE20088 -

REMTTHEE BB T N\FALARLE
BEAKREI AEME/NMERFTOP100 85 % |13
B BN T -NAE—-ARARBTOMAT F
g LRRIFERENEF]  BHRMAESHNE
mkRBEE - RAIMRRREEN TP BRI
PNTTREZENGETEE

RO

BMRHBERRETENTISEEE - Xamn
RAERBEZFROCBEIENERREEHE
B BN S —N\F=Z ARITRBEESHE
WMETERMBERLCESE  ZETMEERSE
A7 - ERF G587 R 42 E A IR B A R AR TS
Hae o —E2—N\F - ZMNXFBERLIERE
28.5% - EARBE13151ETT ©

BRI ERPIRITH RN~ T & - HfR
A TR E e T B 77 T A 22 T B3 EE Al AN AR TS
BiE - BRXBRY  EBEEFASBEERE



ancillary value-added products and services designed to meet users’ evolving
travel needs throughout their trips. As of December 31, 2018, our online platforms
offered over 6,400 domestic routes and over 1.1 million international routes
operated by 438 domestic and international airlines, over 1.4 million hotels and
alternative accommodation options, approximately 310,000 bus routes and over
417 ferry routes. We have established extensive long-term strategic partnerships
and alliances with TSPs to support our product innovation efforts and develop
more innovative ancillary value-added products and services. With the successful
implementation of the one-stop shop strategy, our retention rate achieved 67% in
2018.

Our large, fast-growing and engaged user base is a key factor for our business
success and future growth. Leveraging on the mutually beneficial partnership
between Tencent and us as well as our effective sales and marketing strategies,
we are able to reach an extensive and diversified user base in a cost-effective
manner, especially a vast pool of potential users in non-first-tier cities. As of
December 31, 2018, approximately 85.4% of our registered users resided in non-
first-tier cities in China with increased spending on, and demands, for quality
travel products. The percentage of users from non-first-tier cities in China in our
newly acquired paying users from Weixin increased from 54.9% in January 2018
to 64.3% in December 2018, with a full-year average of 61.1% in 2018. Benefiting
from our dedication to the Weixin-based mini program strategy, our average
MAUs and average MPUs have grown significantly in 2018. Currently, Weixin users
can access our Weixin-based mini program within the Weixin ecosystem through:
(1) Weixin Payment (Wallet) portal and a drop-down list of users’ favorite or most
frequently used mini programs, which generated an average MAUs of 74.2 million
in 2018, accounting for 52.8% of the total average MAUs of our Tencent-based
platforms; (2) interactive advertisements placed on the Tencent-based platforms,
which generated an average MAUs of 49.1 million in 2018, accounting for 34.9%
of the total average MAUs of our Tencent-based platforms; and (3) the sharing
and search functions in Weixin, which generated an average MAUs of 17.3 million
in 2018, accounting for 12.3% of the total average MAUs of our Tencent-based

platforms.

As a technology-driven company, we prioritize the development of our
information technology. By leveraging on our big data and Al capabilities, we are
not only able to better understand the preferences and behaviors of our users to
provide them with customized products and services, but can also offer insights to
our TSPs and enhance our value proposition to them. As we continue to invest in

our technology infrastructure, the number of transactions executed automatically
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through direct connect accounted for approximately 95% of the combined air
ticket orders and approximately 80% of the accommodation room nights in 2018
on a combined basis. Supported by our self-developed "Huixing” (217) system,
we offer our users intelligent travel options with product combo of railway, flight,
bus and ferry. Our “Buddha” system in air ticket booking is capable of serving
various demands of different users. We have rolled out our “Intelligent Hotel”
initiatives, which allow users to enjoy the benefits of advanced technologies
throughout the process of reservation, check-in, accommodation and departure

in our pilot hotels.

Business Outlook and Strategies

China’s travel market is sizable and is expected to continue to grow rapidly,
driven by the continuous increases in disposable income and consumption
power as well as the increasing urbanization. Chinese consumers’ demand for
quality customer service and superior user experience, including online platforms
offering basic transportation ticketing and accommodation reservation services
and a range of ancillary value-added products and services, have been increasing.
As a leading OTA in China, we are a one-stop shop for travelers’ entire travel
experience and is well positioned to capitalize on the enormous growth potential

as China’s travel market continues to evolve.

We strive to fulfil our mission and further solidify our market leadership through
the following initiatives. We will continue to grow the size and engagement of our
user base by expanding our product and service offerings. We intend to deepen
cooperation with our TSPs by delivering more compelling value proposition
to them. We also plan to pursue strategically selected acquisition, investment,
joint venture and partnership opportunities that are complementary to our
business and operations. Furthermore, we will leverage our strong data analytics
and technology capabilities to strengthen big data and Al innovations. As
technologies for human-machine interactions continue to advance, we will strive
to adapt to new technologies and formats with a view to becoming an intelligent

travel assistant for our users.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to extend my sincere gratitude to our users
and business partners, and to our dedicated employees and management team
for their contributions, commitment and dedication. I am also thankful for the
trust and continued support from our shareholders. We will strive to enhance our
capabilities and strengthen our leading position to generate lucrative returns for

our shareholders in the years to come.

Wu Zhixiang
Co-Chairman of the Board and Executive Director
Hong Kong, March 20, 2019
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BEEN WD

E-NF+ZA=+-HLFEEREE

—E—tF+ A=+ —HLEFENLER

|
Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’"000
ARBTR ARBTT
Revenue PN 5,255,639 2,518,591
Cost of revenue THERAR (1,600,513) (811,781)
Gross profit EF 3,655,126 1,706,810
Service development expenses AR7%5 BRI (1,349,935) (522,018)
Selling and marketing expenses THE R HMA Y (1,841,314) (1,094,977)
Administrative expenses TTHHX (934,925) (97,379)
Fair value changes on investments EAnEBEAEEEZ8EA
measured at fair value through profit or loss BEIRE QAR EBEEE 78,572 863
Other income H A 33,396 12,805
Other gains, net HE e F5E 47,888 22,610
Operating (loss)/profit T (EBR) EF (311,192) 28,714
Finance income BB WA 12,888 10,145
Finance costs M%EER (3,336) (163)
Fair value change on redeemable BARBESEEHEHI A
convertible preferred shares 1825/ 7] BB o] o] E iA
measured at fair value through profit or loss BERARBEZD 907,734 97,576
Share of results of associates it NG (4,568) (2,251)
Profit before income tax Bx Fr 8Bt A R 601,526 134,021
Income tax (expense)/credit ISR () e (66,987) 60,356
Profit for the year FRRF 534,539 194,377
Attributable to: AN B IB S ¢
Equity holders of the Company PAWNSIE: S SN 529,957 195,575
Non-controlling interests R R 4,582 (1,198)
Adjusted profit for the year® FRERARE RN 915,945 192,657
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWED M

Note:

(@) Please see “Other Financial Information-Non-IFRS Financial Measures” below for more
information about adjusted profit for the year.

REVENUE

Our revenue was generated primarily from accommodation reservation business
and transportation ticketing business. The following table sets forth a breakdown
of our revenue in absolute amount and as a percentage of the total revenue for

the periods indicated:

fia -

@ EEFAKABRENNEZER  FL2HTX
[EHBELE - ERERM SRS EM B

gl

WA

BN BATZREEEEITEFRBRR
X% TREJMTHARRARANBE S
FUEEW A B DL -

Year ended December 31,

BE+t-A=+t—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F T —tF
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
ARET T AREFIT
Accommodation reservation EBETERT RS
services 1,830,370 2,361,625 93.8
Transportation ticketing services RIBEIE AR 3,232,521 61,295 24
Others i 192,748 . 95,671 38
Total revenue AN 5,255,639 2,518,591 100.0

Revenue increased by 108.7% from RMB2,518.6 million for the year ended
December 31,2017 to RMB5,255.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.

WABRBE=-_Z—tF+-_A=+—HLFE
MAREE 25186 BEILIBMIBINEEHE—F
—NF+_A=+—HIFEMARKES52556

i —
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ACCOMMODATION RESERVATION SERVICES

We present accommodation reservation revenue on a net basis in circumstances
where we do not assume inventory risk, and on a gross basis in circumstances
where we prepurchase accommodation room nights for which we take inventory
risk. Revenue recognized on a gross basis represents the amounts billed to the
users for the room nights sold, while the prices at which we prepurchase the
room nights from the accommodation suppliers are recorded as cost of revenue.
In 2018 and 2017, inventory-risk-taking room nights accounted for approximately
0.6% and 2.8%, respectively, of the total numbers of room nights booked through

our online platforms.

In order to provide investors with additional information to evaluate the financial
impact of inventory-risk-taking room nights and the overall performance of
our accommodation reservation services, we set forth in the table below the
net commissions earned from accommodation reservation for the years ended
December 31,2017 and 2018:

EBE AR IR %5

ETAEFERBRHBIT - EBEBETRAR
FEEEZR - AR B W E 75 R B A
EirERREER MEBRITWARBEELE
28 - RABEERDBNRAERHEEBRRA
APALEENESRE MEMAETEHRHEDE
HEERNEBONINEHEENR - R_F—N\F
R_FT—t%F AEFERARNERD IS
BRERMOELFERFTHOREAED06% K
2.8% °

BT HREEERBEIMEENFTEAEFER
SRRV BENTZERIMANEBEETREH
EEXRE TRIJIINBE_FT—LFR-F
—N\E+ZA=T—-RALFEAEBERIER
MRS FEE

|
Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1+—RHLEE

. . . = =
Accommodation reservation services ERESEEIN Y
The excess of gross-up revenue over commissions

for inventory-risk-taking accommodation reservation

EEFER R A ERER
WA BB E D

Net commissions earned from

accommodation reservation

REBRT RO MEFRE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000
ARET T ARBFT
1,830,370 2,361,625
(188,070) (532,870)
1,642,300 1,828,755
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWED M

Net commissions earned from accommodation reservation represent the sum of
(i) accommodation reservation revenue generated from non-inventory-risk-taking
room night (which is recorded on a net basis), and (ii) accommodation reservation
revenue generated from inventory-risk-taking room nights, should such revenue
has been recorded on a net basis (the “"Adjusted Inventory-risk-taking
Revenues”). As disclosed above, as required under applicable accounting rules
and standards, revenues from inventory-risk-taking room nights are recorded on
a gross basis with the corresponding cost of prepurchased inventory-risk-taking
room nights recorded as cost of revenues, and Adjusted Inventory-risk-taking
Revenues are calculated by taking the difference between such gross revenues
and the corresponding cost of revenues. We believe that by excluding cost of
revenues, Adjusted Inventory-risk-taking Revenues reflect the actual earnings of
the Group from sales of inventory-risk-taking room nights, and accordingly, the
“net commissions earned from accommodation reservation” reflect the actual
earnings of the Group from all of its accommodation reservation transactions
and is a useful measure for investors in understanding and evaluating the
performance of our accommodation reservation business in the same manner as

our management.

Revenue from accommodation reservation services decreased by 22.5% from
RMB2,361.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 to RMB1,830.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease was mainly because we
strategically decreased sales of room nights through sales channels with relatively
low margins. The excess of gross-up revenue over commissions for inventory-
risk-taking accommodation reservation declined significantly by 64.7% from
RMB532.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 to RMB188.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2018, as we continued to focus on sourcing select,
high-quality accommodation options and strategically reduced the volume
of inventory-risk-taking prepurchased room nights in light of our heightened

bargaining power against accommodation suppliers.

HEBEBEIRRNABS FERATEENE
B ()BIFAEFERREAREE(ERFEE
ERH)MEBETRA - K (i) BREFERR
RRELEBBRTEA - HRBRARRFEE
ETH((RABREEFERBBAL - I EX
P& REBEERSHRAUREANESR . &
ERAEFERRBERAKAREREEDER
BHENAERFERRE B BRKALERH
BERA - MERHBAEFERBKATIEBZ
FRWATEEHER AN ZRTH - RAR
BOBBMBREERS  RRBEAEFERR
WARBAEE B HEAEFERBERME
MERARN At [BEBETRRSESF
BIRRAKREEMAEREERRAIRINERE
MABKREEMS RANRKMEEERNE
R T ERFEERTEBRRN —
BEMRTE -

FEEIRBEEANBABBEE_T—+F
TZAZT—ALFEFEHARK 2361688 T
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TRANSPORTATION TICKETING SERVICES

We generated transportation ticketing revenue primarily from commissions
received from suppliers of transportation tickets, travel insurance and other
ancillary value-added travel products and services. In these transactions, we act
primarily as an agent, assume no inventory risk and no obligations for cancelled

ticket reservations, and therefore record the revenue on a net basis.

Revenue from transportation ticketing services increased significantly from
RMB61.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 to RMB3,232.5 million for
year ended December 31, 2018, which was mainly due to our consolidation of the

financial results of Tongcheng Online Business since March 2018.

OTHERS

Other revenue mainly includes: (i) revenue from advertising services; and (i) since
the Group began to consolidate the results of operations of Tongcheng Online
Business in March 2018, (a) fees collected from Tongcheng Holdings for selling
its travel products and services through our online platforms; and (b) revenues
generated from ancillary value-added user services. Other revenue in 2017
also included revenue generated from a one-off technical support services we

provided to an affiliate of Ctrip in 2017.

Revenue from others increased by 101.4% from RMB95.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2017 to RMB192.7 million for year ended December 31,
2018, which was mainly due to the consolidation of the financial results of

Tongcheng Online Business since March 2018.

—ZT— )\&FE43R | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

RIBEB RS

RAEBEENRAFTZRAARNBESE I
BEAR B R H At il B 48 B R 35 = G K% BR 7% 1R 4
FWEHAE BRMEZERSGPEEEER
B MEEFERRABTHELEUENRETE
ERIER M - UL FEERERIA -

RBEHBRBEBUABBEE-T—tF+=A
=+—BLEFEHAREIEE T ARG M
BEHE_T-/\F+_A=+—HLEFENA
R¥3225B8 T FEEHREMEZZ
—N\F=ZAREHTREGEEBOTIEELS -

Ht

HMBATERRE  (\EERBAFERA X
(ii)$%@%:§—/\¢*ﬁﬁﬁﬁ BHRERL
EBMREEE R RREZERBBEMNER
J:JFL\%.:.,\EMEEM&HW’{WW&T P 5 B
WEMR  ROEERERFRBASHRA -
E-LFNEMBRATEREEMAR -_F— ti
AHEIZ B —FE B 18 2 AR 1 — IR B S #5 BR
BABWA -

HBABBE-_ZT—+F+-_A=+—BIt

iF;E’\J/\E%95.7E%ﬁibD 014%2HEZ
E-N\F+ZA=Z+—HLEFEMHARK 1927
BET FERHERARMEZZE-—NF=At
AU T AR E XML -

19



20

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | FEf2&5EERER AT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWED M

COST OF REVENUE

Our cost of revenue consists primarily of: (i) cost of prepurchased inventory-risk-
taking room nights, representing the prices we pay to accommodation suppliers
for room nights prepurchased for which we take inventory risk; (i) employee
benefit expenses, representing the wages, salaries, and other benefits (including
share-based compensation) paid to our user services and TSP services employees;
(iii) order processing cost, representing the fees we pay to banks and payment
channels for processing user payments; (iv) depreciation of property, plant and
equipment; and (v) others, which primarily include telephone and communication
costs, tax and surcharges, travel and entertainment cost, professional fees,
user fulfilment fees (which represents compensation paid to users due to user

complaints), and rental and utility fees.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our cost of revenue in absolute
amount and as a percentage of total cost of revenue for the years ended
December 31,2018 and 2017:

HEKAETEZBE(AEFERRNBEEE®
R - BB PSR MAEES RRE B B
RAEBEHRERMNOERS  ()EB RN
320 BIE AR P AR K i e AR 7% L 7 AR A O B
IXNNTE  HFeREMEN(BREARN R
ERER BN ) ¢ Gi) AT FRIEAA - MR MR
ERPNRARITEXNREINNER : (v)
ME - BEMREBFE: RvEM EIEG
REFERBEKRAS  HAMKMME - ZREA
FER HXBR APETEEEANRAP
BRAMAPXNNEE) ARES RABRGEE
A o

TREBNBE-_T-N\FR_FT—tF+_-A
=T BUEFEHERNBANBESBEMNG
HIHERTNA DL

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1+—HLEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F TE—+F
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
ARET R AREFT
Cost of prepurchased FEFE R
inventory-risk-taking room nights B T R AR A 188,070 532,870 65.6
Employee benefit expenses EERMAX 296,339 89,004 1.0
Order processing cost ATERIERC AR 704,228 51,841 64
Depreciation of property, W - WEREEBEITE
plant and equipment 101,442 5 39,961 49
Others Hh 310,434 98,105 12.1
Total cost of revenue SHE R AR 1,600,513 811,781 100.0




Cost of revenue increased by 97.2% from RMB811.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 to RMB1,600.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
The increase was mainly due to: (i) our consolidation of the financial results of
Tongcheng Online Business since March 2018; (i) a significant increase in order
processing cost from RMB51.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 to
RMB704.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily because of
increased order processing cost of transportation ticketing services as a result of
increased GMV in 2018; (iii) a significant increase in employee benefit expenses
from RMB89.0 million in 2017 to RMB296.3 million in 2018, primarily due to the
additional share options granted to our user services and TSP services employees.
The increase was partially offset by a significant decrease in cost of prepurchased
inventory-risk-taking room nights from RMB532.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 to RMB188.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018,
as we continued to focus on sourcing selected, high-quality accommodation
options and strategically reduced volume of inventory-risk-taking prepurchased
room nights in light of our heightened bargaining power against accommodation

suppliers.

GROSS PROFIT

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit increased by 114.1% from RMB1,706.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2017 to RMB3,655.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2018 on a year-to-year basis. Our gross margin increased
from 67.8% in 2017 t0 69.5% in 2018.

SERVICE DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Service development expenses increased by 158.6% from RMB522.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2017 to RMB1,349.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018. The increase was mainly due to (i) an increase in employee
benefits expenses which was attributable to our consolidation of the financial
results of Tongcheng Online Business since March 2018, and the additional share
options granted to our service development employees; and (ii) a significant
increase in depreciation and amortization expenses, which in turn was driven by

our increased intangible assets.
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SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Selling and marketing expenses increased by 68.2% from RMB1,095.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2017 to RMB 1,841.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018, which was mainly due to (i) our consolidation of the financial
results of Tongcheng Online Business since March 2018; (ii) the increased
advertising and promotion spending on sales channels; and (iii) an increase in
employee benefit expenses due to additional share options granted to our selling

and marketing employees.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses increased significantly from RMB97.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2017 to RMB934.9 million for the year ended December
31, 2018, which was mainly driven by (i) our consolidation of the financial
results of Tongcheng Online Business since March 2018; (i) a significant one-
off reorganization expense incurred by the shareholders of Tongcheng Network
arising from the Reorganization in 2018 which shall be borne by us as agreed
between us and the relevant shareholders; (iii) a significant one-off expense
relating to the issuance of ordinary shares to Tencent at a discount in conjunction
with the Tongcheng-eLong Merger in 2018; (iv) an increase in employee
benefit expenses due to additional share options granted to our administrative
employees; and (v) professional service fees incurred in relation to the Global
Offering.

FAIR VALUE CHANGES ON INVESTMENTS
MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

We recorded fair value gains on investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss of RMB78.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared with
RMBO0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. Fair value changes on
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss in 2018 mainly consists
of (i) fair value gains in long term investments of RMB4.5 million, which reflected
the fair value gains in certain private companies in which we invested; and (ii)
fair value gains in short-term investments measured at fair value through profit
and loss of RMB74.1 million, which consisted of short-term wealth management

products.
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OTHER INCOME

Other income increased by 160.8% from RMB12.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 to RMB33.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.

The increase was primarily due to the increased government subsidies received.

OTHER GAINS, NET

Other gains increased by 111.8% from RMB22.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 to RMB47.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
This increase was mainly due to an increase in foreign exchange gain of RMB17.0

million.

FINANCE INCOME

Finance income increased by 27.7% from RMB10.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 to RMB12.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.

This increase was mainly due to higher interest income from bank deposits.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs increased from RMBO.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2017 to RMB3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. This increase was

mainly due to higher services fees paid to commercial banks.

FAIR VALUE CHANGE ON REDEEMABLE
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES MEASURED AT
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

We recorded fair value gain on redeemable convertible preferred shares measured
at fair value through profit or loss of RMB907.7 million in 2018, primarily because
we re-designated our preferred shares as ordinary shares on a one-to-one basis
in connection with the Tongcheng-eLong Merger, which lowered the fair value
of the preferred shares and the decrease in the fair value of such preferred shares

was recognized as a fair value gain.
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SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES

We recorded share losses of associates of RMB4.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018, compared to RMB2.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2017, which was due to increased losses from our affiliate companies accounted

for using equity method during 2018.

INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT

We recorded an income tax expense of RMB67.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018 and an income tax credit of RMB60.4 million for the year
ended December 31,2017, as a result of the increased profit in 2018.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

As a result of the foregoing, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
increased by 171.0% from RMB195.6 million for the year ended December 37,
2017 to RMB530.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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Year ended December 31,

BE+=-A=t—HLEE

Adjusted EBITDA @ £ HFEE EBITDA®
Adjusted profit for the year © F LT =T ©
Interest expense FERE

Capital expenditures © BARRE©

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT
(REPREY! 169,647
915,945 192,657
1,633 —
337,531 392,134




Notes:

(a)

Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by operating profit for the year plus share based
compensation, amortization of intangible assets, depreciation of property, plant and
equipment, and certain one-off expenses, including Reorganization cost, issuance of
ordinary shares at discount, listing expense and acquisition-related cost.

Adjusted profit for the year is defined as profit for the year adjusted by share-based
compensation, amortization of intangible assets from acquisition, fair value change
on redeemable convertible preferred shares measured at fair value through profit or
loss, and certain one-off expenses, including Reorganization cost, issuance of ordinary
shares at discount, income tax expense related to Reorganization, listing expense and
acquisition-related cost.

Capital expenditure consists of purchases of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets.

The following table reconciles adjusted EBITDA to operating (loss)/profit, its most

directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance
with IFRS for the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017:
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fia -

R B EBITDA THIRF NS L M INARR D B2
MME  BYEESE VX BERRBNE
REFT-—RUEAX(BREBEKAK - LIFTNESE
TTEBE - LW R EREKA)FE -

FRLARBNERRENABRND BERME -
WP S BV AER RARBESERREE
It ABRmNAERERERRN R BES
PRET-RUERAX(BEBERK - UIFTNE
BATEA  BREAMNMSUMAY - EHHX
KRR B M R o

EARXBREEENE BEMREBEUALETE
Eo

TRARBEZE_Z—)\ER-ZE—tF+=A
=+ — B It EEKHEBTDARRE (EB1B),/
EAEEIER - BIRBEBRERTEREENGFE R
2N HEZEA LB E

|
Year ended December 31,

BE+=-A=+t—HLFE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARBEFT

Operating (loss)/profit e (FR),RR (311,192) 28,714
Add: i

Share-based compensation AR BER IS 572,191 56,783

Amortization of intangible assets | A EEH 339,037 39,073

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ - BB REREITE 116,655 45,077

Reorganization cost FHKA 220,953 —

Issuance of ordinary shares at discount B #IT S R 113,099 —

Listing expense Baliiloiba 91,508 —

Acquisition-related cost U s R R R AR 9,883 —

Adjusted EBITDA 4T EBITDA 1,152,134 160,647
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Non-IFRS Financial Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are presented in
accordance with IFRS, we also use certain non-IFRS measures, namely adjusted
profit for the year, as additional financial metrics. These non-IFRS financial

measures are not required by or presented in accordance with IFRS.

We believe that non-IFRS measures facilitate comparisons of our operating
performance by eliminating potential impacts of items that our management
do not consider indicative of our operating performance. We believe that such
non-IFRS measures present useful information in understanding and evaluating
our consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they help our
management. However, our presentation of such non-IFRS measures may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. The use
of these non-IFRS measures has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should
not consider it in isolation from, or as substitute for analysis of, our results of

operations or financial condition as reported under IFRS.

FEBRFBREENMBTE

RERRBEBERMBREENZTINERAE U
BE - BAITMERE TIFBEIR PSR E LRI
EAFARHRENIERBINGERR - %
55 IR BRR 1 7 s o5 2 R B 15 5+ 2 30 FE BRR B 7
REFERFTRE - MAIFZEZT -

HFEGE ZEFERMBREEAFE2RE
HERMNEREERRL T REREFMHLER
EMRENBELEMHBLERRMANLE
B HWFIMEE - ZFIFERMBERESEAGFE
2IERES  HENEEREERNSTRT
LA ERMANGAEERE - AW - RIAIBE
BRI HmEENAENZINARBATBEMMBR
B2 B EBEEMAL - ZFFERMF
BEEFEERINITANERFERR
M NERERB NS ARE BFIRE R
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The following table reconciles our adjusted profit for the year to profit for the

year, its most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in

accordance with IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018:
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THREIRBEZE-Z—EFER T -NF+=
B=1+— B L FEF R AR EE KRG T
WERR  SRBEBRMEREENFEMNZS
WEEEEALENTBEES X

|
Year ended December 31,

BE+=-A=t—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBFT
Profit for the year FREF 534,539 194,377
Add: e
Share-based compensation AR BERME 572,191 56,783
Amortization of intangible assets from acquisition WHEFS L EERE 217,534 39,073
Fair value change on redeemable convertible BAREEITEEHEHT A
preferred shares measured at fair value 1825/ O] B o] o] ## i
through profit and loss (a) BARAABEEY (907,734) (97,576)
Reorganization cost FHMA 220,953 —
Issuance of ordinary shares at discount BT S R 113,099 —
Income tax expense related to Reorganization BERAEHAMNMEBRY 63,972 —
Listing expense Baiiliib-a 91,508 —
Acquisition-related cost W e AR BB R R 9,883 —
Adjusted profit for the year FRKFREEF 915,945 192,657
Note: BT

(@) Represents the fair value gain on redeemable convertible preferred shares issued
to eLong Cayman’s shareholders measured at fair value through profit or loss. We
designate redeemable convertible preferred shares as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss. Please refer to “History, Reorganization and Corporate Structure-
Major Shareholding Changes of Our Company” in the Prospectus for more information

about preferred shares.

@ EBTTERBERRMEALEETEARS
BT A IR 250 S AT B4 B SRR 2 o (R U
% APBTRE THEEREE BEARL B
{518 B R BH A BSOS - AREE
BB AR BEMERERES B4
ROFRE - AR AT ERERD | -
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

We fund our liquidity needs mainly from (i) cash acquired from business
combination in relation with Tongcheng Online Business; (i) the net proceeds

received from the Global Offering; and (iii) net cash generated from our business

growth.

We had cash and cash equivalents of RMB701.7 million and RMB3,143.9 million as

of December 31, 2017 and 2018, respectively.

The following table sets forth our cash flows for the periods indicated:

RBETRMBER

BB EFTEIZURA () ERRR L
EBBRNEBEHABRS (N 2REEM
BHRIEFE ki) BMXBERELNFRE
B e

Be_T—tFER-_ZT—)/\F+ZA=Z+—
B ZMSBEERELESSEDARE

7017 BEEBTEAREE314398ETT ©

Net cash flows generated from operating activities
Net cash flows used in investing activities

Net cash flows generated from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Effect of exchange rate changes

on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

TREFIHRFIRATHENRERE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1+—-HLEFE

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —T—+tF

RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR®FT T AREET T

KEEBMBRSREFE 2,360,953 719,804

BREESARS REFE (1,400,497) (541,955)

MEEHFBREREFR 1,480,861 185,875

ReRBESESEYILINFE 2,441,317 363,814

FURENBECEEY 701,748 339,299
EREHERS RKIAE

LEMNTE 818 (1,365)

ERBEREASEEY 3,143,883 701,748




Net Cash Generated from Operating Activities

In 2018, net cash generated from operating activities was RMB2,361.0 million,
which was primarily attributable to the profit before income tax of RMB601.5
million, as adjusted by (i) fair value change on redeemable convertible preferred
shares measured at fair value through profit or loss of RMB907.7 million, share-
based compensation of RMB572.2 million, amortization of intangible assets of
RMB339.0 million, depreciation of property, plant and equipment of RMB116.7
million, and issuance of ordinary shares at discount of RMB113.1 million; and
(i) changes in working capital, which primarily consisted of an increase in trade
payables of RMB1,674.1 million, an increase in trade receivables of RMB846.4
million, an increase in accrued expenses and other current liabilities of RMB790.7
million, and a decrease in prepayment and other receivables of RMB61.6 million.

We also paid income tax of RMB160.0 million.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

In 2018, net cash used in investing activities was RMB1,400.5 million, which was
primarily attributable to (i) payments for purchases of wealth management
products of RMB10,204.6 million; and (ii) purchases of property, plant, and
equipment of RMB337.5 million. The aforesaid cash used was partially offset by
proceeds from maturity of such wealth management products of RMB8,213.2
million and cash of RMB941.2 million obtained in relation to the acquisition of

Tongcheng Online Business.

Net Cash Generated From Financing Activities

In 2018, net cash generated from financing activities was RMB1,480.9 million,
which was primarily attributable to (i) proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares in
connection with the Listing of RMB1,437.2 million; and (i) proceeds from issuance
of ordinary shares to Tencent of RMB190.1 million, partially offset by payment of

shares issuance cost in connection with the Listing of RMB118.0 million.

Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2018, our gearing ratio, calculated as total borrowings divided
by total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, was approximately
1.5% (2017:-3.6%).
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As of December 31, 2018, our outstanding borrowings were RMB172.3 million,
which was secured RMB-denominated loan obtained from a Chinese commercial
bank in October 2017. The borrowings bear interest at CHIBOR floating rate with
10% per annum. Please refer to Note 24 of the Consolidated Financial Statements

for details.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2018, our Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities and did not hold any financial instruments for hedging

purposes.

Pledge of Assets

In October 2017, we entered into a loan agreement with the lending bank to
borrow RMB196.9 million to finance our purchase of office premises. The loan was
secured by our property and will expire on October 23, 2027. As of December 31,
2018, the carrying amount of such secured property was RMB391.8 million.

Capital Expenditure

HE-_ZT—N\E+-A=+—8  HANKRE
BERBARBI1723BET  BRZZT—tF
TAN T EEERTESHNAREARE
SHEER - BRIERERTRERER ENZ
FFER(FFEAHI10%)TE - BEAFE - #H2
B4R & B IS R M5 24 ©

B _T—tHFrR-_ZE—)/\F+ZA=+—
B AEBTETRNEARAGE  TERE
eI EEL PHAR -

BEEMA

RZZE—+tF+ A BRARERRTITLER
WiE o BAARK19%69BFETALE BEE N
NG - ZERBBEMOWEEER TR =
T+ FE+A-+ZHEH -BE-_ZTN\F
TZA=+—H  ZERDENEEEAAR
3918 HETT °

BXRX
|
As of December 31,
BEZ+=-A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—+tF
RMB’' 000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTT

337,491 392,134
40 —

Purchase of property, plant and equipment HBEMXE  BREMEE
Purchase of intangible assets HBERLEE
Total capital expenditure EAREZAE

337,531 392,134

Our capital expenditures primarily include purchases of property, plant and
equipment. We fund our capital expenditure requirements mainly from cash

generated from our operations as well as bank borrowings.

HMNEARXTIZEREBEDE  BELER
B HMETBUREMBRSRRITERRE
AFZEE -
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Long-term Investment Activities RERETH
|
As of December 31,
R+=—A=+—-A8
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZE—+tF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Investments accounted for using the equity method HRARREARNRE 37,618
Investments measured at fair value through profitorloss RN BEFEHAEH)
FFABRREEIRE 25,239
Total long-term investments REREHE 101,173 62,857

Our long-term investments as of December 31, 2018 were RMB101.2 million, as
compared to RMB62.9 million as of December 31, 2017. The increase in our long-
term investments was caused by our additional investments in certain private
companies that we hold less than 20% interests. We made long-term investments
in accordance with our general strategy of investing or acquiring businesses
that supplement and benefit our business. As of December 31, 2018, none of
these individual investments is regarded as material. We plan to fund our long-
term investments using cash flows generated from our operations and the net

proceeds received from the Global Offering.

Material Acquisition and Disposals

Save for the Tongcheng-eLong Merger, there were no other material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year ended
December 31, 2018. Please refer to the section headed “History, Reorganization
and Corporate Structure — Major Shareholding Changes of Our Company —
Tongcheng-eLong Merger” of the Prospectus for details of the Tongcheng-eLong

Merger.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognized
assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not our functional
currency. We manage our foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews of
our net foreign exchange exposures. We did not hedge against any fluctuation in

foreign currency during the years ended December 31,2017 and 2018.
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Our subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the PRC operate mainly in
the PRC with most of the transactions settled in RMB. We consider our business
not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk as there are no significant
financial assets or liabilities of our Group denominated in the currencies other than
the respective functional currencies of our Group's subsidiaries and Consolidated
Affiliated Entities operating in the PRC.

Employee

As of December 31, 2018, we had a total of 6,258 full-time employees. As of the
same date, approximately 52.5% and 18.8% of our full-time employees were
based in Suzhou and Beijing, respectively, while the remaining 28.7% of them

were based in the rest of PRC and overseas.

We primarily recruit our employees through on-campus job fairs, recruitment
agencies and online channels, including our corporate websites and social
networking platforms. We have adopted robust internal training policies, pursuant
to which management, technology and other training is regularly provided to our
employees by in-house trainers or third-party consultants. We have also adopted

the 2016 Share Incentive Plan and 2018 Share Incentive Plan.

As required by PRC laws, we participate in various statutory employee benefit
plans, including social insurance funds, namely a pension contribution plan, a
medical insurance plan, an unemployment insurance plan, a work-related injury
insurance plan, a maternity insurance plan, and a housing provident fund. We
are required under PRC laws to contribute to employee benefit plans at specified
percentages of salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of our employees up to a

maximum amount specified by the local governments from time to time.

None of our employees is currently represented by labor unions. We believe that
we maintain a good working relationship with our employees and we did not
experience any significant labor disputes or any material difficulties in recruiting

employees for our operations in 2018.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL
ASSETS

We will continue to explore potential acquisition, investment, joint venture and
partnership opportunities that we believe are in line with our overall business
strategies. Appropriate disclosures will be made by the Company when it

becomes necessary under the Listing Rules on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed in this annual report and in the Prospectus, we did not have any
other plans for material investments and capital assets as at the Latest Practicable
Date.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wu Zhixiang (R&%#), aged 42, was appointed as the Co-Chairman of our
Board in March 2018 and our executive Director in June 2018. Mr. Wu's main
responsibility is to provide overall strategic planning and business discretion to
our Group. Mr. Wu has more than 14 years of experience in e-commerce and OTA
business. Among others, Mr. Wu established Tongcheng Network in March 2004.
He has served as the chairman of Tongcheng Network since April 2008. As its co-
founder, Mr. Wu was responsible for the strategic planning of Tongcheng Network
and has continuously provided leadership and inspiration for the Company’s OTA

business.

Mr. Wu received a bachelor's degree in history from Soochow University (kA
2) in the PRC in June 1998.

Since March 2018, Mr. Wu has served as a director and general manager of Suzhou

Chengyi.

Ma Heping (55#1F), aged 41, was appointed as our executive Director in
June 2018. Mr. Ma has served as our Chief Executive Officer since April 2018,
responsible for the implementation of our business strategies and the day-to-day
business operation. From March to April 2018, together with Mr. Jiang Hao, Mr.
Ma served as our Co-CEO. Mr. Ma has over 10 years of marketing experience for
an internet company. From January 2006 to March 2018, Mr. Ma has served as the
chief marketing officer of Tongcheng Network, responsible for the internet-based
online and offline travel business, as well as the promotion and development of
the air ticket, hotel and other transportation business of Tongcheng Network,

before Tongcheng Spin-off.
Mr. Ma also serves as the general manager and director of Tongcheng Network.

Mr. Ma obtained a diploma in computer application and maintenance from
Soochow University (88J1A22) in the PRC in June 1998.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Liang Jianzhang (& &), aged 49, was appointed as our Co-Chairman of the
Board in March 2018 and non-executive Director in June 2018. Mr. Liang has
served as one of our Directors since 2016. Mr. Liang is one of the co-founders and
the executive chairman of Ctrip. He has served as the chairman of the board of
directors of Ctrip since August 2003. Mr. Liang served as the chief executive officer
of Ctrip from 2000 to 2006, and from March 2013 to November 2016.

Mr. Liang has served as a director of Sina Corp. (31 )R ‘A &)
shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: SINA) since December 2017, and a
director of MakeMyTrip Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock
symbol: MMYT) since January 2016.

, @ company whose

Mr. Liang formerly served on the boards of BTG Hotels Group (& ik /B /&), a
company whose shares are listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600258), Tuniu Corp (& 4 Ik # #9), a company whose shares are listed on
NASDAQ (stock symbol: TOUR), eHi Car Services Ltd. (-8 — W ER K B
R A 7]), a company whose shares were formerly listed on New York Stock
Exchange (stock symbol: EHIC) and privatized in April 2019, 51job, Inc (BT 2
EEROARRA
symbol: JOBS), jiayuan.com International Ltd. (t 42 £ & B R & R A 7

company whose shares were formerly listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: DATE)
and privatized in May 2016, and Homeinns Hotel Group (21 R B J&E &£ &), a
company whose shares were formerly listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: HMIN)

, @ company whose shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock

and privatized in April 2016.

Mr. Liang has won many accolades for his contributions to the Chinese travel
industry, including Best CEQ in the Internet category in the 2016 All-Asia Executive
Team Rankings by Institutional Investor and 2015 China's Business Leader of the

Year by Forbes.

Mr. Liang obtained master’s degrees in information and computer science from

Georgia Institute of Technology in the United States in June 1991.
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Jiang Hao (3I3%), aged 46, served as the Company’s Deputy Chairman of the
Board from April 2018 to March 2019, the Company'’s President from April 2018 to
March 2019, an executive Director from June 2018 to March 2019, and has been
re-designated as a non-executive Director in March 2019. From March to April
2018, together with Mr. Ma Heping, Mr. Jiang served as the Company's Co-Chief
Executive Officer. Mr. Jiang has over 15 years of experience in leading Internet

companies. From 1999 to 2015, Mr. Jiang served as a senior vice president in Ctrip.

Mr. Jiang received a bachelor's degree of engineering in ship engineering from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University (_E/8 2838 AKE) in the PRC in 1993.

Lin Haifeng (K78 ), aged 42, has been appointed as our non-executive Director
in June 2018. Mr. Lin joined our Group in January 2014 and has served as one of our
Directors since January 2016. He joined the Tencent Group in November 2010 and is

currently the head of mergers and acquisitions of Tencent Group.

Mr. Lin has been a director of Pinduoduo Inc. ($f% %), a company whose shares
are listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: PDD), since June 2017 and an executive
director of Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited (ZEzEREETNIRE),
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0419), since February 2016. Mr. Lin has also been appointed as a non-
executive director of China Literature Limited (B> %), a company whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0772),

since November 2014.

Mr. Lin received his bachelor's degree in industrial foreign trade from Zhejiang
University CITT A E2) in the PRC in June 1997 and his master’s degree of business
administration from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania in the
United States in May 2003.
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Brent Richard Irvin, aged 46, has been appointed as our non-executive Director
in June 2018. Mr. Irvin joined our Group and has been appointed as one of our
Directors since March 2018. Mr. Irvin joined Tencent Group in January 2010, and
is currently serving as the vice president and general counsel of Tencent Group.
Prior to that, Mr. Irvin worked as a lawyer at Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati from

August 2005 to November 2009, with a focus on technology companies.

Mr. Irvin has been a director of Tencent Music Entertainment Group (& &1l & %4
IREAEE[F]), a company whose shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange
(stock symbol: TME), since July 2016.

Mr. Irvin obtained a bachelor's degree in history from Carleton College in the
United States in June 1994, a master's degree in East Asian studies from Yale
University in the United States in December 1995, and a doctor of jurisprudence

degree from Stanford University in the United States in June 2003.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wu Haibing (& & ££), aged 46, has been appointed as our independent non-
executive Director since November 2018. Mr. Wu has over 16 years of experience
in finance. Mr Wu has been serving as a partner of VKC-Partners (32 £ %) since
April 2018. Previously, Mr. Wu served as the chief financial officer of Plateno Hotel
Group (previously known as “7 Days Group Holdings Limited"), a company whose
shares were then listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock symbol: SVN) and
voluntarily delisted in July 2013. Mr. Wu is a non-practicing member of Shanghai

Institute of Certified Public Accountant.
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Mr. Wu has served as an independent director and a member of audit committee
of CooTek (Cayman) Inc., a company whose shares are listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (stock symbol: CTK) since September 2018, an independent
director of Acorn International, Inc. (2 R BB IX D AR 2 F]), a company whose
shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock symbol: ATV) since
October 2016, and an independent non-executive director of Zhong Ao Home
Group Limited (F B E|ZKEBABR A F]), a company whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1538) from November 2015 to
May 2017. From November 2013 to June 2016, Mr. Wu was an independent non-
executive director of Dongpeng Holdings Company Limited (58 5 #5° A% A% {7
FRAF]), a company whose shares were formerly listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 3386) and privatized in June 2016. From September
2011 to May 2016, Mr. Wu was a director of Country Style Cooking Restaurant
Chain Co, Ltd. (45 #7 2 B BR R % 38 88 B PR A &)), a company whose shares
were formerly listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock symbol: CCSC) and
privatized in May 2016.

Mr. Wu received his bachelor's degree in economics from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University (18338 AZ2) in the PRC in July 1994 and a master's degree in
business administration from Michigan State University in the United States in
May 2000.

Dai Xiaojing (&/]\70), aged 59, has been appointed as our independent non-
executive Director since November 2018. Mr. Dai has profound knowledge and
experience in the research and studies of securities market and finance. From
December 1998 to April 2016, Mr. Dai served as an executive director in SEEC
Media Group Limited (57 5115 X & B 5 R 2 7)), a company whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0205). Mr. Dai was
engaged in economic policy research at the Economic Development Research
Institute of State Council of the PRC, and he was an editorial committee member
of CapitalWeek.

Mr. Dai received his bachelor's degree in science and master's degree in law from
Sun Yat-sen University (AR LX) in the PRC, in 1981 and 1984, respectively.
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Han Yuling (8 £ %), aged 63, has been appointed as our independent non-
executive Director since November 2018. Ms. Han currently holds professorial
fellowship and is the vice dean of the China Tourism Talent Development
Research Institute (FF B ik #2 A A 2% R W 563 ) at Beijing International Studies
University (1t 52 88 — #NB 58 22 FT). Ms. Han also serves as a secretary general
of the China National Tourism Vocational Education Permanent Committee (&

BRI M B MBI E R 8 E). She has consecutively served as a lecturer,
associate professor and professor at Beijing International Studies University since
May 1986, and served as a lecturer at Central China Normal University (%7 A3

KE2) from October 1979 until April 1986.

Ms. Han obtained her bachelor’s degree in politics from Central China Normal
University (3= B #3K22 ) in the PRC in July 1979.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ma Heping (551 ), our executive Director and Chief Executive Officer. See "—

Executive Directors” in this section for his profile.

Wu Jiazhu (R377), aged 34, was appointed as our Chief Strategy Officer in
March 2018, and is responsible for the overall investment and capital arrangement
of our Group. From January 2014 to July 2015, Mr. Wu was a director of Tongcheng
Network and from July 2015 to March 2018, Mr. Wu served as the chief investment
officer of Tongcheng Network, and was responsible for the capital investment of
that company. From November 2011 to July 2015, Mr. Wu served as an investment
manager at Oriza Holdings Ltd. (BRM TTRIZREAE D B R A

Mr. Wu received both his bachelor's and master's degrees in linguistics and
applied linguistics from Peking University (3L RA22) in the PRC in July 2007 and
July 2010, respectively.
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Fan Lei C&%&), aged 37, was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of our Group
in March 2018, and is responsible for the overall financial management. From
September 2016 to March 2018, Mr. Fan served as the finance vice president of
our Company. From April 2013 to September 2016, Mr. Fan served as a principal
and senior principal, in the financial plan and analysis department of eLong
Cayman. Mr. Fan currently serves as a supervisor in various subsidiaries of our
Group, including Tianjin Elong E-dragon Interactive Technology Co., Ltd., Tianjin

E-dragon Interactive International Travel Agency Co., Ltd. and E-dragon (Tianjin)

Technology Co,, Ltd.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Fan consecutively served as a financial manager
and a senior financial manager in Lenovo Group Limited (B8 B AR 2 7)), a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0992) from March 2010 to April 2013.

Mr. Fan received a bachelor's degree of engineering in mechanical engineering
and automation from Beihang University At A ZE AR A E) in the PRC in 2004,
Mr. Fan also obtained a master's degree of business administration from The

Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2010.

Wang Qiang (F58), aged 38, was appointed as the Chief Marketing Officer of our
Group in March 2018, and is responsible for the implementation of our business
strategies on marketing. From May 2016 to March 2018, Mr. Wang served as
the chief marketing officer of Tongcheng Network, and was responsible for its
promotion and business development. From February 2012 to May 2016, Mr.
Wang consecutively served as a programmer, senior manager, deputy principal
and principal in the wireless business department of Tongcheng Network.

Mr. Wang received a diploma in applied computer science from Nanjing
University of Finance and Economics (FARET4EKXE8) (previously known as
Nanjing Economics Academy (F AL EERT ) in the PRC in 2002.
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Yu Pei (5), aged 36, was appointed as a Vice President of our Group in March
2018, and is responsible for the overall research and development activities of our
Group. From February 2012 to March 2018, Mr. Yu consecutively served as the
structure design principal, chief structure officer and chief technology officer of

elLong Cayman.

Bai Zhiwei (H &), aged 42, was appointed as a Vice President of our Group
in March 2018, and is responsible for the marketing and business development
of our Group. From June 2014 to March 2018, Mr. Bai served as a vice president
of eLong Cayman. From December 2010 to June 2014, Mr. Bai served as a senior
principal and business development vice president at sales support department
of elong Cayman. From February 2008 to December 2010, he served as a regional

senior principal, responsible for the strategic clients of elong Cayman.

Mr. Bai received double bachelor’s degrees of computer science and economics
from Peking University (36 5L AZ2) in the PRC in 1998. He also obtained a master’s
degree of business administration from Tsinghua University (EZEAE) in the PRC
in 2007.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, none of our Directors and senior
management hold any other positions within our Group. None of our Directors

and senior management is related to other Directors and senior management.
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The Board of the Company presents this directors’ report in the Group's annual

report for the year ended December 31, 2018.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on January 14, 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman Islands.
The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on

the Listing Date.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is a market leader in China’s online travel industry. Through our
Tencent-based online platforms, mobile apps and websites, the Group offers
a comprehensive and innovative selection of products and services covering
nearly all aspects of travel, including transportation ticketing, accommodation
reservation and various ancillary value-added travel products and services
designed to meet users’ evolving travel needs. As a technology-driven company,
the Group prioritizes the development of our information technology, including

research and development in big data and artificial intelligence capabilities.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the year ended December 31, 2018. Please refer to note 41 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for details of the principal activities of the

principal subsidiaries of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in the

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend for the

year ended December 31, 2018.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the issued shares of the Group during the year ended December 31,

2018 are set out in note 29 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2018 are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes In

Equity of this annual report.

—\fE4#R | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

DIRECTORS' REPORT
ESEWRE

ARBEFEREZAKEAHE_FT—N\F+=
A=+— Eﬁi&ﬁ@i#&ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁé%%#&% g

EREE

RRARR-E-—ARF-A+HAREHSHES
%&Eéﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁﬁiiﬂﬁé%%ﬁﬁﬁA A
AARB R BT H BB AR ET

FEER

AEESTHRERKETENTSREE - B
BRANBAET IS BHEARTFRE
U AREREATREREMETENEZE
AFERMREER BRIXBREY  EER
RIREREEREREER MRS EEME
RPEEMEKET THBLLNKRERTE - R
MBS AR AEBELERE S

BREREERA TSN -

BHE-Z—\F+ZA=+—BLFE &%
l%i%%%lﬁt?ﬁlﬂikm@) c BAKH
TEFRAREEEBNFE  FL2HREVH
wRMIEE4T o

ES

AEBHE—
E’J%ZE%ZB"ZKEA&Z

3 i /|_,\

ERATERREBRE_—T—
:+* BIEFE 2 REME

SN

FRASEBE_F—N\Ft-_A=t—HL
iEE%ﬂHxT’ﬁE’U%’I ENiSHR=R P e ey bk
29 e

it
EMAREHE-F-N\FT-A=t+—AL

¢F1uﬁ1%“‘§ﬂﬁ’9ﬁ’la%@ﬁézﬁiﬁﬁéﬁm X))
%o

—NF+ZA=+—HIFE
BEEBAK -

NF+ZH

41



42

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | FEfR2E5EERER AT

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEHE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2018, the Company has distributable reserves of RMB20,307

million in total available for distribution.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The Group's financial summary for the last four financial years is set out in the

section headed “Four-Year Performance Review” of this annual report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and the Group
as of December 31, 2018 are set out in note 24 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in note 14 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the amount of public

float as required under the Listing Rules as at the Latest Practicable Date.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association and
there is no restriction against such rights which would oblige the Company to

offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief available to the shareholders of the

Company by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on November 26, 2018 by way of global offering, raising total net proceeds of
approximately RMB1,319.3 million after deducting professional fees, underwriting

commissions and other related listing expenses.
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Since the Listing Date and as of December 31, 2018, the Group had used the net

proceeds from the Global Offering for the following purposes:
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30% will be used to enhance our products
and services offerings and our travel
service providers (“TSP") and user bases

inthe following 24 to 36 months

(@ 40% will be used to expand
our user base by strengthening

our user acquisition channels;

(b)  30% will be used to expand our
product and service offerings
by building and enhancing our
relationships with emerging and
existing TSP and by developing and
introducing innovative travel
products and services

in partnership with TSP;

(©  20% will be used to increase our
brand awareness through
advertising and promotional
activities; and

(d)  10% will be used to enhance
user stickiness by improving

membership loyalty programs.
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Use of The actual

proceeds in amount of
the same manner proceeds Net proceeds
and proportions utilized as of unutilized as of
as stated in December 31, December 31,
the Prospectus 2018 2018
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30% will be used to fund potential
acquisition, investment, joint venture
and partnership opportunities in
the following 24 to 36 months

30% will be used to enhance our
overall technology capabilities

inthe following 24 to 36 months

@ 40% will be used to build our (@) 40% BEREEHMNN
big data and Al capabilities; REERALERE
N

(b)  40% will be used to improve
our [Tinfrastructure; and

(©  20% will be used to provide
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For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company had not utilized the
net proceeds from the Global Offering of approximately RMB1,319.3 million.
Regarding the net proceeds that had not been utilized as of December 31, 2018,
the Company intends to use them in the same manner and proportions as
stated in the Prospectus. The completion time of using the net proceeds will be

determined based on the future business development of the Company.



DONATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group made charitable donations
of RMB1,468,628.

BUSINESS REVIEW

a.

Overview and performance of the Year

Business review and financial review are provided in the Management'’s

Discussion and Analysis section of this annual report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable and
environmental-friendly environment, the Group strives to minimize our
environmental impact by saving electricity and to build our corporation in a

sustainable way.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group has complied with the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance, the Listing Rules, the SFO and the Corporate Governance
Code for, among other things, the disclosure of information and corporate
governance. The Group has also complied with other relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of the Group,
such as the PRC Telecommunications Regulations, PRC E-Commerce Law,
PRC Pricing Law and the Qualification Accreditation Measures (Amended
in 2015), Administrative Measures for Insurance Licences and PRC Cyber
Security Law. Please refer to the section headed "Regulatory Overview” in the

Prospectus for details.
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d. Key Relationships with Stakeholders

Relationship with Our Customers

Our primary customers consist of a large and diverse base of travel services
providers covering a wide range of travel segments. Our TSP customers
include airlines and other air ticket suppliers, train ticket suppliers, bus
operators, ferry carriers, hotels and alternative accommodation providers,
other online travel agencies from whom the Group sources travel products
and services, as well as suppliers of various ancillary value-added travel
products and services, such as insurance companies and car rental
companies. Ctrip and its affiliates represented one of our Group’s largest
customers. Our Group and Ctrip Group share hotel and accommodation,
transportation ticketing and other travel-related resources for sale on each
other’s online platforms in order to provide a more comprehensive selection

of travel services to our respective users.

The Group develops and maintains long-term strategic relationships with our
TSP.

® TSP selection. The Group carries out a rigorous TSP selection process.
When determining whether to introduce a prospective TSP to our
platforms, the Group takes into account various factors, including
reputation, industry expertise and know-how, price competitiveness,

and a history of delivering high-quality products and services.

® Travel product procurement. Our product procurement team works
closely with our TSP to ensure that our users are provided with high-
quality travel products. The Group also frequently conducts price
comparisons for TSP's travel products to assess the competitiveness of
our pricing. Additionally, the Group hosts periodic large procurement

events and present our major TSP with our estimated product demand.
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Travel product development. The Group strives to provide our TSP
with industry and user insight based on the massive data the Group
has accumulated over the years. As part of the ancillary value-added
services the Group provides to our TSP, the Group uses our data analytic
capabilities to help them develop innovative services to meet travelers’
evolving needs and to optimize the pricing of such products. The Group
believes this helps us build stronger ties with existing TSP and attract
potential TSP.

Relationship maintenance. The Group interacts with our TSP
mainly through our dedicated customer service teams, which actively
communicate with our TSP by various means. The Group encourages
our accounting and technical staff to communicate directly with their
counterparts at the TSP to ensure the issues arising in these areas can

be resolved in a timely manner.

Additionally, the Group has developed proprietary technologies and
systems to interact with our TSP and assist them in managing, pricing

and marketing their supply. These systems primarily include:

- acustomer management system, which enables us to gather and
analyze numerous types of behavior and transaction data of TSP,
including sales volume, user satisfaction, conversion rates, and
user acquisition costs. The Group uses data gathered through this
customer management system in budgeting and procurement
planning, as well as designing our marketing and promotional

campaigns; and

- an e-booking system, a platform accessible via web and mobile,
that offers TSP the ability to manage inventory, pricing and other
product information, on a real-time basis without our direct

involvement.
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® Quality control. To ensure that the Group delivers high-quality
products, the Group has in place service protocols and guidelines for
TSP to follow, and maintain dedicated teams to monitor the TSP and
engage with TSP in responding to queries and user feedback and
reviews. The Group offers TSP, who maintain positive user feedback,
an optimized listing in the search results on our platforms, and impose
sanctions on TSP who violate the service protocols or constantly receive

user complaints.

Our other groups of customers are (i) users who purchase from us travel
products (primarily including accommodation) that the Group prepurchased
from travel services providers; (i) users who purchase ancillary value-added
travel products and services, such as airport VIP lounge and priority boarding
services, and pay us service fees; and (i) advertisers who post advertisement

of their products and services on our online platforms.

Relationship with Our Suppliers

Our suppliers primarily consist of (i) user acquisition channels; (i) online and
mobile payment services; (iii) advertising and marketing service providers;
(iv) data storage, server hosting and bandwidth providers; (v) suppliers of
room nights that the Group prepurchased for resale to users; and (vi) third-
party sales channels, including the online platforms of Ctrip and its affiliates,
through which the Group makes available travel products and services that

the Group sources from TSP.

The Group usually enters into annual non-exclusive supply contracts with our
suppliers based on our estimated demand for products and/or services for
the year. Tencent, one of our largest shareholders, together with its affiliates,
represents one of our largest suppliers. The Group operates our Tencent-
based platforms and procure mobile payment services for purchases made
by our users through these Tencent-based platforms, in particular, the

mobile payment interfaces of Weixin and Mobile QQ.
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Relationship with Our Employees

The Group embraces our employees as the most valuable assets of the
Group. The objective of the Group’s human resources management is to
reward and recognize outstanding employees by providing competitive
remuneration packages and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career development
and progression within the Group by providing robust internal training
and opportunities. In particular, to strengthen and sustain our technology
innovation, the Group will continue to attract, train and retain more talent in
technology, research and development. New talent will continue to support
our technology and will be offered advancement through performance-
based compensation packages, on-the-job training programs and promotion

opportunities.

Relationship with Our Shareholders

The Group recognizes the importance of protecting the interests of the
Shareholders and of having effective communication with them. The Group
believes communication with the Shareholders is a two-way process and
have thrived to ensure the quality and effectiveness of information disclosure,
maintain regular dialogue with the Shareholders and listen carefully to the
views and feedback from the Shareholders. This has been done through
general meetings, corporate communications, interim and annual reports

and results announcements.

Principal Risk and Uncertainties
Risk of Major Customers

Since a limited number of customers, including Ctrip and its affiliates, take
up a substantial portion of the Company’s revenue, there will be an adverse
impact on the sales and profit of the Group if these major customers reduce
the volume of, or no longer sell, their travel products and services sold

through us.
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Response measures: The Group will increase market sales of our products
through a diversified source of TSP, including (i) contracting directly with
TSP including airlines, hotel operators and railway companies; (i) contracting
with regional travel agents; (iii) directly linking our platforms to booking
systems operated by TSP; and (iv) sharing of travel resources with other third
party online travel agencies. At the same time, the Group will actively looks

for mergers and acquisition opportunities to expand the market size.

Risk of Maintaining Business Partnerships

The Group depends on our ability to maintain our existing partnerships,
including TSP and our extensive collaboration with the Tencent Group.
Adverse changes in existing relationships, or our inability to enter into new
arrangements on commercially favorable terms, could adversely affect our

business, financial condition and results of operations.

Response measure: The Group will (i) deepen cooperation with business
partners and to strengthen our value propositions to them, for example,
by leveraging our technology to help our TSP offer more innovative and
customized products and services; (i) diversify our service providers, in
relation to the provision of payment and settlement, and other technical
services; and (iii) expand user base through a diverse range of traffic

acquisition channels.

Risk of Competition within the Industry

Competition in the online travel industry is highly competitive. The Group
competes primarily with other online travel agencies, as well as traditional
travel agencies and travel service suppliers. As China's online travel market
continues to evolve, the Group may be faced with increased competition
from new domestic travel agencies or international players that seek to
expand into China. The Group may also face increasing competition from
hotels and airlines as they increase their direct selling efforts or engage in
alliances with other online travel service providers. Increased competition
could reduce our operating margins and profitability and result in our loss of

market share.
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Response measures: The Group will continue to make, substantial
investments in our sales and marketing efforts, including broadening our
user acquisition channels. At the same time, the Group will further improve
its market competition analysis mechanism, focus on market dynamics and
collect market information. In addition, the Group will continue to increase
our competitiveness through expanding the range of our product and
service offerings, growing our user base, enhancing our user engagement,

and pursuing strategic alliances, acquisitions and investments.

Risk of Retaining and Growing our User Base

The size of the Group's user base and the level of user engagement are
critical to our success. Our business will continue to significantly depend on
our users and their level of engagement with our products and services. If
users no longer view our products and services as useful and attractive, the
Group may not be able to increase or maintain our user base and the level of
user engagement. Thus, our operating results and long-term monetization

potential could be adversely impacted.

Response measures: The Group will continue to seek the most effective
and cost-efficient ways to expand our user base through a diverse range of
traffic acquisition channels. The Group's major strategies are (i) increasing
user awareness of Tencent-based platforms, (ii) enhancing our brand
equity through marketing and promotional activities, (iii) acquiring traffic
efficiently for our proprietary mobile apps, (iv) creating a travel-focused social
community, driving user loyalty and stickiness, and (v) providing a more
personalized user experience with smart travel solutions to meet our users’

evolving needs.

Risk of Operational Insufficiency

The results of the Group's operations will continue to be affected by our
ability to improve our operational efficiency. The main operational risks faced
by the Group include but not limited to the risks of breaching our users’
privacy, risks associated with payment fraud, risks of operational fluctuations

due to seasonality.
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Response measures: As our business grows, the Group will continue to
further improve our operational efficiency through developing technologies
and infrastructure across different business functions. The Group will also
continue to focus on automation by, for example, improving direct connect
with accommodation suppliers to allow more of them to manage inventories

and rates and process bookings directly from their own systems.

PROSPECTS

A description of the future development in the Company's business is provided in
the Chairman'’s Statement and the Management's Discussion and Analysis section

of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF DECEMBER 31, 2018

The Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has

taken place subsequent to December 31,2018 and up to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Zhixiang (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Ma Heping (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liang Jianzhang (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Jiang Hao (Note)

Mr. Lin Haifeng

Mr. Brent Richard Irvin
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Haibing
Mr. Dai Xiaojing
Ms. Han Yuling

Note:

Mr. Jiang Hao has resigned from his positions as the Deputy Chairman and President and
been re-designated as a non-executive director of the Company with effect from March 19,
2019 due to other work commitment. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated March 20, 2019 for details.

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors will retire by rotation at every annual general meeting (provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years) and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Mr. Ma Heping, Mr.
Liang Jianzhang, and Mr. Jiang Hao will retire from the Board by rotation at the

AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Directors
appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
Board will hold office until the first general meeting or the next following annual
general meeting of the Company after his appointment. Mr. Lin Haifeng will
hold office as the Director until the AGM and, being eligible, offer himself for re-

election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired service contract
which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one

year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are
set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” of

this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Directors have each entered into a service contract with the
Company pursuant to which they agree to act as an executive Director for an
initial term of three years from November 26, 2018 until terminated in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the service contract or by either party giving to

the other not less than three months' prior notice in writing.

The non-executive Directors have each entered into a service contract with the
Company pursuant to which they agree to act as an non-executive Director for
an initial term of one year from November 26, 2018 (save for Mr. Jiang Hao, whose
service contract as an non-executive director commenced from March 19, 2019)
until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the service
contract or by either party giving to the other not less than one months prior

notice in writing.

The independent non-executive Directors have each signed a letter of
appointment with the Company and have been appointed for a term of one year
from November 26, 2018. The appointment may be terminated by either party

giving to the other not less than one month’s prior notice in writing.

None of the Directors have an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Group has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wu Haibing, Mr. Dai Xiaojing and Ms. Han Yuling, the confirmation
of their respective independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company has duly reviewed the confirmation of independence of each of these
Directors. The Group considers that the independent non-executive Directors
have been independent from the date of their appointments to December 31,

2018 and remain so as of the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Long position in the Company’s shares

As at December 31, 2018, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of our associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest
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Approximate

percentage of

shareholding in

Number of  the total issued

Ordinary Shares  share capital (%)

REBITHRAE
BEPHBL
EEnE B EEEE ZERBE FRADL (%)
Mr. Wu Zhixiang™ Founder of a discretionary trust, Beneficial interest 56,711,000 2.73% (L)
RAEFFED ZRGREMNEIZIA - BRER
Mr. Liang Jianzhang? Interest of controlled corporation 38,975,960 1.88% (L)
RREERE Rt EEER
Mr. Ma Heping® Founder of a discretionary trust, Beneficial interest 30,241,610 1.46% (L)
BRI EED ZRGREMEIZA - BRER
Mr. Jiang Hao® Interest of controlled corporation, Beneficial 18,962,950 0.91% (L)

IR E@ interest, Grantee of restricted shares units
Bl - ZBRHIKRG

REHEE R
BAIARA

(L)  denotes along position

L RERFE

Notes:

(1) Travel Maps Holding Co. Ltd. directly holds 49,711,000 shares in the Company. As
Travel Maps Holding Co. Ltd. is wholly-owned by The Travel Maps Trust, of which Mr.
Wu Zhixiang is the founder, Mr. Wu is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which
Travel Maps Holding Co. Ltd. is interested.

ff

(1) Travel Maps Holding Co. Ltd R AR R EE A
49,711,000 I A% 1 > B M Travel Maps Holding Co.
Ltd. A The Travel Maps Trust 2 & A + KREH
JoH A The Travel Maps Trust BJBIHEA + R AW
5 A1 Travel Maps Holding Co. Ltd. FTH5 8 B AR 7D
PR R o

R
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3,500,000 and 3,500,000 options were granted to Mr. Wu pursuant to the Share
Incentive Plans on March 9, 2018 and May 18, 2018, respectively.

Seagull Limited directly holds 38,975,960 shares in the Company. As Mr. Liang
Jianzhang controls more than one-third of the shares in Seagull Limited, Mr. Liang is
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Seagull Limited is interested.

Adventure Together Holding Co. Ltd. directly holds 9,499,140 shares in the Company.
As Adventure Together Holding Co. Ltd is wholly-owned by The Hope Family Trust, of
which Mr. Ma Heping is the founder, Mr. Ma is deemed to be interested in the Shares in
which Adventure Together Holding Co. Ltd is interested.

6,914,155, 6,914,155 and 6,914,160 options were granted to Mr. Ma pursuant to
the Share Incentive Plans on March 9, 2018, May 18, 2018 and September 1, 2018,
respectively.

Oasis Limited directly holds 5,555,560 shares in the Company. As Oasis Limited is
indirectly wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Jiang Hao, Mr. Jiang is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Oasis Limited is interested.

1,803,695, 1,803,695 and 1,500,000 options were granted to Mr. Jiang pursuant to
the Share Incentive Plans on March 9, 2018, May 18, 2018 and September 1, 2018,
respectively.

Mr. Jiang is also granted restricted share units in respect of 8,300,000 shares pursuant to
the Share Incentive Plan on August 26, 2016.

RERDBEFE - REEDFIR=ZT—NF=
ANBER=ZZ—N\&FHA+/\BEEF 3,500,000
19 % 3,500,000 17 B& A& o

Seagull Limited PAZRA RIE B F5A 38,975,960 AR A%
17 o AR REE KA EHSeagull Limited BB =
D2 WG - RELEWFRBR Seagull Limited
FTis A AR 1D R e A g2

Adventure Together Holding Co. Ltd. AN A A1 E
559,499,140 IR iR 17 ° 8 7 Adventure Together
Holding Co. Ltd.Fi The Hope Family Trust 2 &
A+ REFMF A The Hope Family Trust ) All 5%
A+ BISEWR AR Adventure Together Holding
Co. Ltd. I A MR ID P A 2= ©

RIERGDBBTE BEEPIR_T—N\F
—AABE - ZE—NEREAT+NBE=Z—N
FRA— BERT6914,15510 * 6,914,155 &
6,914,160 1D BE AR #E -

Oasis Limited 1 AN A 7] B # # 4 5,555,560 A% A%
1 o AR Oasis Limited LG L EME2EHE
MAZ=S - TR EWR AR Oasis Limited T4 A K
Bin R A A RS o

BRIERDBETE - TAEESHNR=_FT—N\F
ZAAB ZE—N\FRAT+NBEZZE—N
FNA— BER F1,8036951  1,803,69510 &
1,500,000 17 B AR 2 -

BIERDEBE TEER_ZT—X<ENA
Z 7N B REE 8,300,000 B AR 15 ER T IR B IR 1D
BAL o



Long positions in the associated corporations of the Company

Name of Director Name of associated corporation
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RARQNFEEEENER

Approximate
Number of percentage of

securities held interests (%)

RN
ExpE HEEE A FERSHAE B2 EE (%)
Mr. Wu Zhixiang Tongcheng Network 25,477,745 22.86%
REFLE SR ERE
Suzhou Chengyi N/A® 51.00%
BRI E NERO
Mr. Ma Heping Tongcheng Network 1,093,162 0.98%
BAFEE R A8 4%
Suzhou Chengyi N/AD 49.00%
ERN TR 2 TERO
Mr. Jiang Hao Beijing E-dragon N/AM 50.00%
DERE JbmEge TEm 0
Note: ftsE -

(1) As Suzhou Chengyi and Beijing E-dragon are limited liability companies established
in the PRC, the percentage of shareholding is determined with reference to the
percentage of subscribed registered capital of each shareholder.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2018, none of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company has or is deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
will be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SFO); or which will be required to be recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant

to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

() AREMNEZERIEREBERVTEKINERE
FRA MEREADLE2ZERRRAABIM
BRBDLLERE

BREXFIBEREEN RZFE—NF+=ZA
=+ BEEFIARAEETHRABR
RARKEAMEREZE (TR RBLRBAEK
PIEE XV ER) K RR D - ABRERRD RS EREE R A
SRR B ERBES R GEAEXVIBE
7 % 85 EBIE AN G AN B R B 22 BT ) ) A
KA (BIERIEE H RS GO A BB
EERIERENREERAR)  RABLRAE
ANRABIEES RS M%%ynhﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm
B RRE R BIEETAZEME AR

B ATE S R A o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at December 31, 2018, the followings are the persons, other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company, who had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares which would be required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of

Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept

by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder

Capacity/Nature of Interest

FERRRIRAD R AEE R0 &
BmNRRE

RZZE-NF+A=+—B" THALGEE
FHARRBNRSITEA B )RR KGR N
TRAARBESRARGROEXVEE 2 K3 D
MGEXAMEAREI LB I ERIOLR
BN AR BRIEE 7 R HE G5 XV EH
Be T EE MRS FAR

Approximate

Percentage of

Shareholding

in the total

Total number of issued share

Ordinary shares capital (%)

RE#T
IRA R
RERERE B HnitE ZERRDEAR B2 EE (%)
TCH Sapphire Limited (“TCH Sapphire”) Beneficial owner 310,899,020 14.97% (L)
TCH Sapphire Limited ([ TCH Sapphire]) © EFiZ#EAH A
Image Frame Investment (HK) Limited Beneficial owner 158,365,730 7.63% (L)
(“lImage Frame”) EmEA A
BEABRE(EB)ARRAA
([EEESE] O
Tencent Holdings Limited (“Tencent”) @ Interest in controlled corporations 476,215,740 22.93% (L)
EAERAER AR (B O Rt EEE R
C-Travel International Limited (“C-Travel”) @ Beneficial owner 288,273,190 13.88% (L)
C-Travel International Limited BE=EBA
([C-Travel]) @
Interest in controlled corporations © 122,995,180 5.92% (L)
Rt EEER©
411,268,370 19.81% (L)
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Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding

in the total

Total number of issued share

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest Ordinary shares capital (%)
RE#RT
RAHEEEHH
BROER
REREME B HRtE EBERROAR B 7 EE (%)
Ctrip.com (Hong Kong) Limited Beneficial owner 148,966,590 7.17% (L)
(“Ctrip Hong Kong") @ ExEAA
BRRRTHE(EE)BRAR]
([ (FB)])
Ctrip.com International, Ltd. (“Ctrip”) @ Interest in controlled corporations 560,234,960 26.98% (L)
Ctrip.com International, Ltd. ([ % 1) @ G EB RS
Suzhou Huafan Runhe Venture Beneficial owner and Interest 166,394,430 8.01% (L)
Capital Partnership (Limited Partnership) in controlled corporations
("Huafan Runhe”) @ EnlEa ARZEGEEER
HMENERAERESHRE
(BR&R)(TERBER]) @
Suzhou Industrial Park Tiancheng Interest in controlled corporations 166,394,430 8.01% (L)
Jiahua Investment Management Co, Ltd.  SZIEHIEE#EZR
(‘“Tiancheng Jiahua") ¥
BN IXERARREREEEAR AR
(RBEE]
City Legend International Limited © Beneficial owner 106,079,480 511% (L)
EEHRERAR© E=fEAA
EGREEER AR O Interest in controlled corporations 106,079,480 511% (L)

EHLEE S
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Name of Shareholder

Capacity/Nature of Interest

Total number of

Ordinary shares

Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding
in the total
issued share

capital (%)

RE#RT

RAEEEH

BROER

RERER B HRtE EBERROAR B 7 EE (%)

Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Interest in controlled corporations 106,079,480 5.11% (L)
Holdings Limited © SAEHIEE R

FEEW (M) ERBER AR ©

RYEBWRDBRAT O Interest in controlled corporations 106,079,480 511% (L)
Rt EEE R

Phoenix Ocean Developments Limited © Interest in controlled corporations 106,079,480 511% (L)
ERERBR QA O Rt EEE R

Pacific Climax Limited © Interest in controlled corporations 106,079,480 511% (L)
Rt EEE R

Overseas Chinese Town (HK) Interest in controlled corporations 106,079,480 511% (L)

Company Limited ©

BREBUARAT O

(L)  denotes along position

L HEFE

SEGDEE R



Notes:

m

Under the SFO, Tencent is deemed to be interested in (i) the 310,899,020 Shares held
by TCH Sapphire, (i) the 158,365,730 Shares held by Image Frame, and (jii) the 6,950,990
Shares held by Elite Strength Limited, each of which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Tencent.

Under the SFO, Ctrip is deemed to be interested in (i) the 288,273,190 Shares held by
C-Travel, (i) the 148,966,590 Shares held by Ctrip (Hong Kong), and (iii) the 27,332,270
Shares held by Luxuriant Holdings Limited, each of which is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Ctrip. Under the SFO, Ctrip is also deemed to be interested in 95,662,910 Shares
held by EP Il Investment Fund L.P.,, an exempted limited partnership established in the
Cayman Islands because Ctrip Investment Holding Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Ctrip, contributed more than one-third of the capital to EP Il Investment Fund L.P.
However, EP Il Investment Fund L.P. does not constitute an associate of Ctrip under
the Listing Rules as Ctrip does not control 30% or more of the voting power in EP Il
Investment Fund L.P.

Under the SFO, C-Travel is deemed to be interested in (i) the 27,330,270 Shares held by
Luxuriant Holdings Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of C-Travel, and (ii) the
95,662,910 Shares held by EP Il Investment Fund L.P., given Ctrip Investment Holding
Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of C-Travel, contributed more than one-third of the
capital to EP Il Investment Fund L.P.

Huafan Runhe holds 153,815,250 Shares, and under the SFO, is deemed to be interested
in the 12,579,180 Shares held by Huafan Runhe Limited, which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Huafan Runhe. Under the SFO, Tiancheng Jiahua, the general partner of
Huafan Runhe, is deemed to be interested in the 153,815,250 Shares held by Huafan
Runhe, and the 12,579,180 Shares held by Huafan Runhe Limited.

City Legend International Limited holds 106,079,480 Shares, and is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Phoenix Ocean Developments Limited, which in turn is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Holdings Limited. Overseas Chinese Town
(Asia) Holdings Limited is 70.94% owned by Pacific Climax Limited, which in turn is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Overseas Chinese Town (HK) Company Limited. Overseas
Chinese Town (HK) Company Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 731 ZE &1k A%
P AR AT, which in turn is 46.99% owned by ZE &% % B4 R A F]. Under the SFO,
each of Phoenix Ocean Developments Limited, Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Holdings
Limited, Pacific Climax Limited, Overseas Chinese Town (HK) Company Limited, /&3l
EFEWRMHBER AR and EFBMEREBBRAA] is deemed to be interested in the
106,079,480 Shares held by City Legend International Limited.

—ZT— )\FEF3R | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEFHE

fia -

m

RIEEH R EIERD - BABRARATEEH
HARELS ¢ () TCH Sapphire #8#9310,899,020 i%
B fn - () BRRHEHE A 89158365730 IRAR 1 -
K (iii) Elite Strength Limited 34 #9 6,950,990 f% A%
n R E=FRAERNEETAR

*ETJ?.M%&HH?M&\J BRERANATIER
AR 1 () C-Travel 35 A 1 288,273,190 f% AR
1%+ (i) %&(%‘ ) ¥ B # 148,966,590 A% A% 15

X% (ifi) Luxuriant Holdings Limited ¥4 #9 27,332,270
RA&H - MEHABRENZ2EFAR - BREE
5 REBEGL AREBEENZE T QA Crip
Investment Holding Ltd 5R# EP Il Investment Fund
LP.HBB=5 2 —HRA - BIBIR IR BRVEP 1l
Investment Fund LP. (—FRRH SRS HER
RERABLE) AR 566290 R MHF#ES
Bz o AT - ARERIEITHIEP 1l Investment
Fund L.P.#J30%3k A F12 24 - SHARIE E W 4R
Al » EP Il Investment Fund L.P. 37 TN& AR HEFR RO B
ZAo

BEZFHFRBEKH  BRCTavel 2 &
F A \lCtrip Investment Holdmg Ltd 3R SHEP 1l
Investment Fund LP.HBB =5 2 —HRA « &
C-Travel # 2 & 7 () Luxuriant Holdings Limited
(B Travelﬁ’]%ﬁ% A)) ¥ 127,330,270 8%
R% 1%+ K (ii) EP Il Investment Fund LP.3 & B
95,662 91oﬂxﬂx1ﬁ¢%*ﬁff e

AR EFE 153,815250 RARD - MRIEZE S K&
HAE &0 - ¥ 18 B Huafan Runhe Limited 4

812,579,180 A% A% 1 1 # & # 2= » Huafan Runhe
L\mnedﬁﬂimﬂﬂiﬁﬁﬁié%ﬁi RIEES RS
EIEP - RIEZZE(ENBROEBAEZA)ESR
BREPNERIFEH 153,815,250 A% 15 & Huafan
Runhe Limited$%5 #9 12,579,180 A% A% 17 & 4 /5 1
%o

EERKEBERABFE106079,480 &M -
RBEZRZRERAGMNE2E TR MEFR
BERAEBRAANAEBR(ZM ERERAF
MEETAR - EEWM(EM ERERAFH
Pacific Climax Limited # & 70.94% -+ T Pacific
Climax Limited BB B EZBHMER A RINEZE
TRAAE - BAREBRBERABNARIIZEBHBK
Tﬁﬁﬂﬁ@ﬁ%%’ﬁ%@ﬂ CRIIEFHRDE

NAAEGHEEBR QA RHEHF46.99% °
ﬁdﬁ FRHEGRY EXZERERDA
E S (M) IZER AR A A - Pacific Climax
Limited - BB EFM AR AT - RINEBHR
MERAFREGHEEBERARHHESE AR
EEBEAR AR E 106,079,480 AR D
HEHERS -
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2018, the Directors and the chief
executives of the Company are not aware of any other person (other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would be
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, at no
time during the year ended December 31, 2018 and up to the date of this annual
report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement
that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
the shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were
granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or

any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with Our Largest
Shareholders” in the Prospectus, and save for their respective interests in the
Group and stated in their respective confirmations, none of the Directors was
interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete with the

businesses of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2018.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not issued any convertible
bonds.

BREXFEREN RZTE—NF+ZA
=+—R EERARAETRABHTHN
BHEWEMALT(ARRNESSHERITRAR
BN AN B8O AR 1) Sk AR A AR 1 B AR IR FF
FRARE GBI XV EE 2 &30 HBIESCBAE AR
RA KB ROEAERRAR  RBELRAE
RNERBEF KA EBGROIEXVEE 336 (RFT1F
EZERMARNERRAE -

ESWBR M EREE R

BEXEZRERTBRAENKN - HERND
NEEETEANEENAR | —HMREE
S RBE_Z-N\F+_A=+—-HILFE
REEARFHRABHE  ARAXEEFMFAR
RIASFEMTHMET - UAREFRBWE
RRARFEMEMEABRBH RN L ERES
HARERAE - TEERREMNREFNERE
8 FRIA T Y F AL AR AR B A QA
HEMEMEABBHRAKBEBESFRCIT
BRI ZEHER o

EENEFMERNES

BHRERREZBFIRABRROEEE ]|
BEE RESBRASENERREEEHR

REEPAENERN BEZT-NF+ =
A=1+—BLLFE EFHEETAEAKE
EBELBFRARELBRFIEBTIHAE

S

BX

R ES

BEAFHRAY  ARALEETEMATRAER
EF e



CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in note 38 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, the following transactions constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules and are
required to be disclosed in this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.71
of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that the related party transactions
fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected
transaction” (as the case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and it had
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Please see below the information required to be disclosed in

compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

1. Contractual Arrangements
The reasons for using the Contractual Arrangements

The Group provides online information services, online data and transaction
services, air ticketing services, insurance agency services and/or call center
services (the "Relevant Businesses”), which are classified as foreign
investment restricted under the current PRC laws and regulations. As
foreign-invested enterprises, the Group through E-dragon Beijing WFOE
and Longyue Tiancheng WFOE (collectively, the “WFOEs") could not have
obtained licences and permits required for the operation of the Relevant

Businesses.

In order to comply with PRC laws and regulations and the Listing Rules, the
Relevant Businesses of the Group have been conducted through Contractual
Arrangement Entities by itself or through their subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”) under the Contractual Arrangements.
As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group is able to recognize
and receive the economic benefit of the business and operations of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The Contractual Arrangements are also
designed to provide the Company with effective control over and (to the
extent permitted by PRC law) the right to acquire the equity interests in and/
or assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities.
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RS EHREMETEBENER X5
F o TR SRR LR RE 14A3 IFE KR
ARMIFERER S - BIRE EMRAE 14471
R ERBERAFIRPHEE - N2 AR
BMARSGHEANLEMMBNETNAZEBBIEE
RIS FHBERBERS INER(RBAIE RN
) HEDNFAELWRANETHAZMEER
EemATYMBT EMRAFETHAZNRTE
Mm/BRTRHER

1. 8RR
RS Z PRI E A

REBREEREERE  EEHEERR
SR MEREBER RBRERY
R/ o RE(THBEERE] - &%
ERBREBBTHEEZRERESEAR
SN ERBIE - (ERINEIRERE - K
EEEXBBEEIL FWFOE R EM KRR
WFOE(#t M8 WFOEs | ) BX 15 4% & MR A 3 7% P
BRI R AE -

RESTHPEERMERUR ETRA - &
SENHEBEEBERBEEORHBEBEN
CHERBHEBSHEBE T ARGGRE
(O REEER])ET - ANBHNLH - &
SEAERAREDMGREBEREBE
BREZEEND AHNRBETEERR
NEREHH R E BN A RIEH R
(ARBEREFAR)BEHRBBEER
YR AS R e SR B EHORER -
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Summary of the major terms of the Contractual Arrangements

The Contractual Arrangements which were in place during the year ended
December 31, 2018 and a brief description of the major terms of the

Contractual Arrangements is set out below.
(@)  Exclusive Technology Consulting and Services Agreements

Each of the Contractual Arrangement Entities agreed to engage
Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever
applicable) as its exclusive provider of technical support, consulting
services and other services in exchange for a fee. The services to be

provided include:

(i) development, maintenance and updating of server application

software for the Contractual Arrangement Entities;

(i) development, maintenance and updating of Internet application

software for the Contractual Arrangement Entities;
(iii)  provision of e-commerce technology services;
(iv) provision of staff training services; and
(v) other services requested by the Contractual Arrangement Entities.

Under the Exclusive Technology Consulting and Services Agreements,
the service fee shall be an amount equivalent to 100% of the
consolidated net profit of the respective Contractual Arrangement
Entity in the financial year, less (i) net loss incurred by the respective
Contractual Arrangement Entity in the immediately preceding financial
year (if applicable); (i) operational capital, expenses, taxes and other
payments required under the PRC law in the same financial year;
and (i) any net profit distributed to Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or
E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever applicable) in the form of dividends.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Longyue Tiancheng WFOE and
E-dragon Beijing WFOE are entitled to adjust the scope and amount
of the service fees payable with reference to the tax obligations and

operating capital needs of the Contractual Arrangement Entities.

ERZ L EIFRAE

BE-_ZE-\FE+-_A=+—HILEED
AVHEHNLTHERENLTHEEZERINEGE
ZHBAHFINT -

(&) BEREMERERIRE B

BENTHERBRESNZEERX
FEWFOE S E BEIL RWFOE(LAEAE R
) REEME R - B R R E M AR
BHBREER UXHER - BT
REMIRE B -

() BEHNTHERMRAE  #ENEN
PR 7525 & et

(i) BEHNTHERMAE  EENEN
BB At

(i) FREETFEBEAMARS
(iv) IRHFETHIIRYE &
V) BNTHERERNEAMERT

BEBREMBER RS HE - RS
BREAVBFESAEHNLHERRE
MRE100% SRR FEEONLHE
BEEZAVBEE(WER) EEN
BIEFE (VKEEXR AX - HE
RERGBFEEANRBEREEZERTX
REE AT R (1) AR B DR
T RE MR A2 WFOE sk # B2 4k ;X WFOE (4R
ERA)OEAAET - EEF W AT
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(b)  Exclusive Share Purchase Right Agreements

(©

The registered shareholders of (i) Tongcheng Network other than
Longyue Tiancheng WFOE, (ii) Beijing E-dragon, and (iii) Suzhou
Chengyi (collectively, the “Registered Shareholders”) granted Longyue
Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever applicable)
an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase, or designate one or
more persons (each, a “designee”) to purchase, the equity interests
then held by the relevant Registered Shareholders in, and/or the assets
of the Contractual Arrangement Entities (the “Optioned Interest”)
once or at multiple times at any time in part or in whole at the sole
and absolute discretion of Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon
Beijing WFOE (whichever applicable) to the extent permitted under
the applicable laws of China. Where Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or
E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever applicable) chooses to purchase the
Optioned Interest, the relevant Registered Shareholders shall cause the
Contractual Arrangement Entities to promptly convene a shareholders’
meeting, at which a resolution shall be adopted approving the relevant
Registered Shareholders’ transfer of the Optioned Interests to Longyue
Tiancheng WFOE, E-dragon Beijing WFOE and/or their respective

designees.

Share Pledge Agreements

The Registered Shareholders agreed to pledge all their respective
equity interests in the Contractual Arrangement Entities that they
own, including any interest or dividend paid for the shares, to Longyue
Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever applicable)
as a security interest to guarantee the performance of contractual
obligations and the payment of outstanding debts of the Contractual
Arrangement Entities and the Registered Shareholders under the
Exclusive Technology Consulting and Services Agreements, the
Exclusive Share Purchase Right Agreements, the Powers of Attorney and

the Loan Agreement.
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(d) Powers of Attorney

(e)

@

Each Registered Shareholder irrevocably appointed Longyue Tiancheng
WEFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever applicable) respectively (as
well as the successors, including a liquidator, if any, replacing Longyue
Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE) or their designee(s)
(including their directors) as its/his/her sole exclusive agent to exercise
on its/his/her behalf, certain powers concerning the Contractual
Arrangement Entities and to exercise its rights as the registered

shareholder of Contractual Arrangement Entities.

Loan Agreement

E-dragon Beijing WFOE agreed to lend Mr. Jiang Hao RMB8,000,000 for

purposes of the capital contribution to Beijing E-dragon.

Irrevocable Undertaking of the spouse of each of the Registered
Shareholders

The spouse of each of the Registered Shareholders has expressly and
irrevocable acknowledged and undertaken that (i) any equity interests
held by such Registered Shareholders in the Contractual Arrangement
Entities do not fall within the scope of their communal properties; (ii)
each of them will not have any claim on the interests of Contractual
Arrangement Entities obtained through the Contractual Arrangements;
(iii) each of them never participated and will not participate in the

operation or management of the Contractual Arrangement Entities.

For details of the major terms of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer

to the sub-section headed “Contractual Arrangements — Summary of material

terms of the Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus. During the year

ended December 31, 2018, there was no material change in the Contractual

Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted,

and none of the Contractual Arrangements has been unwound as none of

the restrictions that led to the adoption of Contractual Arrangements has

been removed.
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Requirements related to Contractual Arrangements (other
than relevant foreign ownership restrictions) as at the date of
the annual report

In addition to the restrictions on foreign ownership, there are also regulatory
requirements on the operational experience and proven track record of a
foreign investor who intends to operate a value-added telecommunications
business in the PRC (the “Qualification Requirements”) under Provisions
on Administration of Foreign Invested Telecommunications Enterprises ((4h
& EAE D E T ERT) (the FITE Regulation”). The Qualification
Requirements are applicable to our operation of the value-added
telecommunications business, including the Information Services Business, the
Third Party Transaction Platform Business and the Call Center Service Business.
In the view of the Company's PRC Legal Advisor, there is no requirement on
the operational experience and proven track record specifically related to a
foreign investor who intends to operate the air ticketing agency business, the
online air ticketing trading business or the insurance agency business under

applicable PRC laws and regulations.

PRC law currently limits foreign ownership of companies that provide value-
added telecommunications services (other than operating E-commerce
business) in the PRC up to 50%. Moreover, for a foreign investor to acquire
any equity interest in a value-added telecommunications business in
China, it must satisfy a number of stringent performance and operational
experience requirements, including demonstrating good track records
and experience in operating value-added telecommunications business
overseas. Foreign investors that meet these requirements must obtain
approvals from the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology (the
“MIIT") and the Ministry of Commerce or their authorized local counterparts,
which retain considerable discretion in granting approvals. Pursuant to
publicly available information, the PRC government has issued value added
telecommunications business operating licenses to only a limited number of

foreign-invested companies.

As both Tongcheng Network and Beijing E-dragon have a foreign investor
as its shareholder, such foreign investors must fulfill the aforementioned
requirements. Thus, Tongcheng Network and Beijing E-dragon shall each
apply for a new ICP License from the MIIT. The MIIT has discretion as to
whether to grant the license. On September 27, 2018, both Beijing E-dragon

and Tongcheng Network have obtained a new ICP License.
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Development in the PRC Legislation on Foreign Investment

On March 15, 2019, the National People’s Congress promulgated the Foreign
Investment Law (PN 1% &%) (the "FIL"), which will take effect on January
1, 2020. The FIL will replace the existing laws regulating foreign investment
in PRC, namely, the Sino-foreign Equity Joint Venture Enterprise Law, the
Sino-foreign Cooperative Joint Venture Enterprise Law and the Wholly
Foreign-invested Enterprise Law. The FIL embodies an expected regulatory
trend in PRC to rationalize its foreign investment regulatory regime in line
with prevailing international practice and the legislative efforts to unify the

corporate legal requirements for both foreign and domestic investments.

The FIL does not explicitly stipulate the contractual arrangements as a form
of foreign investment. The FIL does not mention concepts including “de
facto control” and “controlling through contractual arrangements” nor did
it specify the regulation on controlling through contractual arrangements.
Furthermore, the FIL does not specifically stipulate rules on the Relevant
Businesses. Instead, the FIL stipulates that “foreign investors invest in PRC
through any other methods under laws, administrative regulations, or
provisions prescribed by the State Council”. Therefore, as advised by the PRC
legal Advisor, the Contractual Arrangements will not be affected under the
FIL.

Nevertheless, there are possibilities that the implementing rules of the FIL (if
any), future laws, administrative regulations or provisions of the State Council
may stipulate contractual arrangements as a way of foreign investment, and
then whether the Contractual Arrangements will be recognized as foreign
investment, whether the Contractual Arrangements will be deemed to be
in violation of the foreign investment access requirements and how the

Contractual Arrangements will be handled are uncertain.

In addition, the FIL does not specify what actions shall be taken with
respect to the existing companies with a VIE structure, whether or not these

companies are controlled by PRC entities and/or citizens.
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Particulars of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities

Set out below is the registered owners and business activities of the

Consolidated Affiliated Entities which had entered into transactions with the

Group during the year ended December 31, 2018:

Name of
the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities

HRBEEEREE

Registered owners as at
December 31,2018
R=ZB-N\F
TZAZ+-HHWEREBA
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HEBBERFE
TX#EINBE-T-A\F+-A=+—8

LTFEEREEETIZNHRBEE R

MEBRLHEBAREE LS

Business activities

EBED

Beijing E-dragon
bRERE

Tongcheng Network

[RIT2 44%

Suzhou Chengyi
ERINI2

50% by Mr. Jiang Hao
L& R 50%
50% by E-dragon Beijing WFOE
B = WFOE #EA 50%

50% by Tongcheng Network
Registered Shareholders together
M RR AR B IR R E 500"
50% by Longyue Tiancheng WFOE

BE R A2 WFOE
BB 50%

51% by Mr. Wu Zhixiang
HREFEEREES1%
49% by Mr. Ma Heping
BRI R AR 49%

Provision of online accommaodation

reservation services

RHERERRER RS

Provision of online accommodation,
transportation ticketing and ancillary
value-added travel-related products and
services

REERER  BRBREEEE
i385 28 m K AR 5

Provision of insurance agency services through
online platforms operated under Beijing
E-dragon and Tongcheng Network,

the intended call center business, and

other Relevant Businesses

BB REERRARMREENERTA
RHARBAIERES - #EREM I
FBREMAERRS
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Note:

m

The Registered Shareholders of Tongcheng Network include the registered
shareholders of Tongcheng Network other than Longyue Tiancheng WFOE, which
comprise Mr. Wu Zhixiang, Mr. Wang Zhuan, Ms. Wu Jian, Mr. Zhang Hailong, Mr.
Ma Heping, Cowin Venture Capital Co,, Ltd. (SL/E&IZ1% & B PR A R)), Khorgos
Le Cheng Tian Xia Equity Investment Management Partnership ( LP %Eﬁ%ﬁﬁ
LERXTREREEBEABELEGBRER)), Suzhou Industrial Park Te Cheng
Wan L| Investment Management Co, Lid. @R TEBERFEEEREEES
[R 22 7)), Khorgos Qing Cheng Equity Investment Management Partnership (LP)
Eﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ SIERIERAEBEAREEERER), Khorgos Ye Cheng Equity
Investment Management Partnership (LP) (Ef RHETEEREIREE RSB L
% (BMRA ), Shenzhen Tencent Industrial Investment Fund Co,, Ltd. (RYIITT
fEENEEREE S BR A F), Shenzhen Century Huixiang Technology Co,, Ltd.
°Wﬂ1|ﬁ71ﬁ'ﬁat?¥ﬂﬁiﬁﬁﬁ 7A)), Shenzhen Li Tong Industrial Investment Fund
Co, Ltd. CRYITF3R E%&ﬁ%@ﬁfﬁ 7A)), and Shenzhen Century Kai Hua
Investment Fund Co, Lid. (RINITT AR S ZER E RSB RAR)).

(1) FRRAENHELRILEREZEKELRE
(TEEEBRIZBWFOE) » BIREREXL -
THEEE  RPlxt  ®EELE BRTE
Sk - SRBIEREBRAT - ERRATHE
BRTRIEREE fi/\%ﬁ_i(ﬁf‘ﬁl/\%’;)
HNIXRRFREEEREEEERA
ERRTERERERETEAB X ﬁﬁE
&%) ERRMEEREREEEAED
¥(BREE)  FMEMEXREESSE
BRAR  FRITHLEEREBRAF R
YIMFREXREESBR AR KR
LHEREESHRAA

Revenue and assets subject to the Contractual Arrangements EHZHETHINAREE
The revenues for the year and total assets subject to the Contractual BATHETITNERRAREELBRT
Arrangements are set out as follows: wmr
[
Total

Revenue subject assets subject
to the Contractual to the Contractual

Arrangements for Arrangements for

the year ended the year ended

December 31, December 31,

2018 2018

BE-Z— )\ BE-ZT-N\F

—A=+—-H +=HA=+-—H

LFEEEYN LFEENTH

THETHRA BETHEEAE

RMB Million RMB Million

Name of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities HREEEREE ARBEER ARBEER
Beijing E-dragon JbmEgE
Tongcheng Network EIRAE4E

Suzhou Chengyi BIMNIEE

HE-_Z—N\F+_A=+—HLEFE"
ItFEE - RESGMHEMNEENRAD
B AREB AU AR 04% ~ 42.7% 82 3.4% ©

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the revenues of Beijing E-dragon,
Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi accounted for 0.4%, 42.7% and

3.4% of the total revenues of the Group respectively.

BHE-_T-N\E+A=+—HIEFE "
ItrEE - AREEBRHRENEZEENEELR
EDRhAEBEEERBEMN44% - 256% K&
4.4% °

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the total assets of Beijing E-dragon,
Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi accounted for 4.4%, 25.6% and
4.4% of the total assets of the Group respectively.



Review of the transactions carried out under the Contractual
Arrangements during the reporting period

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual

Arrangements and confirm that:

1. the transactions carried out during such year have been entered
into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual

Arrangements;

2. no dividends or other distributions have been made by Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity interests which are not

otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and

3. any new contracts entered into, renewed or reproduced between
our Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the relevant
financial period above are fair and reasonable, or advantageous to our
Shareholders, so far as our Group is concerned and in the interests of

the Shareholders as a whole.

The Board had reviewed the overall performance of and compliance with the

Contractual Arrangements for the year ended December 31, 2018.

The Group's auditors have carried out review procedures in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants on the
transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements and
have provided a letter to our Directors with a copy to the Stock Exchange
confirming that the transactions have received the approval of our Directors,
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant Contractual
Arrangements and that no dividends or other distributions have been made
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity interests

which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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The risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and
actions taken by the Company to mitigate the risks

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual Arrangements,

including:

® |f the PRC government found that these Contractual Arrangements
did not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, the Group
could be subject to penalties or be forced to relinquish our interests in

those operations.

* The Group might be unable to enforce the Contractual Arrangements
because of uncertainties in the PRC legal system. Since the Group
might suffer significant time delays or other obstacles in the process of
enforcing the Contractual Arrangements, it would be very difficult to

exert effective control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

® The interpretation and implementation of the Foreign Investment Law
and how it might impact the viability of our current corporate structure,

corporate governance and business operations remain uncertain.

® The Contractual Arrangements might not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership, and thus, the Contractual
Arrangement Entities or their respective shareholders might fail to

perform their obligations under our Contractual Arrangements.

e If any of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities declared bankruptcy
or became subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding, the
Group might lose the ability to use and enjoy the assets held by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

® Under PRC laws and regulations, the Contractual Arrangements might
be subject to audit or challenge by the PRC tax authorities. As a result of
the audit, the PRC authorities might adjust our Contractual Arrangement

Entities’ income in the form of a transfer pricing adjustment.
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Further details of the risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements
please refer to the section headed "Risk factors — Risks relating to our

Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus.

Our Group has adopted measures to ensure the effective operation of
our Group's businesses with the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual Arrangements,

including:

1. major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from government
authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review and

discussion on an occurrence basis;

2. the Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with

the Contractual Arrangements at least once a year;

3. our Directors undertake to provide periodic updates in our annual
reports regarding the latest development of the Foreign Investment

Law; and

4. the Company will engage external legal advisors or other professional
advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation
of the Contractual Arrangements, review the legal compliance of WFOEs
and our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to deal with specific issues or

matters arising from the Contractual Arrangements.
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Other Connected Transactions

1.

Tencent Technical Support Framework Agreement

On November 6, 2018, the Company entered into the Tencent Technical
Support Framework Agreement with Tencent Cloud Computing (Beijing)
Company Limited (BEFE & (JbR) AR EE 2R F) (‘Tencent Cloud”),
pursuant to which Tencent Group will provide us with technical support
and related services, including but not limited to, cloud services and
intelligent DNS domain name resolution. Tencent Cloud is our connected
person because it is a wholly subsidiary of Tencent, which is one of our
substantial shareholders. Therefore, the transactions under the Tencent
Technical Support Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected

transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Tencent Technical Support Framework Agreement has an initial term
of three years commencing from November 26, 2018 and is renewable
upon the mutual consent of both parties, subject to compliance with the
Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations. The Tencent Technical
Support Framework Agreement is fundamental to the Group's businesses’
development and marketing and advertising needs, given the importance of
stable cloud services required for our operations. Please refer to the section

headed “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus for details.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps of the transaction amount to be
payable by us for the technical support and related services to be provided
by Tencent Group for the years ended December 2018, 2019 and 2020,
respectively, and the actual transaction amount incurred for the year ended

December 31, 2018 under the Tencent Technical Support Framework
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MEBSIRBE-T—N\F - —F—h
FR-F-TEHCALFEREHRIG
TR RERRERMINZ RS BFE
ERURBE-E-\Ft-A=t+—H

Agreement: LFFENERR S
I |
Actual
Proposed annual caps for the years amount
ending December 31 incurred
BE+-A=+t—HLFE®W B
BEEFELIR REEH
2018 2019 2020 2018
—E-NE ZE-AFE ZTTF ZE-N\F
(in RMB'000)
(AR¥ETT)
Transaction amount under the Tencent BRI FUIT ST IR EZR
Technical Support EHTHX5&5
Framework Agreement 38,000 60,000 72,000 25,788
Note: MiEE -

(1) The actual amount of transaction incurred under the Tencent Technical Support
Framework Agreement includes the transaction amount incurred during the
period from January 1, 2018 to March 9, 2018 incurred by both eLong and
Tongcheng Online Business before the Tongcheng-eLong Merger, and that
incurred by the Group during the period from March 10, 2018 to December 31,
2018. For more details of the transaction amount incurred by the Group during
the period from March 10, 2018 to December 31, 2018, please refer to note 38 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement

On November 6, 2018, the Group entered into the Tencent Payment
Services Framework Agreement with Shenzhen Tencent Computer
Systems Company Limited GRYIITI R ET B R R HR Q) (‘Tencent
Computer”), pursuant to which Tencent Group will provide payment and
settlement services through its payment channels to us in return for certain
fees. Tencent Cloud is our connected person because it is a wholly subsidiary
of Tencent, which is one of our substantial shareholders. Therefore the
transactions under the Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.

The Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement has an initial term of
three years commencing from November 26, 2018 and is renewable upon
the mutual consent of both parties, subject to compliance with the Listing
Rules and applicable laws and regulations. The Tencent Payment Services
Framework Agreement would enable the Group to provide our users
with a convenient payment method, therefore enhancing the overall user
experience of our services. Please refer to the section headed “Connected

Transactions” in the Prospectus for details.

The table below sets forth the annual caps of the transaction amount for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively and the actual
transaction amount incurred for the year ended December 31, 2018 under

the Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement:

B (RIS AE 2 b 8

RZZF-NFE+—AKA  AEEDEER
JImERAERERBRA A ([HRATE
B ) ET R X N IRISAE 2R W5 - HR At
BAREESBEBENTREMRMRES
NREERBELNETERERSDE - A
REREREANZEFAR MEAS
HANEEREZ — MEBAZRRMN
FEAL e Bt RIBLEMHRUE A
B OBAXNRBERBERTOXZHE
RISERER S -

BN IRBERBHZOVEFRRE =
- N\F+—-—AZ+tRBRH=ZF ALK
RIS RBRESR HAETLEHRA
NOBRRRER - BANIRBIER S
RREAEERAPEHEMNONTR -
feMRARMMBOEERSER - FH
FHE - FLHERERIEERS 8-

FRHESIR R EE NN REER G
% PBRBE-FT-N\E  —F-NE
R-E-FE+-ASt-ALEEHXR
SERFRLIRURBE_T—/\F+=
A=+ RLEEMERZHEH

| |
Actual
Proposed annual caps for the years amount
ending December 31 incurred
BE+t-HA=+—-BLFE®D
BERFELR BERRSZEH
2018 2019 2020 2018
—E-N\FE ZZ-NF ZZTZTF ZE-N\F
(in RMB'000)
(AR¥ETT)

Transaction amount under the Tencent B S 1< IRFSHE 28 177 3%
EHTHX 55
Framework Agreement 670,000 940,000 1,250,000 624,391"

Payment Services




Notes:

(1) The actual amount of transaction incurred under the Tencent Payment Services
Framework Agreement includes the transaction amount incurred during the
period from January 1, 2018 to March 9, 2018 incurred by both eLong and
Tongcheng Online Business before the Tongcheng-eLong Merger, and that
incurred by the Group during the period from March 10, 2018 to December 31,
2018. For more details of the transaction amount incurred by the Group during
the period from March 10, 2018 to December 31, 2018, please refer to note 38 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Ctrip Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement

On November 7, 2018, the Company entered into the Ctrip Travelling
Resources Sales Framework Agreement with C-Travel, pursuant to which the
Group will utilize Ctrip's platforms to offer our accommodation booking and
transportation services while Ctrip and/or its associates will sell transportation
ticketing services to the Group. C-Travel is our connected person because it
is one of our substantial shareholders. Therefore the transactions under the
Ctrip Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement constitute continuing

connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Ctrip Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement has an initial
term of three years commencing from November 26, 2018 and is renewable
upon the mutual consent of both parties, subject to compliance with the
Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations. The Ctrip Travelling
Resources Sales Framework Agreement could help our products and services
reach a larger sales market via Ctrip's online and mobile platforms, further

enlarge our user base, and increase our market share.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps of the transaction amount for the TREIDAIRBE_ZTE—NF - =
years ended December 31,2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively, and the actual —NFRZZFZEFFTZA=ZF+—HLF
transaction amount incurred pursuant to the Ctrip Travelling Resources Sales EHRZGEHFELRUAREBEE_ZT )N
Framework Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2018: F+A=ZT-—BLFERBEEKREER

RHEERGZNERRI SR

| |
Actual
Proposed annual caps for the years amount
ending December 31 incurred
BE+T-A=+t—HLFEH 13
EZFELR ZHEH
2018 2019 2020 2018
—E-N\FE ZZZT-NEF ZZTZTF ZZ-N\F
(in RMB'000)
(AR¥TT)

Service fee and system maintenance fee R IEHETIR IR I BRI E

payable by us to Ctrip and/or its ER BRI E

associates for their transportation RiBEIEIRIGER

ticketing services under the Ctrip BRRERHEBEA

Travelling Resources Sales SNHRTEE K&

Framework Agreement R EE 70,000 78,000 100,000 26,650

System maintenance fee payable by Ctrip 1R IEHEIR ik 2 BRI &
and/or its associate to us for offering ERGHRBRER 3
our accommodation booking services  E B A hEHETR

on Ctrip's platforms under the Ctrip Fa ERHERM
Travelling Resources Sales B ETE TR RIS FE R
Framework Agreement A RN

HES 70,000 30,000 35,000 11,5940



Note:

(1) As disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions — Ctrip Travelling
Resources Sales Framework Agreement” of the Prospectus, the Group's model
of cooperation with Ctrip and its associates was changed in 2018. Prior to such
change of model of cooperation, the majority of transaction amount was derived
from accommodation services, which was calculated based on the commissions
paid by the Group to Ctrip and/or its associates for the accommodation booking
services that the Group sold on Ctrip's platforms. After such change of model
of cooperation and the entering into of the Ctrip Travelling Resources Sales
Framework Agreement, Ctrip and/or its associates directly received all the
commissions for the accommodation services booked on Ctrip’s platforms from
third party TSPs, and the Group only received a fixed system maintenance fee
from Ctrip and/or its associates. Accordingly, the actual transaction amount
incurred under the Ctrip Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement for
the year ended December 31, 2018 as disclosed above is not strictly comparable
with the amount incurred under the above-mentioned old model of cooperation
with Ctrip and/or its associates as disclosed in the Prospectus. In addition, the
amount of commission and other service fees paid to Ctrip and its affiliates for
the year ended December 31, 2018 which constitute related party transactions
of the Group as set out in note 38 to the Consolidated Financial Statements is
larger than the actual transaction amount incurred under the Ctrip Travelling
Resources Sales Framework Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2018 as
disclosed above because part of such related party transactions under note 38 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements occurred under the above-mentioned old
model of cooperation with Ctrip and its associates before the Company’s Listing,
which do not constitute connected transactions of the Company.

Ctrip Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement

On November 7, 2018, the Group entered into the Ctrip Travelling Resources
Provision Framework Agreement with Ctrip, pursuant to which Ctrip and/or
its associates will utilize our platforms to offer its accommodation booking
and car rental services. Ctrip is our connected persons and therefore the
transactions under the Ctrip Travelling Resources Provision Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The Ctrip Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement has an initial
term of three years commencing from November 26, 2018 and is renewable
upon the mutual consent of both parties, subject to compliance with the
Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations. The Ctrip Travelling
Resources Provision Framework Agreement would enable the Group to
expand the variety of travel products and services offered on our online and
mobile platforms, enhance the user experience on our platforms, increase

our market shares by integration of our and Ctrip's respective resources.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps for the transaction amount TREIDAIRBE_ZTE—NF - =
payable for the years ended December 31,2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively, —NFRZZFZEFFTZA=ZF+—HLF
and the actual transaction amount incurred pursuant to the Ctrip Travelling ERNORGEHEFELERUREEZE-F
Resources Provision Framework Agreement for the year ended December 31, —NEFTZA=T—HLEFEREERIER
2018: FERUEERRBEENERZSEHE
| |
Actual
Proposed annual caps for the years amount
ending December 31 incurred
BE+-A=+—HLEEW B
EEFELR XEEHE
2018 2019 2020 2018
—E-N\FE ZZZT-NEF ZZTZTF ZZ-N\F
(in RMB'000)
(AR®ETFTT)

Commission to be received by us from 1R IEHERE iRz &R
third party TSPs for accommodation HEER G R

booking services offered by Ctrip BMTEa LRHES

and/or its associates on our platforms FEBERTRS M

and commission to be received by 8= IRz AR A e

us from Ctrip and/or its associates U A & DA R

for accommodation and transportation  FtE PR L AY{EE &

ticketing services we offer under the RBETE R AR

Ctrip Travelling Resources Provision R/ SRHBEA

Framework Agreement WER A & 1,050,000 1,500,000 2,000,000 813,600

Systern maintenance fee payable to Ctrip ARIEIERZ Hriis &R fE
and/or its associate for offering their HEZE o R TR 2R A
accommodation booking and car rental  “F & HiREEETE
services on our platform under the Ctrip B 5] N F 58 iR FS FE A1)

Travelling Resources Provision ERE S HBE A
Framework Agreement TR RRHREE 160,000 200,000 68,830




Note:

(1) As disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions — Ctrip Travelling
Resources Provision Framework Agreement” of the Prospectus, the Group’s model
of cooperation with Ctrip and its associates was changed in 2018. Prior to such
change of model of cooperation, the majority of transaction amount was derived
from accommodation services, which was calculated based on the commissions
received from Ctrip and/or its associates for the accommodation booking
services that Ctrip and/or its associates sold on the Group's platforms. After such
change of model of cooperation and the entering into of the Ctrip Travelling
Resources Provision Framework Agreement, the Group directly received all the
commissions for the accommodation services booked on its platforms from third
party TSPs sourced by Ctrip and/or its associates, and Ctrip and/or its associates
only received a fixed system maintenance fee from the Group. Accordingly, the
actual transaction amount incurred under the Ctrip Travelling Resources Provision
Framework Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2018 as disclosed above
is not strictly comparable with the amount incurred under the above-mentioned
old model of cooperation with Ctrip and/or its associates as disclosed in the
Prospectus. In addition, the amount of commission and other service income
received from Ctrip and its affiliates for the year ended December 31, 2018 which
constitute related party transactions of the Group as set out in note 38 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements is larger than the actual transaction amount
incurred under the Ctrip Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement
for the year ended December 31, 2018 as disclosed above because part of such
related party transactions under note 38 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
occurred under the above-mentioned old model of cooperation with Ctrip and
its associates before the Company’s Listing, which do not constitute connected
transactions of the Company.

The above continuing connected transactions has followed the policies
and guidelines when determining the price and terms of the transactions

conducted for the year ended December 31, 2018.

The auditor of the Group has reviewed the continuing connected
transactions referred to in the paragraph “Other Connected Transactions”
above and confirmed to the Board that the continuing connected
transactions: (i) have received the approval of the Board; (ii) were in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group; (iii) were entered into in
accordance with the relevant agreement governing the transaction; and (iv)

have not exceeded the caps.

The independent non-executive Directors have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions stated in the paragraph “Other
Connected Transactions” above were entered into by the Group: (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of its business; (ii) on normal commercial terms
or better; and (jii) in accordance with the relevant agreement (including the
pricing principle and guidelines set out therein) governing them and on
terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and

the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company has designated a team of senior management from business
operation, legal, risk control and finance departments and Board office
to monitor the continuing connected transactions and ensure that the
continuing connected transactions with the abovementioned connected
persons are on arm'’s length basis and that the annual caps are not exceeded.
Such team of senior management continuously traces and regularly
monitors the progress of the continuing connected transactions and reports
to management of the Company. They review the continuing connected
transactions with the finance department to ensure that annual caps are
not exceeded. They will also communicate with the Audit Committee,
management and the Board of Directors, regularly or as needed, to report
the progress of the continuing connected transactions, and request for
approval of new changes of existing transaction terms. The heads of different
departments of the Company will be informed on a periodic basis in relation
to the terms and pricing policies of the continuing connected transactions as
well. With these measures, the independent non-executive Directors could

therefore assess and give the confirmations in the preceding paragraph.

Save for disclosed above, during the year ended December 31, 2018, the
Group had not entered into any connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the Rules
14A.49 and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected and Continuing Connected
Transactions” above, there were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or its connected entity (within the meaning of Section 486 of the
Companies Ordinance) had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, and

subsisting during the year ended December 31, 2018 or as of December 31, 2018.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected and Continuing Connected
Transactions” above, no contract of significance was entered into between
the Company, or one of its subsidiary companies, and any of its Controlling

Shareholders or subsidiaries during the year ended December 31, 2018.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year ended December 31, 2018 and up to the date of this annual

report.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Article 164 of the Articles of Association and subject to Cayman
Islands Companies Law, each Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless,
out of the assets and profits of the Company, from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them, their or any
of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their

duty.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ liability insurance coverage for

the Directors of the Group during the year ended December 31, 2018.

REMUNERATION POLICY, DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION AND PENSION SCHEME

As at December 31, 2018, the Group had 6,258 employees. The remuneration
of our employees includes salaries, defined contribution plans, bonus plans and
share incentive plans. The Group provides on-the-job training programs to our
staff to enhance technical and product knowledge. The Group's remuneration
policies are formulated based on the performance of individual employees and

are reviewed regularly.

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages to the Directors. Other
emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to the Directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group. Details of the
Directors' remuneration during the year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in

note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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In accordance with the laws and regulations in the PRC, the Group has arranged
for its PRC employees to join defined contribution plans, including pension,
medical, housing and other welfare benefits, organised by the PRC government.
No forfeited contribution under this scheme is available to reduce the

contribution payable in future years.

The Group also provides social insurance, including pension insurance,
unemployment insurance, work-related injury insurance and medical insurance

for the employees of the Group.

2016 SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN

The Company has approved and adopted the 2016 Share Incentive Plan by the
Board's resolution on August 26, 2016. The terms of the 2016 Share Incentive Plan

are not subject to the provision of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2016 Share Incentive Plan is to promote the success and
enhance the value of our Company, by linking the personal interests of the
directors, officers and employees of our Company and any present or future
Subsidiaries or VIEs (each term as defined below) of our Company by providing
such individuals with an incentive for outstanding performance, to generate
superior returns to the Shareholders. The 2016 Share Incentive Plan is further
intended to provide flexibility to our Company in its ability to motivate, attract,
and retain the services of recipients upon whose judgment, interest, and special

effort the successful conduct of our Company’s operation is largely dependent.

Eligible participants

Those eligible to participate in the 2016 Share Incentive Plan include: (1) the
Directors of our Company; and (2) any person employed by (i) our Company, or
(i)) any entity in which our Company holds directly or indirectly more than fifty
percent (50%) of the voting equity (the “Subsidiary”); or (iii) any entity that is
considered to be a variable interest entity consolidated with our Company for
purpose of U.S. GAAP (the "VIE") ((i), (i) and (iii) collectively, the “‘Employee” or the
“Participant’). A person will not cease to be an Employee solely by virtue of also

being a Director of our Company.
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Maximum number of Shares

The overall limit on the number of underlying Shares that may be subject to any
option, restricted share unites (‘RSU"), any Shares issued subject to forfeiture or
repurchase by our Company until vested (the “Restricted Shares”) or other share-
based award or right granted or sold pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive Plan
is 101,360,000 Shares. 59,478,530 Shares have been issued to Wonderful Holidays
Limited, which are held on behalf of certain employees of our Group under the
2016 Share Incentive Plan. No additional Share will be issued by our Company for
the purpose of granting additional RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive Plan after
the Listing.

The Company approved and granted 44,186,710 RSUs among which 8,300,000
were granted to Mr. Jiang Hao. Please refer to the sub-section headed “Appendix
V - Statutory and General Information — Share Incentive Plans — 2016 Share

Incentive Plan” of the Prospectus for details.

Administration

The 2016 Share Incentive Plan is administered by the full Board or a compensation
committee appointed by the Board, constituted to comply with applicable law
(the "Compensation Committee”). The Compensation Committee will have
the authority in its discretion to determine the number of Shares or RSUs to
be covered by each award granted under the 2016 Share Incentive Plan (the
“Award").

Grant of Awards

The Compensation Committee is authorised to grant options, RSUs or other
Awards to purchase a specified number of Shares at a specified price during
specified time periods. Awards granted will be evidenced by an agreement
("Award Agreement”’). The Award Agreement includes additional provisions

specified by the Compensation Committee.
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Consideration

The consideration to be paid for Shares to be issued upon exercise of an option,
the granting of an RSU, or the purchase of Restricted Shares, including the
method of payment, will be determined by the Compensation Committee. Such
consideration may consist of (i) cash, (i) check, (iii) such other method of payment
as is approved by the Compensation Committee, or (iv) any combination of the

foregoing that is approved by the Compensation Committee.

Exercise of option

The Remuneration Committee shall determine the time or times at which an
option may be exercised in whole or in part, including exercise price prior to
vesting. The Compensation Committee shall also determine any conditions, if any,

that must be satisfied before all or part of an Award may be exercised.

Vesting of awards

Any options granted under the 2016 Share Incentive Plan will become vested
and exercisable, any RSUs granted under the 2016 Share Incentive Plan will vest
and be settled and any Restricted Shares issued under the 2016 Share Incentive
Plan will vest and no longer be subject to forfeiture at such times and under such
conditions as determined by the Compensation Committee and set forth in an

Award Agreement.

Term of the 2016 Share Incentive Plan

The 2016 Share Incentive Plan commenced on August 26, 2016 (the “Effective
Date of 2016 Share Incentive Plan”). Any Awards granted that are outstanding
on the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date of 2016 Share Incentive Plan shall
remain in force to give effect to that Award for a term of ten years according to

the terms of the 2016 Share Incentive Plan and the applicable Award Agreement.

For further details, please refer to the sub-section headed “Appendix V — Statutory
and General Information — Share Incentive Plans — 2016 Share Incentive Plan”
of the Prospectus, and note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this

annual report.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2018, no RSUs or share options had
been granted or agreed to be granted by the Company pursuant to the 2016

Share Incentive Plan.
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2018 SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN

The Company has approved and adopted a share option scheme by the Board's
resolution on March 9, 2018 (the “2018 Share Incentive Plan”). The terms of the
2018 Share Incentive Plan are not subject to the provision of Chapter 17 of the

Listing Rules.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2018 Share Incentive Plan is to promote the success and
enhance the value of our Company, by linking the personal interests of the
directors, officers and employees of our Company and any present or future
Subsidiaries or VIEs (each term as defined below) of our Company by providing
such individuals with an incentive for outstanding performance, to generate
superior returns to the Shareholders. The 2018 Share Incentive Plan is further
intended to provide flexibility to our Company in its ability to motivate, attract,
and retain the services of recipients upon whose judgment, interest, and special

effort the successful conduct of our Company’s operation is largely dependent.

Eligible participants

Those eligible to participate in the 2018 Share Incentive Plan include: (1) the
Directors of our Company; and (2) any person employed by (i) our Company, or
(i) any entity that is directly or indirectly Controlled (as defined below) by our
Company (the “Subsidiary”) or (iii) any entity that is considered to be a variable
interest entity consolidated with our Company for purpose of U.S. GAAP (the “VIE")
((i), (i) and (iii) collectively, the “Employee” or the “Participant”). A person will not

cease to be an Employee solely by virtue of also being a Director of our Company.

Maximum number of Shares to be awarded

The overall limit on the number of underlying Shares that may be subject to any
option, RSU, any Shares issued subject to forfeiture or repurchase by our Company
until vested (the “Restricted Share”) or other share-based award or right granted
or sold pursuant to the 2018 Share Incentive Plan is 163,240,270 Shares, which

represents approximately 7.86% of the issued shares as at December 31, 2018.

The number of outstanding Shares subject to the options granted under the 2018
Share Incentive Plan is 163,240,270 Shares. No additional options will be granted
under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan after the Listing.

—ZT— )\FEF3R | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEFHE

—E-N\FROHBE

ARARR-E-N\F=ZANABBEZTGREA
AT RABRESS(=F-N\FROK
BEt&E D) o —F— N\FERM BB ERD
X ETRANETLEROGRRR -

B

- N\FROBEEEEBBEARR K
AABEMBEREARRFARKVIE(EERRT
SMOEE - 2R E KRB R E AR AR
mE BEHEZEATELELRE A
R REEER - AREARRIMRI RIR
FEEBE - —Z—N\FRMHUBETE EEFE
RAFREEESE - Wl KB AERERER
% MAREIRERNEEER  BEZEIUR
REZEATHHE - FlmRERNE N -

BERBRAL

- N\FROBEFTENEERSEALTE
B EARRESE  LQOARE ()RR A
BEEKBESEED 2R T (0w 8 Z S ([F
AR DOERERE s HERNREER
MERBERABHERNATEERERB(VIE])
BER B REFTEE AR ER AL () ~ (i) K (i) #E18
MEE k[ BEE]) - TAATTSEBRRIA
RAREEMAIBERES -

RERBROEE

RAEMERE IRHBRMDEN - EEFBER
ARARAGERR BRI ERBBEITRO((ZR
FIBR A ) SR I =T — NERDFE AT &5
3 B A EL b DA RBR 1) A EL T SR B S ISR IR Y
FERARR (DB E B8 LR & 163,240,270 IR i 15 -
EHE-_Z—N\F+-A=+—BEETEH
#)7.86% ©

RBBE_F-N\FRODBEBEERDOBR
T FT AR BR A B 1T AE SN AR 10 BB % 163,240,270
o ARRNETEBETERE_ZS—NFR
DB ET 2155 H RN AR A -

87



88

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | FEfR2E5EERER AT

DIRECTORS' REPORT
BEEERE

Administration

The 2018 Share Incentive Plan is administered by the Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Technology Officer, Chief Strategy
Officer and Chief Marketing Officer of our Company appointed in accordance
with the Shareholders Agreement and the Articles of Association (collectively,
the “Management’). The Management will have the authority in its discretion to
determine the number of Shares or RSUs to be covered by each award granted
under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan (the “Award").

Grant of Awards

The Management is authorised to grant options, RSUs or other Awards to
purchase a specified number of Shares at a specified price during specified
time periods. Awards granted will be evidenced by an agreement (the “Award
Agreement’). The Award Agreement includes additional provisions specified by

the Management.

Consideration

The consideration to be paid for Shares to be issued upon exercise of an Option,
the granting of an RSU, or the purchase of Restricted Shares, including the method
of payment, will be determined by the Management. Such consideration may
consist of (i) cash, (i) check, (iii) such other method of payment as is approved by
the Management, or (iv) any combination of the foregoing that is approved by

the Management.

Exercise of option

The Management shall determine the time or times at which an option may
be exercised in whole or in part, including exercise price prior to vesting. The
Management shall also determine any conditions, if any, that must be satisfied

before all or part of an Award may be exercised.

Vesting of awards

Any options granted under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan will become vested
and exercisable, any RSUs granted under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan will vest
and be settled and any Restricted Shares issued under the 2018 Share Incentive
Plan will vest and no longer be subject to forfeiture at such times and under
such conditions as determined by the Management and set forth in an Award

Agreement.
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Term of the 2018 Share Incentive Plan

The 2018 Share Incentive Plan commenced on March 9, 2018 (the “Effective Date
of 2018 Share Incentive Plan”). Any Awards that are outstanding on the tenth
anniversary of the Effective Date of 2018 Share Incentive Plan shall remain in force
to give effect to that Award for a term of ten years according to the terms of the

2018 Share Incentive Plan and the applicable Award Agreement.

For further details, please refer to the sub-section headed “Appendix V — Statutory
and General Information - Share Incentive Plans — 2018 Share Incentive Plan”
of the Prospectus, and note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this

annual report during the year ended December 31, 2018.

Save as those disclosed in the annual report, no right to subscribe for equity or
debt securities of the Company has been granted by the Company to, nor have
any such rights been exercised by, any other person during the year ended
December 31,2018.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no equity-linked agreement

entered into by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2018.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the respective percentage of
purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier and five largest suppliers
in aggregate was 28.7% and 55.2%; and the respective percentage of the total
sales attributable to the Group's largest customer and five largest customers in

aggregate was 21.5% and 39.4%.

Mr. Liang Jianzhang, Mr. Jiang Hao, Mr. Lin Haifeng and Mr. Wu Haibing, who are
directors of the Company, had beneficial interests in the five largest suppliers
which accounted for approximately 9.5% of the total purchases of the Group.
Mr. Liang Jianzhang, Mr. Jiang Hao, Mr. Lin Haifeng and Mr. Wu Haibing also had
beneficial interests in the largest customer which accounted for approximately
21.5% of the total sales of the Group.

Mr. Lin Haifeng, Mr. Brent Richard Irvin and Mr. Dai Xiaojing, who are directors of
the Company, had beneficial interests in the largest supplier which accounted for

approximately 28.7% of the total purchases of the Group.

Except as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their close associates
or any Shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the Directors owned more
than 5% of the Company'’s issued share capital) had a material interest in our five

largest suppliers or customers.

LEGAL PROCEEDING

As disclosed in the section headed “Business — Legal Proceedings and Non-
compliance” of the Prospectus, on January 17, 2018, Guangdong Wendi Digital
Broadcasting Co,, Limited (/& 3 )& 8 28 7 E #% Ik {7 B R A 7)) (‘Guangdong
Wendi") brought a contractual claim against, among others, Tongcheng Network
for a total amount of RMB40,000,000 in relation to certain purported contracts
entered into with, among others, Tongcheng Network. The People’s Court of
Liwan District, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province has issued a judgment dated
February 5, 2019, which held that the claim brought by Guangdong Wendi is
dismissed. Any party to such litigation may appeal to the Intermediate People's
Court of Guangzhou, Guangdong Province within ten days after the date of the
judgment. As at the date of this report, the Group has not received any notice of

appeal from any party to such litigation.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any

of the Company's listed securities during the year ended December 31, 2018.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code since the

Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report.

The Company’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company, have also been subject to the Model Code for
securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the
Company's employees was noted by the Company since the Listing Date and up

to the date of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company had applied the principles
and code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and has
complied with the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code for the
year ended December 31, 2018. Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report

of this annual report for details.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December
31, 2018 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, certified public

accountants.

PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the Company

will be proposed at the AGM.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND RECORD
DATE

The register of members of the Company will be closed from May 24, 2019 to
May 29, 2019, both days inclusive, in order to determine the eligibility of the
Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM. The Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company at the close of business on
May 29, 2019 will be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on May 23, 2019.

By order of the Board
Ma Heping

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, March 19, 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of the Company presents this corporate governance report in the

Group's annual report for the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2018,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance to
safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and

accountability.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code and also the corporate governance report as contained in Appendix 14 to

the Listing Rules.

The Corporate Governance Code sets out the principles of good corporate

governance and two levels of corporate governance practices, as follows:

(@) code provisions, which listed issuers are expected to comply with or to give

considered reasons for deviation; and

(b) recommended best practices for guidance only, which listed issuers are

encouraged to comply with.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the principles and

code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code.

The Company regularly reviews its compliance with corporate governance codes
and save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company was in compliance with
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code during the period from
the Listing Date to December 31, 2018.

Please refer to the Director’s Report of this annual report for details.
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A. The Board

1.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company
and is responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. The Board also reviews the policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to
these Board committees’ various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference which are published on the websites of

the Stock Exchange and the Company.

All of the Directors have carried out their duties in good faith and in
compliance with the standards of applicable laws and regulations, and
have acted in the best interests of the Company and its Shareholders at

all times.

Delegation of Management Function

The Board is responsible for making all major decisions of the Company
including: the approval and monitoring of all major policies and
overall strategies of the Group and overall strategies, internal control
and risk management systems, notifiable transactions and connected
transactions, nomination of the Directors and joint company secretaries,

and other significant financial and operational matters.

All of the Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the joint company secretaries, with
a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. Each Director is entitled to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s

expense.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from

the Board before any significant transaction is entered into.
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Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprised the following Directors for the
period from the Listing Date to December 31,2018 and as at the date of

this annual report:

Executive Directors Mr. Wu Zhixiang (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Ma Heping (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Mr. Liang Jianzhang (Co-Chairman)

Directors
Mr. Jiang Hao(Note)
Mr. Lin Haifeng
Mr. Brent Richard Irvin
Independent Mr. Wu Haibing

non-executive Mr. Dai Xiaojing
Directors Ms. Han Yuling
Note:

Mr. Jiang Hao has resigned from his positions as the Deputy Chairman and
President and been re-designated as a non-executive director of the Company
with effect from March 19, 2019 due to other work commitment. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated March 20, 2019 for details.

The list of the Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant
to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are
expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the

Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in this annual report, to the best
knowledge of the Company, there are no financial, business, family, or

other material/relevant relationships among members of the Board.

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2018, the
Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board and at least one
independent non-executive Director with appropriate professional

qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.
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The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his or her independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be

independent in accordance with the independence requirements set

out in the Listing Rules.

4.  Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of the Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee include, but are not limited to,
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessing
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors and

making recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the

appointment of the Directors.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company pursuant to which each of them has agreed to act as an
executive Director for an initial term of three years from November 26,
2018 (subject to re-election as and when required under the Articles
of Association), until terminated in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the service contract or by either party giving to the
other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing. Each of the
non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company pursuant to which each of them has agreed to act as a non
executive Director for an initial term of one year from November 26,
2018 (subject to re-election as and when required under the Articles of
Association) save for Mr. Jiang Hao, whose service contract as an non-
executive director commenced from March 19, 2019, until terminated
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the service contract or
by either party giving to the other not less than one month’ prior notice
in writing.Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company and has been appointed for
a term of one year from November 26, 2018 (subject to re-election as
and when required under the Articles of Association). The appointment

may be terminated by either party giving to the other not less than one

month’s prior notice in writing.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, all of the Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
the Board has power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
new Director to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any
director so appointed shall hold office until the first general meeting or
the next following annual general meeting of the Company (as the case
may be) after his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election

at that meeting.

Induction and Continuing Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to
ensure that he or she understands the business and operations of the
Company and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory

requirements.

The Directors are continually provided with information relating to the
developments in the legal and regulatory regime and the business and
market environments to facilitate the execution of their responsibilities.
Continuing briefings and professional development for the Directors

were arranged by the Company and its professional advisers.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, each Director has attended
training sessions arranged by the Company regarding the continuing
obligations of listed companies and its directors, disclosure obligations

of listed companies and update on the Listing Rules.
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According to records provided by the Directors, a summary of training
received by the Directors for the year ended December 31, 2018 is as

follows:

Mr.Wu  Mr.Jiang Mr.Ma M Liang
Zhixiang Hao Heping  Jianzhang

REEFRGEADY  EFNRE
T N\ET-AS+—RILEERE
HEYEEMT -

Mr. Lin
Haifeng

Mr. Brent Mr.Wu Mr. Dai Ms. Han

Richard Haibing Xiaojing Yuling
Brent

RERKE DERE BATAE REIRE WEERE Ricad®E RESRE BOREE BIBXL

Duties of Directors EENBENR

and Roles and E%Z8%

Functions of the RN

Board Committees | \ | y
Risk Management RRERRAR

andInternal Control: ¥ : 3855 -

Environmental, Social ~ # & REARE

and Governance Report y y | y
Governance Report: ERlE -

Role of Director EZNALE | \ | y
Directors Trading EREEES

Securities and LEBSE

Related Matters y y | y
Main Regulations in FEREROR

Hong Kong and LEEH

Requlatory Update |

6. Attendance Record of Board Meetings

a.  Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Code provision A.1.1 of the Corporate Governance Code prescribes
that at least four regular Board meetings should be held in each
year at approximately quarterly intervals with active participation
of majority of directors, either in person or through electronic

means of communication.

No Board meeting or general meeting of the Company was held
during the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2018. The
Board did not have any matters to discuss during the period from
the Listing Date to December 31, 2018, which is about 5 weeks.
The Company will comply with the Code Provision A.1.1 of the

Corporate Governance Code.
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Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting will

be made available to the Directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings will be served to all of the
Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and

committee meetings, reasonable notices were generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information will be sent to all of the Directors at least three days
before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the
Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial
position of the Company and to enable them to make informed

decisions.

Each Director also has separate and independent access to the

senior management of the Company whenever necessary.

The senior management of the Company attend all regular Board
meetings and where necessary, other Board and committee
meetings, to advise on business developments, financial and
accounting matters, statutory and regulatory compliance,

corporate governance and other major aspects of the Company.

The joint company secretaries are responsible for taking and
keeping minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings.
Draft minutes are normally circulated to the Directors for comment
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is

open for the Directors’ inspection.

The Articles of Association contain provisions requiring the
Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the
quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such

Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not

be performed by the same individual.

The chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer are currently
two separate positions held by Mr. Wu Zhixiang and Mr. Liang Jianzhang
as the Co-Chairman of the Board and Mr. Ma Heping as Chief Executive
Officer, with clear distinction in responsibilities. The chairman of the
Board is responsible for providing overall strategic planning and business
development of the Group, while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible
for general business operation and the implementation of overall business

strategy.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All of these three
committees are established with defined written terms of reference which

are available at the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The majority of the members of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, and the Nomination Committee are independent non-executive

Directors.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent

professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's expense.
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Audit Committee

We have established the Audit Committee with terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules as well as paragraphs
C.3 and D.3 of the Corporate Governance Code. The Audit Committee
consists of three Directors, namely, the independent non-executive
Directors Mr. Wu Haibing, Ms. Han Yuling, and the non-executive
Director Mr. Lin Haifeng. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr.
Wu Haibing, who holds the appropriate professional qualifications as

required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee include, but are not limited to, assisting the Board
by (i) reviewing and monitoring the relationship of the external auditor
and the Group, particularly the independence and objectivity and
effectiveness of the external auditor; (i) providing an independent view
of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control,
compliance and risk management systems of the Group; (iii) overseeing
the audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board; (iv) developing and reviewing the Company'’s
policies and practices on corporate governance, compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements and requirements under the
Listing Rules; (v) reviewing the financial information of the Company
and ensuring compliance with accounting standards and reviewing
significant adjustments resulting from audit; (vi) developing, reviewing
and monitoring the code of conduct applicable to the Company's
employees and Directors; and (vii) overseeing the Company'’s financial

reporting system and internal control procedures.

No Audit Committee meetings were held during the period from the
Listing Date to December 31, 2018 because the Audit Committee did
not have any matters that need to be discussed with the Auditor shortly

after the listing.
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The Company's annual results for the year ended December 31, 2018
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee on March 19, 2019. The
Audit Committee considers that the annual financial results for the
year ended December 31, 2018 are in compliance with the relevant
accounting standards, rules and regulations and appropriate disclosures

have been duly made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code. The Remuneration Committee consists of three
Directors, namely, the independent non-executive Directors Mr. Dai
Xiaojing and Ms. Han Yuling, and Mr. Brent Richard Irvin, the non-
executive Director. Ms. Han Yuling serves as the chairman of the

Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but are not limited
to, the following: (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company's policy and structure for remuneration of all the Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (ii)
reviewing and approving senior management's remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board corporate goals and objectives; and (iii)
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages

of individual Directors and senior management.

No Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the period from
the Listing Date to December 31, 2018.
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Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 7 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, the remuneration
payable to the senior management of the Company (who are not the
Directors) by band for the year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report-D. Remuneration of

Senior Management” of this annual report.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with terms
of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5 of the Corporate
Governance Code. The Nomination Committee consists of three
Directors, namely, the independent non-executive Director Mr. Dai
Xiaojing and Ms. Han Yuling, and the executive Director and the Co-
Chairman of the Board, Mr. Wu Zhixiang. Mr. Wu Zhixiang serves as the

chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee include, but are not limited to, (i)
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, (i) assessing
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; and
(iii) making recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the

appointment of Directors.

No Nomination Committee meeting was held during the period from
the Listing Date to December 31, 2018.

Where vacancies on the Board arise, the Nomination Committee
will carry out the selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and length of
service of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and other

relevant statutory requirements and regulations.
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Prior to the Listing Date, the composition and diversity of the Board REmBBA - BBRANESTEKE
were considered by adopting the Board Diversity Policy including ZfblE  RMEZEREFTE 28
the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate for the KRZTl  BEAAREFRERE
requirements of the business development of the Company and for Sk B R BB T E R R A B SR Y 4
effective leadership. All the executive and non-executive Directors EVE - BT RIEDNITESHTE
possess extensive and diversified experience in management and broad BERZTICHERKERARER
industrial experience. The three independent non-executive Directors TEER - —BBYFNTESH 7
possess professional knowledge in management, finance, accountancy BEEER MK @it REEFEAN
and legal, respectively with broad and extensive experience in business &9 RIE E B Eﬁ&@:fﬁﬁ@%ﬁ
advisory and management, respectively. A summary of the Board BZmEEmEtkh EEENES
Diversity Policy is set out below: b EZBLEHIAT

Purpose: The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board and enable

BHY

Board Diversity

Policy statement:

Measurable Objectives:

AHERE

the Board to comply with the Corporate Governance Code.
EFeNESZ TR A ABRESENES TN TE  REESSETEEER
SR

The Company considers increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the Board'’s
composition, Board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board.

RAARREFGREANERZ TR HEINRBEERAFBEERNLETE - KR
HEEFECEARE  ARAIEREZITEERESTERE LT BEETRRIER - F
B UERHBE B R Bk - BELR - BEE - %DE%%LX&HE%%EHH ° ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁis\z&
WA RBIEME - MREARBREHLD  TEHEBENEFENE S TIENES
NERE -

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

REANEBEERZERE - SFEETRAER - Fik XMERBEES Bk X
RER - BREE - MBUARBBFR - RERTEHENEENREATTREZTSTHRNEER



In reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board, the Nomination Committee has taken into account the
measurable objectives as set out in the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee is of the view that the diversity level of the
Board is appropriate in terms of knowledge, experience and skills of the
directors. However, the Nomination Committee will continue to observe
the Board Diversity Policy and consider potential candidates against the
objective criteria set out in the Board Diversity Policy in order to achieve

increasing diversity at the Board level.
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En | A
D. Remuneration of Senior Management = R E 1R FE B A
The remuneration payable to the senior management of the Company (who ERARAT EREGEES)NEH MR
are not the Directors) is shown in the following table by band: %%&XIDTE@J/T\ :
Remuneration band (RMB) 2018 (members of senior management of the Company)
FHER(ARE) “E-NF(RRATEREEERE)
5 million-10 million SEEZXI08S 1
10 million-15 million WEBZEISAS 1
15 million- 20 million SEEE2088 3

E. Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code

during the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2018.

The Company's employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company, have also been subject to the Model Code for
securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code
by the Company's employees was noted by the Company during the period
from the Listing Date to December 31, 2018.

HHER 5 NRESTA
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial

statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements
and other financial disclosures required by the Listing Rules and other

regulatory requirements.

The senior management of the Company has provided such explanation
and information to the Board as necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the financial information and position of the

Company in order to put forward such information to the Board for approval.

External Auditor and Auditor Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities for the financial statements is set out under the section

headed "Independent Auditor's Report” in this annual report.

The external auditor of the Company will be invited to attend the annual
general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the

preparation and content of the auditor's report and auditor’s independence.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the remuneration paid/payable
to the external auditor of the Company for the provision of audit services for
the year ended December 31,2018 amounted to RMB16.3 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the remuneration paid/payable
to the external auditor of the Company in respect of non-audit services for
the year ended December 31, 2018 amounted to RMB2.1 million. The nature

of such non-audit services is to provide advisory services.
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Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board of Directors is responsible for the establishment and maintenance
of sound and effective risk management and internal control systems that
are in line with the strategic objective of the Group. The Group established
risk management and internal control systems to protect the interests of the
Group and the shareholders ensure the Group is in compliance with relevant
laws and regulations, effectively identify and manage significant risks in
achieving its strategic objectives, protect the safety of the Group's assets,
and ensure the maintenance of proper compliance accounting records and

financial reports.

The Board of Directors is responsible for evaluating the nature and extent
of the risks the Group is willing to take in achieving strategic objectives
and ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems as well as overseeing
management of the Group in the design, implementation and monitoring of

the risk management and internal control systems.

The Board periodically receives (at least once a year) reports from the Group's
management regarding financial, operational and compliance controls, as
well as the establishment, review and assessment of the internal control and
risk management functions of the Group. All significant risks are reported
to the Board. The Board will also evaluate the corresponding risks and the
response plan. The Group would review, among other things, adequacy of
resources, staff's qualifications and experience, training programs and budget

of our accounting, internal control and financial reporting functions.
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The Group’ senior management and the Audit Committee is authorized by
the Board to be in charge with the organization and implementation of the
risk management and internal control of the Group and be responsible for
establishing the risk management and internal control systems, standardizing
the organization, authorization, responsibilities, procedures and methods of
the risk management and internal control systems and also responsible for
ongoing monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group, and makes periodic reports to the Board regarding the status of

the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

The internal audit department of the Group assists the Board and the Audit
Committee in their analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems.
The annual work plan of the internal audit department covers the major
activities and processes of the Group's operations, businesses and service
units. Special reviews are also performed at the management's request.
The internal audit department members hold regular meetings to discuss
any internal control issues we face and the corresponding measures to
resolve such issues. The results of these audit activities are communicated
to the Audit Committee on a timely basis. The internal audit department
provides independent assurance to the Board, the Audit Committee and the
management of the Company as to whether the Group's internal controls

are adequate and effective.
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With respect to risk management, the Group has chosen and adopted
the risk management framework issued by COSO in the United States of
America ("COSQ"), established a risk management system covering design,
implementation, monitoring, assessment and continuous improvement
based on the ISO 31000:2009 “Risk Management — Principles and Guidelines”.
The Group's management established the overall targets and policies of the
risk management system which are in line with the strategic objectives, and
identified, analyzed and assessed the overall risk of the Company, especially
the risks in making major decisions, important events and key business
processes. The Group's management is also responsible for reviewing
and approving the response plans to major risks, as well as following-up
and periodically reviewing the implementation of such response plans of
risks identified, in order to make sure that sufficient attention, monitor and
responses will be paid to all key risks of the Company. The risk management
reports are submitted to the Board periodically. The main features of the risk

management system are as follows:

Financial Reporting Risk Management. The Company has in place a set
of accounting policies in connection with our financial reporting risk
management, such as financial report management policies, budget
management policies, financial statement preparation policies and
financial department and staff management policies. The company has
various procedures in place to implement such polices. Our Finance
Department reviews our management accounts based on such

procedures.

Information System Risk Management. The Company implemented
various internal procedures and control measures to ensure that user
data is protected and that leakage and loss of such data is avoided. Such
procedures include (i) our user data protection procedures, based on
which we implement and review our data center and back-up systems;
(i) internal control procedures which aim to mitigate the risks involved
in the management of our day-to-day operation data and information;
and (iii) our system development and change management policy in

order to mitigate the risks of unauthorized system changes.
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Human Resources Risk Management. The Company provides regular
and specialized training tailored to the needs of our employees
in different departments, and to explain our internal rules and
guidelines regarding best commercial practices, work ethics, anti-fraud
mechanisms, negligence and corruption. The Company has in place
an anti-corruption policy to safeguard against any corruption within
our Group. Also, the Company makes our internal channel available
to all our staff to report any corruption, and our staff can also make
anonymous reports to our internal audit department. Our internal audit
department is responsible for investigating the reported incidents and

taking appropriate measures.

Investment Risk Management. The Company formulates an annual
investment plan according to our business strategies and input from
various business departments. Our strategic investment department is
responsible for investment project sourcing, screening, execution and

post-investment risk management.

Information Risk Management. The Company has established robust
internal information control measures so as to mitigate the risk of
false, inaccurate and incomplete information provided by the TSP to
us. At the same time, our internal team is tasked to ensure that our
users benefit from authentic and meaningful information, including (i)
screening accommodation related information from accommodation
suppliers; (i) following user feedback closely and removing false
or misleading reviews; and (iii) removing misleading and overly

exaggerated descriptions of accommodation.

Inventory Risk Management. There is a comprehensive set of inventory
risk management rules and policies so as to mitigate the inventory
risk arising from non-refundable prepurchased room nights to the
accommodation suppliers. The Company regularly run tests and
analyses on whether specific sale targets of various sales agreement
have been fulfilled, and the underlying causes of unfulfilled sales targets.
Corresponding tailored solutions are implemented, such as adjusting
the sales price, increasing our sales and marketing efforts, and we

closely assess the effectiveness of such measures.
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With respect to internal control, the Group has chosen and adopted the
internal control framework issued by COSO, established an internal control
system and mechanism over financial, operational and compliance controls
and has conducted continuing review and evaluation of the internal control
system of the Group to ensure the timeliness, accuracy and completeness
of all information reported. Our internal audit team works closely with our
business units to (i) perform risk assessments and advise on risk management
strategies; and (i) improve business efficiency and monitor internal control

effectiveness. The main features of the internal control systems are as follows:

® The Group has established a mechanism for remediating internal
control deficiency under which the person in charge of each unit is
assigned with clear responsibilities relating to remediating internal

control deficiency of the unit.

® The Group has placed strong emphasis on handling inside information
with the information disclosure management mechanism in place
regulating both the management and disclosure of the Company’s

inside information.

® The Group established an open channel to handle and discuss internal
and external whistle-blowing regarding financial, internal control and
fraud, to ensure that every accusation receives sufficient attention.
Significant internal control deficiencies or accusations will be reported

directly to the Audit Committee.

® Qurin-house legal department implements various internal procedures
5o as to ensure that our business operations comply with relevant laws

and regulations.
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The management has evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of
its internal control regarding the financial report as of December 31, 2018,
and did not identify any material weakness as a result of the evaluation, and
were not aware of any areas of concern that would have a material impact
on the Company's financial position or results of operations, and considered
the risk management and internal control systems to be generally adequate
and effective, including with respect to the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions. On the basis of
such evaluation, the Board considers that as of December 31, 2018, internal

control of the Group in relation to financial reporting was effective.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group are
designed to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance

against material misstatement or loss.

For details of the nature and extent of the principal risks faced by the Group,
please refer to the section headed “e. Principal Risk and Uncertainties” in the

Directors’ Report of this annual report.

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company considers that effective communication with the Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable the Shareholders and investors to

make the best investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company are expected to provide a forum for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The chairman of
the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, and the Nomination Committee and, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees will be available to answer questions
at the general meetings. The chairman of a meeting will provide the detailed
procedures for conducting a poll and answer any questions from the

Shareholders on voting by poll.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website at
www.tcelir.com, where information and updates on the Company's business
developments and operations, financial information, corporate governance

practices and other information are available for public access.

Amendments of the Articles of Association

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the third amended articles of
association of the Company was conditionally adopted by the Company
to be effective since the Listing Date. Since the Listing Date, no change has

been made to the Articles of Association.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at general meetings on each substantial issue, including
the re-election of individual Directors. Meanwhile, the procedures for the
Shareholders to (i) convene an extraordinary general meeting; (ii) direct their
enquiries to the Board; and (jii) put forward proposals at general meetings

are available.

In accordance with Article 66(1) of the Articles of Association, all resolutions
put forward at a general meeting will be taken by poll save that the chairman
may, in good faith, allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter as prescribed under the Listing Rules to be voted on by

a show of hands.

In addition, the poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company

and the Stock Exchange after the relevant general meeting.
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the

Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

According to Article 59 of the Articles of Association, any extraordinary
general meeting shall be called by not less than 14 clear days’ notice
and not less than 10 clear business days in writing. Subject to the
requirement under the Listing Rules, the notice shall specify the
time and place of the meeting and particulars of resolutions to be
considered at the meeting and, in case of special business, the general
nature of the business to be considered at the meeting. Notice of every
general meeting shall be given to all Shareholders other than to such
Shareholders as, under the provisions of these Articles or the terms of
issue of the shares they hold, are not entitled to receive such notices
from the Company, to all persons entitled to a share in consequence of
the death or bankruptcy or winding-up of a Shareholder and to each of
the Directors and the Auditors.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There is no single provision in the Articles of Association or the Cayman
Islands Companies Law for the Shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings. The Shareholders who wish to propose a resolution
may request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance

with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.
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3. Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
the Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The

Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries, concerns or requests to the
Company at 31/F., Tower 2, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway

Bay, Hong Kong.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
The information of the Shareholders may be disclosed as required by

law.

Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering

For details, please refer to the section headed “Use of Proceeds from Global

Offering"” in the Directors’ Report of this annual report.

. Joint Company Secretaries

Ms. Leung Suet Wing (“Ms. Leung”) of TMF Hong Kong Limited, an external
service provider, and Ms. Ma Li ("Ms. Ma"), have been engaged by the

Company as joint company secretaries effective on May 31, 2018.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, Ms. Leung and Ms. Ma have
undertaken over 15 hours of professional training to update their skill and

knowledge.
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N. Primary Corporate Contact Person

Ms. Ma, the joint company secretary, is the primary corporate contact person

of the joint company secretary, Ms. Leung.

O. Going Concern

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximizing the return to the

Shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s liability to continue as a going

concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited (the

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 128 to 283, which

comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018;

the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then

ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended,;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary

of significant accounting policies.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd., 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
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Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
("ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate

to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
("IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
Revenue recognition

Business combination

EMNER

BFIRA - ZFFEAMBRRDRBEKERY %
BEEADN(KBERMBRELAD D EEMHE
T BEEER-_ZT-NFT+_A=+—
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PR EREZ SEE -
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Key Audit Matter
HEFAER

Revenue recognition

WARER

Refer to Note 2.20 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
FLHRA M IEWERMEE220 &5 -

The Group's revenue primarily derives from providing
accommodation reservation services and transportation ticketing
services, amounting to RMB1,830 million and RMB3,233 million,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2018. Commissions
from accommodation reservation services are recognized when
the reservations placed by users through the Group become non-
cancellable. Commissions from transportation ticketing services
are recognized upon the issuance of tickets or travel insurance net
of estimated cancellations.
BEEEHE_T—\F+_A=1t—BULFENKRAZER
BiRHETEERE R BEERESHIA/ARE 18308
BLRARK33EET - ERFEBE BESEFEINE
BERATAIRER - EEREITREASME TAER - B
SBIRB AR HRSIREREIRR (OB A ETEUE ) B T
VATERR

We identified the Group's revenue recognition as a key audit
matter as we spent significant audit efforts in this area due to
numerous volume of transactions and the operational data
processed by self-developed complex information technology (“IT")
systems and transferred to the accounting records.

B EEENRABRRRSBRETEE AR &5
ERXS5EERAEBEIERB EMBENERERRMIT)
R RBEYEBI ettt RAELERET T RER
S BEME SEENRARRE RBERRETEE-
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWETNAEEERENSE

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition included:

BASRWARERBENETRTEHR

e Understood, evaluated and tested management's process and
controls over revenue recognition of major revenue streams;

o TR FHAEKAIGEREH E ZWABR R ATERK
AR A

® Understood, evaluated and tested management'’s key IT
general controls of important IT systems related to major
revenue streams;

o TH FERAFNEEEHTIEWABRIEENERT
R RS T AR BT

® Understood, evaluated and tested management'’s key IT
automated controls and interface between important IT
systems and those system generated reports used by the
Group for its revenue recognition;

s T FERAREEENEETEBHENMRERITR
i BB HEBARRHAARARERRE 2 HE
RizFF

® Tested on sampling basis the sales transactions by examining
relevant supporting documents, including the sales order,
commission statement from customers and cash receipts;

s BBMTHBAXHUXH(BREHEETE TEPHNAS
YR B MGG ) HIHE R ZETHEAIH

®* Examined the supporting documents for journal entries
relevant to revenue recognition which met specified risk-
based criteria;

o ENNERTERBRZENEKABBEEOSDE
FEES TSI C

Based on the result of the work performed, we did not identify any
significant exception in relation to revenue recognition.
BRI TENER - RMEABRBRABIREHENE
ABIIMER °
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Key Audit Matter
BEBFNER

Business combination

EBas

Refer to Note 33 and 3(c) “Business combination” to the

consolidated financial statements.

A2 HEE MR RRM 33 R3O EBEH -

On March 9, 2018, the Group consummated the acquisition (the
“Acquisition”) of Tongcheng Online Business by issuing 96,721,818
ordinary shares (the “Newly Issued Shares”) of the Company as the
consideration. The fair value of the consideration was determined
by valuation of the Newly Issued Shares as at the date of the
Acquisition.

R-ZZE-/\F=ZANA - EEEBEBEET67218180k &
REIEBR(THETRG DIERRE - TRERZR LXK
WUEE(TWEESIE]) - RKBBRTRE R - ZRENAAEE
B ETROPWBEIRE BNGEEMERT -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETNAEERRENSER

The audit work we performed in relation to business combination

included:

BT REB A A BB TIERRE -

We assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
external valuation experts used by management.

B E R BB BN EERNBER N EXFRE
KB -

We reviewed the term sheet and restructuring agreement of the
business combination and based on the contract terms entered,
assessed management's identification of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed.

BMEHER S SRR R ER TR - YRR LS
DG ML ER YT B S E N ATAE B ERNHER -

We interviewed management of the Company and Tongcheng
Network to understand the closing conditions of the agreement
and challenged the substances of valuation results to assess if the
identified intangible assets had a valid commercial rationale.
HM@EE BEARKRFAEBENEEENIH  ATRD
BHIR G - WHABERNBEEANDREEL - U
BB EERGAEAENEEEE -



Key Audit Matter
HEFAER

Business combination

EBEH

Management engaged external valuation experts to assist in
determining the fair values of the Newly Issued Shares and the
identifiable assets acquired (including tangible and intangible
assets) and liabilities assumed in Tongcheng Online Business as at
the date of the Acquisition. Significant judgement was involved
in forecast the future operating performance of the acquired
businesses, including the use of key valuation assumptions such
as royalty rate for brand name, supplier turnover rate, revenue
growth rate, gross margin rate and discount rates. As a result of
these valuations, goodwill of RMB3,609 million, trade name of
RMB1,762 million, supplier relationship of RMB1,756 million and
other intangible assets of RMB865 million, were recognised in the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
EREREBIINSTHEERBAEERN KRB EIEE B %
Tty - BRRER EEXBKRBNAENEE(BEBET &
BVEE)MTARNBENAAEBE - BAKEBERLR
RECERB P REBARAE - BREEABRAEERR - fl0E
HHENER HEFEEE  WABRE - FHX KL
BE o ERZEME B &% HERERREMERY
BENRASAREIOBEET  ARB1762AET - AR
i BB T RARKESSEET BN ESEENERE
BATE MR P HER o

We focused on this area because of the significance of the goodwill
and intangible assets recognised from the business combination,
and the significant judgements involved in the valuations.
HRERAHPHRIANEENETLEENEREARMEERM
BREERAE - MEME TN ZE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWETNAEEERENSE

We involved our valuation experts in assessing management’s
determination of fair values of the Newly Issued Shares and the
identified intangible assets acquired. Specifically, our procedures
included:

BMEEMOTEER —REEEEETENNETRGO AR
WERERNNETVEENA A BEETE - AR
HFIWRFBE

® assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology

by reference to market practices;

o BBSEMSEAIFLMEETENEE L

® assessing the key assumptions and other key input data,
including royalty rate for brand name, supplier turnover rate,
revenue growth rate and gross margin rate, by comparing
with the historical operating results and future operating
plans of the acquired businesses, taking into consideration of
economic and industry forecasts;

o EBHEWEEBHNELRLEEENARRLEAEETY
B WE B R R RATETRBIFT kB R 3% & E A 7
RaANE(BRBATHEMNRE  HEFEHEX - WA
BRRRENXK)

® assessing the discount rates by reference to external data,
including the risk factor of comparable companies and market
risk premium;

o Z2EHNTREE  BEUBLBARNEREEZEETSE
om B R R BRI X

® testing the mathematical accuracy of the valuation
computation.

o RIFHEBBFE LR -

Based on the results of the work performed, we found the key
assumptions applied by management in relation to the goodwill
and intangible assets recognised from the business combination
to be supportable.
ERTIENER - BB REREERER A HHERD
P N & E TR AT B R R T SRR ©
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other

than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We

have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment

and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

® |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

®  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's

internal control.

® Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the

directors.
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® Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group

to cease to continue as a going concern.

® FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Jack Li.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 19 March 2019
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mEEAR

For the year ended December 31,2018 E#{Z =%

—NF+ZA=+—RILFE

Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Note RMB’ 000 RMB'000
BEE AR¥ET T ARBTT
Revenue PN 5 5,255,639 2,518,591
Cost of revenue SHEMKAR 6 (1,600,513) (811,781)
Gross profit EF 3,655,126 1,706,810
Service development expenses AR5 FAEE R 6 (1,349,935) (522,018)
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHEMAX 6 (1,841,314) (1,094,977)
Administrative expenses THAX 6 (934,925) (97,379)
Fair value changes on investments measured RAREEEBEEEFA
at fair value through profit or loss BRI E QAR EBEES 17(d) 78,572 863
Other income H A 9 33,396 12,805
Other gains, net E s 58 10 47,888 22,610
Operating (loss)/profit K (EmR) RF (311,192) 28,714
Finance income B AU 11 12,888 10,145
Finance costs B & 11 (3,336) (163)
Fair value change on redeemable EAnBEAEEEZSFA
convertible preferred shares measured 825 /Y 7] FE [0 A] B (B SR IR
at fair value through profit or loss NAEEE 25 907,734 97,576
Share of results of associates i NI E S 15 (4,568) (2,251)
Profit before income tax KR A48 B AT A 601,526 134,021
Income tax (expense)/credit FrE® (Fx), e 12 (66,987) 60,356
Profit for the year FREF 534,539 194,377
Profit attributable to: AT B IR ¢
— Equity holders of the Company —AREEEFEA 529,957 195,575
— Non-controlling interests —FEIE R 4,582 (1,198)

534,539 194,377
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE =T —N\F+=_A=+—HItFE

Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2018 2017
—E—N\&E —T—+F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B E ARBTFT ARETT
Earnings/(loss) per share BREF(FHE)
(expressed in RMB per share): (LB ARESIR) : 13
- Basic — &R 0.33 0.75
- Diluted —#5E (0.22) 0.11
The notes on page 138 to 283 are an integral part of these consolidated financial £ 138 F 283 HW M B ZF iR 6 M MK

statements. —Z5
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For the year ended December 31,2018 #HE=—T— \F+-A=+—HItFE

Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Note RMB’ 000 RMB'000
Pt ARBT T ARBTT
Profit for the year F R F 534,539 194,377
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hih2mEBA(EE)
Items that may be subsequently HEnseE# DM
reclassified to profit or loss: BEmMIEE -
~ Currency translation differences —EmEERE (15,917) —
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T @B D EEEFMNIER :
— Fair value change relating to —ARHEERBRES
preferred shares due to own credit risk WEERA R BEZ S 25 932 (46,592)
Other comprehensive loss FREMEEEE -
for the year, net of tax R IE (14,985) (46,592)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEBALLE 519,554 147,785
Total comprehensive income attributableto: AT & EE(EZEURALEE :
— Equity holders of the Company —AREEEFEA 514,972 148,983
- Non-controlling interests — FEIE IR S 4,582 (1,198)
519,554 147,785
The notes on page 138 to 283 are an integral part of these consolidated financial 138 E 283 BRI B L SR e M B MR

statements.
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e BRI AR

As of December 31,2018 R=ZE—N\F+=-_A=+—8H
As of December 31,
RtTZA=+—HALEE
2018 2017
—EB-N\F —ZE—+tF
Note RMB’ 000 RMB'000
P ARBT T ARBTT
ASSETS &E
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment YEE -~ BB R 14 934,361 441,722
Investments accounted for HAEREANRNRE
using the equity method 15 48,731 37,618
Investments measured at fair value EAnBEAEEHZSH
through profit or loss FTABZEMIEE 17 52,442 25,239
Land use right TR R 18 16,038 —
Intangible assets EmEEE 19 7,961,640 308,831
Deferred income tax assets BEEFRSHEE 20 249,781 61,877
Prepayment and other receivables TE A FRIE K H b FE UL FR IR 21 31,485 49172
9,294,478 924,459
Current assets RENEE
Trade receivables B 5 WA 22 857,326 539,217
Prepayment and other receivables TE A FRIE K Ho A UL R IE 21 523,470 195,938
Short-term investments measured REHR ARG T E MR IR E
at amortized cost 17 261,086 =
Short-term investments measured RAREEE8EEE)
at fair value through profit or loss STABENEIRE 17 2,570,170 236,107
Restricted cash ZREIRE 23 140,930 170,541
Cash and cash equivalents Re MREEZEEY 23 3,143,883 701,748
7,496,865 1,843,551
Total assets EERE 16,791,343 2,768,010
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As of December 31,2018 R=E—N\E+=-_A=+—8

As of December 31,
R+—B=+—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Note RMB’ 000 RMB'000
Pt ARBT T ARBTT
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable to ERTERBFEA
equity holders of the Company BEEARFEE
Share capital (%N 29 7,156 99
Share premium R =B 29 17,311,220 1,514,310
Treasury stock ek 29 (15) (15)
Other reserves H At 30 (2,722,834) (3270,057)
Accumulated losses REtEBE (3,060,074) (3,581,152)
11,535,453 (5,336,815)
Non-controlling interests IR R (7,642) 4,881
Total equity A 11,527,811 (5,331,934)
LIABILITIES =Rt
Non-current liabilities FERENEE
Borrowings BR 24 152,613 172,305
Deferred income tax liabilities BLEMEHAE 20 570,054 201
Redeemable convertible preferred shares A fE o] ] BB S AR 25 — 6,347,647
Other payables and accruals H fth e FRIE K B EHE A 27 6,674 1,839
729,341 6,521,992
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

=
ma

As of December 31,2018 R =ZE—N\F+=-A=+—8H

BRI R

As of December 31,
R+—B=+—HLEE

2018 2017

—EB-N\F —ZE—+tF

Note RMB’ 000 RMB'000

P AR¥T T ARBTT

Current liabilities REBAE

Borrowings &3k 24 19,692 19,692

Trade payables B ZENFIE 26 2,569,092 1,114,917

Other payables and accruals Hih e IBE R EFHE A 27 1,799,749 437,358

Contract liabilities aHa‘E 28 15,084 —

Current income taxes liabilities BVEAFTIS TR B & 130,574 5,985

4,534,191 1,577,952

Total liabilities BERE 5,263,532 8,099,944

Total equity and liabilities Bk AEARE 16,791,343 2,768,010
The notes on page 138 to 283 are an integral part of these consolidated financial 138 E 283 BBk s SR & M B &R

statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 128 to 283 were approved by the

Board of Directors on March 19, 2019 and were signed on its behalf:

Wu Zhixiang

REH
Director

EZE

—#5 -

F128HE B HENGRAEVBHRRER 2 — N1
FZAthBRESeMLALTARUATALE

E—

Ma Heping
Director

EZE
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Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

=N 7/
* /\numEjJ

n‘/T\

For the year ended December 31,2018 E#{Z =%

EREERERERAE

—NF+ZA=+—RILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KAFRERBAEL
Non-
Share Share  Treasury Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium stock reserves losses  Sub-total interests equity
B BRGEE ERRG  HtRE  RHER Nt OFERER  BREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARETR ARETR ARBTRT ARMTR AR%TR ARETR ARET:R
As of January 1,2018 RZE-NE-A-H 9 1514310 (15 (3,270,057)  (3,581,152)  (5,336,815) 4881  (5331,934)
Comprehensive income 2EKA
Profitfor the year ERE - - - — 59957 529,957 4582 534539
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Efp2EUA/ (FB)
Credit risk for preferred share BEBEOESER - - - 932 - 932 - 932
Reclassification of the accumulated fairvalue ~ BERNEERBREHH
change of the Preferred Shares attributable BERZGAAEE
to changes in credit risk to accumulated p EIE Yy
losses upon conversion (Note 25) B ZFTER (3 25) - - - 8,879 (8879) - - -
Currency translation differences ERHEER - = = (15917) - (15917) - (15917)
Total comprehensive income 2ARALE = - — (6,106) 521,078 514,972 4,582 519,554
Transactions with owners EREANRS
Share-based compensations (Note 8) IR BERENHE (Hits) - - — 51091 — 51091 — 572,191
Issuance of ordinary shares in connection BMEERnEER
with the Acquisition (Note 29(b) (B3 2900) 307 8,689,960 - - — 8,690,267 — 8,690,267
Issuance of ordinary shares to Tencent (Note 29(c)) =R 317 AR (FitzE 29(0) 11 303,176 - - — 303,187 — 303,187
Purchase of non-controlling interest (Note 32) B B FHRIRIER (K3 32) - - - (18,123) - (18123)  (18105)  (36,228)
Conversion of the preferred shares ErhrEnstaR
to ordinary shares (Note 25) (FzE25) 192 5438789 - - — 5438981 — 5438981
Capitalization issue (Note 29) BME (M) 5973 (5973) - - - - - -
Issuance of ordinary shares in connection sEEMETERR (M 29)
with the Listing (Note 29) 574 1,436,609 = = — 1437183 — 1437183
Share issuance costs (Note 29) RIGBIRA(MEE29) - (65,651) - - - (65,651) - (65,651)
Contributions from minority shareholders DEURETE — - — - — - 1,000 1,000
Purchase of vested Equity Awards RECHERARED = = = (739) - (739) - (739)
Total transactions with owners ERRERRANE
recognized directly in equity BEANRSAH 7,057 15796910 - 553319 — 16,357,296 (17,105) 16,340,191
As of December 31,2018 R=B-NF+=A=1-A 7156 17,311,220 (15  (2,722,834)  (3,060,074) 11,535,453 (7,642) 11,527,811
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAREEHE
For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

AATHERSE AR
Non-
Share Share Treasury Other  Accumulated controling Total
capital premium stock reserves losses Sub-total interests equity

kx BhEE EhRD  EtEE  2HER it EREE  ESAE
RVBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMB00
ARETL ARETT ARETL ARBTRL ARBTL ARETR ARETR ARMTR

As of January 1,2017 RZE-tF-A-H 84 1514310 = (3275866)  (3776727)  (5538199) 6,079 (5532,120)
Comprehensive income 2ERA
Profit{loss)for the year EREFH/(BR) - — - — 195,575 195,575 (1198) 194377
Other comprehensive loss At 2EEE
Changes in fair value of the preferred BERALEEES-

shares - attributable to it credit risk BRRECERR = = = (46,592) - #659) - #659)
Total comprehensive income 2ARALE - - (46592) 195,575 148983 (1,198) 147,785
Transactions with owners EREANRS
Share-based compensations (Note 8) MR RERGME (His) = - - 56,783 - 56,783 - 56,783
Issuance of RSUs (Note 8) BRRAIRN B (Te) 15 - (15) - - - -
Purchase of vested Equity Awards (Note 8) BECBEERRE (MTe) = = = (4382) = (4382) = (4382)
Total transactions with ownersrecognized B RER S

directly in equity BEANRSAH 15 — (15) 52401 - 52401 - 52401
As of December 31,2017 RZB-tE+-A=1-H 9 1514310 (15 (3270057)  (3581,152)  (5336819) 4881 (5331,934)
The notes on page 138 to 283 are an integral part of these consolidated financial FI138E 2B AN ZESEASMBREN

statements.
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
an\ Eﬁ:ﬁ/)lb%’%‘%

For the year ended December 31,2018 #HE=—T— \F+-A=+—HItFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-HA=+—BHLEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB'000
Pt ARBT T ARBTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHRMBEERNETE
Cash generated from operations BEMBES 34 2,506,100 715,021
Interest received BHFILE 14,895 4310
Income tax (paid)/refund (B BRATER (160,042) 563
Net cash flows generated from RETHRBHRENETHE
operating activities 2,360,953 719,894
Cash flows from investing activities REZEARESRETE
Payments for investments accounted for BERAEREARNIRE
using the equity method (9,792) —
Payments for investments measured at fair BERAABEFEEEZH
value through profit or loss FFAE BB EAIRE (22,708) —
Purchases of property, plant and equipment HEYXE  BENZE (337,491) (392,134)
Purchases of intangible assets HEETEE (40) —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEYE - BER&#ER
and equipment and intangible assets B EEFTSRIR 34(a) 7,485 62
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed HEFRRIAEHRIE
(HFEHERSE) (7,693) —
Payment for purchase of non-controlling interests & & JE{2 | #2258 FUB (20,688) —
Proceeds from disposal of long-term HERAREBENE
investments measured at fair value BHBE ABZED
through profit or loss KA EFTIS R — 20,000
Decrease/(Increase) in restricted cash SZIRHIIR SR, (32 hn) 40,678 (16,935)
Payments for purchases of short-term investments /88 & 58 i & 3% (10,204,640) (1,673,388)
Proceeds from redemption of 52 BRI% & BE Bl TS K08
short-term investments 8,213,211 1,520,440
Cash acquired from business combination EBEHBES 33 941,181 —
Net cash flows used in investing activities RETHRESRETH (1,400,497) (541,955)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
SEHESRER

For the year ended December 31,2018 HE =T —N\F+=_A=+—HItFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-HA=+—BHLEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\& —E—tF
Note RMB’ 000 RMB'000
Pt AR¥T T ARBTT
Cash from financing activities RESERBER
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary Mg IT SR Hxﬁﬁ?g'f?ﬁ(
shares to Tencent 29(0) 190,088 =
Purchase of vested el.ong Equity Awards EECREEEERRE (739) (4,382)
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITE KPS RIE — 196,920
Repayments of bank borrowings EERITER (30,038) (6,663)
Proceeds from minority shareholder PERS G SO 2,300 =
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary T ARBITEBRERIE
shares in connection with the Listing 29 1,437,183 =
Interest income on the Listing LIHREZRSFEWHA
subscription deposits 21
Payment of share issuance cost in ARG FEITHRARNK
connection with the Listing (117,954) =
Net cash flows generated from RMETBRERERETHE
financing activities 1,480,861 185,875
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ReRBSEEYILINFER 2,441,317 363,314
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year i?ﬂﬁ%&fﬁ/\ggw 23 701,748 339,299
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash ExFEHHRE RAS
and cash equivalents #FWE’] - 818 (1,365)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of theyear FAREERBEELZEY 23 3,143,883 701,748
The notes on page 138 to 283 are an integral part of these consolidated financial £ 1382283 BB Z TG VB MEN
statements. —&5H e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

2N =
For the ye

ar ended December 31,2018 HE—T— N\F+_-_A=+—HIFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION, HISTORY OF THE
GROUP, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND BASIS OF
PRESENTATION

1.1

1.2

General information

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited (the “Company”, formerly known
as China E-Dragon Holdings Limited) is an exempted company with
limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on
January 14, 2016.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since November 26, 2018 (the “Listing").

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the provision of travel related services, including accommodation
reservation services, transportation ticketing services, and online
advertising services (the “Listing Business”) in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC").

The Financial Information is presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), unless

otherwise stated.

History of the Group, material acquisitions and group
structure

History of the Group

elong Inc. (“eLong”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “eLong Group”)
was the group of companies operating the Listing Business since its
incorporation. Prior to May 31, 2016, the ordinary shares of eLong were
listed and traded on NASDAQ Global Select Market ("NASDAQ") in the
form of American Depositary Shares ("ADS"). eLong had a dual-class
share structure with each ordinary share entitled to one vote and each

high-vote ordinary share entitled to fifteen votes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e WIS ERR IR

For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION, HISTORY OF THE
GROUP, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND BASIS OF
PRESENTATION (continued)

1.2 History of the Group, material acquisitions and group
structure (continued)

History of the Group (continued)

elLong used to be controlled by Expedia, Inc. (“Expedia”) with the
majority ownership and voting rights of eLong held by Expedia. Another
major shareholder of eLong at the time was TCH Sapphire Limited, a
company wholly owned by Tencent Holdings Limited (“Tencent”). On
May 22, 2015, Expedia sold all of its equity interest in eLong to several
investors, including C-Travel International Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Ctrip.com International Ltd. ("Ctrip”), Keystone Lodging
Holdings Limited (“Keystone”), Plateno Group Limited (“Plateno”), and
Luxuriant Holdings Limited (“Luxuriant”) (the “Expedia Transaction”).
In connection with the Expedia Transaction, the board of directors
and certain management of eLong were changed. After the Expedia
Transaction, eLong no longer has any controlling shareholder and its
substantial shareholders include Ctrip and Tencent. On August 17, 2015,
Keystone and Plateno transferred their respective shareholding in eLong

to Ocean Imagination L.P. (“Ocean Imagination”).

1. —RER - AEEEE - EX
WiER 2522 (E)

12FAKEEL - EXWBREEE
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72 TCH Sapphire Limited(— X B & &1
ERERAB(EAD2EHRENRD
) - R-ZZE—HREFRA=-+=8H"
Expedia i AR BN 2 HREHE T
ETESE + BFE CTravel International
Limited(Ctrip.com International Limited
((BEDHN—HEE2EFRAA)
Keystone Lodging Holdings Limited
([Keystone ) K Plateno Group Limited
(IPlateno]) KX Luxuriant Holdings
Limited ([ Luxuriant]) ([Expedia &
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EERETERREEMHEL ° Expedia
RPp2& BETBERTMWERR
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RZZT—RF/)/\A T+ - Keystone
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

For the year ended December 31,2018 #E =T — \F+=A=+—HItFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION, HISTORY OF THE

GROUP, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND BASIS OF

PRESENTATION (continued)

1.2 History of the Group, material acquisitions and group

structure (continued)
History of the Group (continued)

On May 31, 2016, eLong consummated a restructuring pursuant to
which eLong was acquired by the Company, with all of the then
existing ordinary shares of eLong being exchanged with an equivalent
number of ordinary shares or convertible and redeemable preferred
shares (the “Preferred Shares”) of the Company (the “Restructuring”). In
conjunction with the Restructuring, Tencent, Ocean Imagination and
certain management members (collectively the “Buyers”) purchased
all the ordinary shares of eLong that were not owned by Ctrip,
Luxuriant and the Buyers. These ordinary shares purchased by the
Buyers were exchanged to the same number of the Preferred Shares
of the Company. Thereafter, the ADSs of eLong ceased to be listed
on NASDAQ and eLong became a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company.

On March 27, 2018, the Company changed its name to Tongcheng-
Elong Holdings Limited.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P RRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION, HISTORY OF THE
GROUP, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND BASIS OF
PRESENTATION (continued)

1.2 History of the Group, material acquisitions and group
structure (continued)

Material acquisitions

On December 28, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with
Tongcheng Network Technology Limited (“Tongcheng Network”) and
its shareholders whereby the Company acquired Tongcheng Network's
Online Travel Agency Business (“Tongcheng Online Business”) by
entering into a series of contractual arrangements with Tongcheng
Network and its then shareholders, and the consideration was satisfied
by issuing the Company’s 96,721,818 ordinary shares to the then
shareholders of Tongcheng Network (the “Acquisition”). In conjunction
with the Acquisition, Tencent, through one of its wholly owned
subsidiaries, subscribed additional ordinary shares of the Company at
a cash consideration of approximately US$30 million (Note 29(c)). The
Acquisition was completed on March 9, 2018 and thereafter, Tongcheng
Network became a company controlled by the Company under the
contractual arrangements as further described below. The Acquisition
was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting when it
was consummated, thus the consolidated financial statements of the
Group has consolidated the financial information of Tongcheng Online
Business from the date of the Acquisition, March 9, 2018 (Note 33).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION, HISTORY OF THE

GROUP, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND BASIS OF

PRESENTATION (continued)

1.3 Basis of presentation

Immediately prior to and after the Expedia Transaction and the
Restructuring, the Listing Business was carried out by eLong Group. The
Expedia Transaction, which was the transaction between shareholders
of eLong, did not change the business substance of the Listing Business.
Pursuant to the Restructuring, the Listing Business were effectively
controlled by the Company through its acquisition of the entire
equity interest in eLong. The Company had not been involved in any
business prior to the Restructuring and its operations did not meet
the definition of a business. Therefore, the Restructuring was merely a
recapitalization of the Listing Business and did not change the business
substance, management or controlling shareholders of the Listing
Business. Accordingly, the Group resulting from the Expedia Transaction
and the Restructuring is regarded as a continuation of the Listing
Business conducted by eLong Group. For the purpose of this report,
the consolidated financial statements of the Group has been prepared
and presented using the carrying amounts of the Listing Business as
recorded in the consolidated financial statements of eLong throughout

the years presented.

For companies acquired from or disposed of to a third party, including
those involved in the Acquisition, their financial information is included
in or excluded from the consolidated financial statements of the Group

from the respective dates of the acquisitions or disposals.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains/losses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated on

consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P RRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=Z— \F+=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have

been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group has been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS")
issued by International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB"). In preparing
the consolidated financial statements, the Group has early adopted IFRS
9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9") and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (“IFRS 15"), which were effective for financial years
commencing on or after January 1, 2018, and applied consistently

throughout the years presented.

Except for IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 which have been early adopted by the
Group, all other effective standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations, which are mandatory for the financial year beginning
on January 1, 2018, are applied to the Group from the year ended
December 31, 2018. The Company assess the net impact on the

financial performance of the Group is limited.

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial
assets and financial liabilities (including redeemable convertible

preferred shares) which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are

disclosed in Note 3 below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FREMBHRRM T
For the year ended December 31,2018 H#E—ZT— \FE+=-_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(a) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The following new standards, amendments and interpretations
to existing standards, which are relevant to the Group have been

issued and are effective for further reporting periods and have not

2 EXRETBEREE)

2.1 MREE(H)
(@) [FRIRAAHIFTZER R 2 FE

ATEAREREBHOFTER - ]
BEREE] RREC /ML
— S RE M AR EREREE R

been early adopted by the Group. BHA -

Effective for

annual periods
beginning on or after
RUTESH 2%

B 16 BY 5 B B R AR

Amendments to IAS 19 (Note (i)) Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement January 1,2019

B &5 RIS 1958 (IS FTA) (BT =E () FTEMERT - MERAER —ZE-hF—H—H

Amendments to IFRS 9 (Note (i)) Prepayment features with negative compensation January 1,2019

I A% B 75 s o HE R B8 9 5 (I RTAR) EA B ENRESEE —ZT-NF—-A—H
(FHEE ()

IFRIC 23 (Note (i) Uncertainty over income tax treatments January 1,2019
BRI R EE B SR sE 2357 PRS BRI EE 1% —ZE-hF—-H—H
(=)

IFRS 16 (Note (ii) Leases January 1,2019

I A B 75 e o 2E R 88 16 5% (B & (i) HE —NWF—H—H

Annual improvement 2015-2017 Business combination, Joint arrangements, January 1,2019
cycle relating to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, Income taxes and Borrowing costs
IAS 12 and IAS 23 (Note (i)
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Amendments to IAS 28 (Note (i) Long-term interest in associate or joint ventures January 1,2019
B & 5t AR RIS 28 55 (& RTAR) (BREE (1) REFE QA A &P ENRAER —ZT—hF—A—H

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or contribution of assets between an investor To be determined
(Amendments) (Note (i) and its associate or joint venture
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P RRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 HE =T —N\F+=_A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(continued)

Note:

(i)  The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact
of these new or revised standards, and amendments. According to
the preliminary assessment made by the directors (“Directors”), no
significant impact on the financial performance and positions of the
Group is expected when they become effective.

(i) IFRS 16, “Leases’, address the definition of a lease, recognition and
measurement of leased and established principles for reporting useful
information to users of financial statements about the leasing activities
of both lessees and lessors. A key change arising from IFRS 16 is that
almost all operating leases will be accounted for in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position for lessees. The accounting for lessors
will not significantly change.

The Group is a lessee of certain office spaces which are currently
classified as operating leases. The Group's current accounting policy
for such leases, as set out in Note 2.24, is to record the rental expenses
in profit or loss when such expenses were incurred, with the related
operating lease commitments being separately disclosed (Note 37).
IFRS 16 provides new provisions for the accounting treatment of
leases which no longer allows lessees to recognize the leases outside
of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Instead, all non-
current leases should be recognized in the form of assets (for the right
of use) and financial liabilities (for the payment obligations) in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Short-term leases of less
than twelve months and leases of low-value assets are exempt from
such reporting obligation. The new standard will therefore result in
a derecognition of prepaid operating leases, increase in right-of-use
assets and increase in lease liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position. In the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income, as a result, the annual rental and amortization expenses of
prepaid operating lease under otherwise identical circumstances will
decrease, while depreciation of right-of-use of assets and interest
expense arising from the lease liabilities will increase. The new
standard will impact the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
in terms of total assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(continued)

Note: (continued)

(i)

(continued)

As at December 31, 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of RMB45 million (Note 37). Of these
commitments, approximately RMB32 million relate to short-term
leases which will be recognised on a straight-line basis as expense in
profit or loss.

The Company anticipates that the application of IFRS 16 in 2019 will
result in an increase in financial assets and financial liabilities, however
which is likely to have insignificant impact on the financial position
and financial performance of the Group.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would
be expected to have a material impact on the Group's financial
performance and position.

2.2 Subsidiaries

(a) Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over

which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity

when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns

from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect

those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are

consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the

Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P RRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Consolidation (continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealized gains on

transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealized

losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence

of an impairment of the transferred asset. When necessary,

amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform

with the Group's accounting policies.

@

Subsidiaries controlled through contractual arrangements

The prevailing PRC rules and regulations restrict foreign
ownership of companies that provide internet content, call
center services, travel agency and transportation ticketing
services, which represent the core activities of and services
provided by the Group. As a result of such restrictions, the
Company does not have equity interests in certain of its PRC
operating entities. However, pursuant to a series of contractual
arrangements of the Group with each of Beijing E-dragon
Information Technology Limited (3t = Z 8815 B fif B R
A 7)) ("Beijing E-dragon”), Suzhou Chengyi International
Technology Limited (ER/NF2 AL EHE B R A F]) (‘Suzhou
Chengyi"), Tongcheng Network and their respective equity
holders (“Beijing E-dragon Contractual Arrangement”, “Suzhou
Chengyi Contractual Arrangement”, “Tongcheng Network
Contractual Arrangement”, and collectively, the “Contractual

Arrangements”), which enable the Company to:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FREMBHRRM T
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Consolidation (continued)

(i) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual arrangements

(continued)

® govern the financial and operating policies of Beijing

E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi;

® exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Beijing E-dragon,

Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi;

® receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network
and Suzhou Chengyi, in consideration for the technical
services and software license provided by wholly-owned

subsidiaries of the Company;

* have the irrevocable and exclusive right, at any time
when applicable PRC law permits foreign invested
companies to operate an internet content provision
business, to purchase from the equity holders of
Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou
Chengyi for their respective equity interests in Beijing
E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi.
The exercise price of the option is equal to the actual
paid-in registered capital (or pro rata portion thereof,
as appropriate) unless otherwise specified under PRC
law on the date of exercise. If the transfer price of the
equity interest is greater than the loan amount, the
shareholders are required to immediately return the
proceeds from the transfer price in excess of the loan

amount to the Company; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e KRR
For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEAESHHEEMEE)

POLICIES (continued)
2.2 FATEI(4E)
(a) ZEaAEK (&)

() BBEEKZHIES A F LA
(continued) ()

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Consolidation (continued)

(i) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual arrangements

obtain a pledge over the entire ownership interests
of Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou
Chengyi from their respective equity holders to secure
the payment obligations of Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng
Network and Suzhou Chengyi under the Contractual

Arrangements.

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the
Company has rights to exercise power over Beijing
E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi
and their respective subsidiaries, receive variable returns
from its involvement with Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng
Network and Suzhou Chengyi and their respective
subsidiaries, and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng
Network and Suzhou Chengyi and their respective
subsidiaries. Therefore, the Company is considered to
have the power to control Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng
Network and Suzhou Chengyi and their respective
subsidiaries. Consequently, the Company regards Beijing
E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi
and their respective subsidiaries as structured entities
and consolidates the financial positions and results of
operations of these entities in the consolidated financial

statements of the Group.
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FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Consolidation (continued)

(i) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual arrangements

(continued)
e (continued)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not
be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing
the Group with direct control over Beijing E-dragon,
Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi and their
respective subsidiaries and such uncertainties presented
by the PRC legal system could impede the Group's
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities
of Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou
Chengyi and their respective subsidiaries. The Directors,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that
the Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with
the relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally

binding and enforceable.
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=Z— \F+=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEAESHHEEMEE)

POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (continued) 2.2 FRAT (&)
(a) HEAER (5

(i) Business combination (i) HEE G

(a) Consolidation (continued)

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations except for business combination
under common control. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are

measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or the present
ownership interests' proportionate share in the recognized
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another measurement

basis is required by IFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

AEERBWBESETE A0
SEPAR - HEREEHIAETH
XA GRS - WIEFRBAT
HENKERMEREELR
BfE - WU RS AR
EENBERAEERTHR
- TEBEAERRRARE
ZHELNEMNEEXAEN
RAEE - FIRBR AR E
EREBEFHEENEER
SRBERUKEE BRI FRE
RAEEFE -

AR &R BIR (R R WO BRI
WU FBTT (LRI SE R IR i e o
BRI A R T
BARNERBRERLIINE
TRFEEMBIE T IFE
Ptz - AR AR BESRE
AR AR UE T AT
R EEMRER SR BT ET
B o IR AR H il
PRER D A B B R A B R
FTE - BRIFEIRR B M s 2R
MEAAE A EREGTE o

WRBARRIRN AR EE R S 8H



152

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | FEfR2E5EZERER AT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FREMBHRRM T
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Consolidation (continued)

(i) Business combination (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from

such re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group
is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration
that is a financial asset or liability is recognized in accordance
with IFRS 9 in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent

settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognized and previously held
interest measured is less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognized directly in the statement of profit

or loss.
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For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Consolidation (continued)

(i)

(iv)

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without

change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions
- that is, as transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in
their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of
any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the
carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded
in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling

interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest
in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognized in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial
asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognized in
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income are

reclassified to profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
(b) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries (including structured entities) are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received

and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividends from these investments if the dividends
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividends declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the

investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.3 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence
but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between
20% and 50% of the voting rights.

(a) Investments in associates in the form of ordinary
shares

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting in
accordance with IAS 28. Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recognized at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognize the investor's share of the profit or
loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group's
investments in these associates include goodwill identified on
acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate, any difference
between the cost of the associate and the Group's share of the
net fair value of the associate's identifiable assets and liabilities is

accounted for as goodwill.
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=Z— \F+=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEAESHHEEMEE)
POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Associates (continued) 2.3 Bt AT (4F)

@) UEBBEREAXRBE L AR

(a) Investments in associates in the form of ordinary

shares (continued)

If the ownership interest in an associate in the form of ordinary
shares is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized in
other comprehensive income or loss is reclassified to consolidated

statement of comprehensive income or loss where appropriate.

The Group's share of the associates” post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income or loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements
in other comprehensive income or loss is recognized in other
comprehensive income or loss. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognize further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or

made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investments in the associate are
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes the amount
adjacent to “share of profit of investments accounted for using
equity method” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Associates (continued)

(a) Investments in associates in the form of ordinary
shares (continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are recognized
in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of unrelated investor's interests in the associates. Unrealized
losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income or loss.

(b) Investments in associates in the form of redeemable
convertible preferred shares

Investments in associates in the form of redeemable convertible
preferred shares or ordinary shares with preferential rights shares
are accounted as financial assets measured at fair value through

profit or loss.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker
("CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the Chief Executive Officer, vice presidents and Directors of the

Company that makes strategic decisions.
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For the year ended December 31,2018 E#{Z =%

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The Company’s shares have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since
November 26, 2018 and the Company receives Listing proceeds
and settles various kinds of expenses in either Hong Kong Dollars
("HKD") or United States Dollars (“USD"), thus the Company
determined to change its functional currency from RMB to USD
from December 1, 2018. The Company's primary subsidiaries were
incorporated in the PRC and these subsidiaries considered RMB as
their functional currency. As the major operations of the Group are
within the PRC, the Group determined to present its consolidated

financial statements in RMB (unless otherwise stated).

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies

are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and
liabilities such as instruments held at fair value through profit or

loss are recognized in profit or loss as part of the fair value changes.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of
which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

® assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are

translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

® income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates

of the transactions); and

* allresulting currency translation differences are recognized in

other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings
and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognized in other comprehensive income.
When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of
the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences

are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate. Currency translation

differences arising are recognized in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE =T —N\F+=_A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical costs less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment charge.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful

lives, as follows:

Building 20 to 50 years
Software 3to 10 years
[T equipment 2 to 5 years

Leasehold improvements Estimated useful
lives or remaining
lease terms,
whichever

is shorter

Furniture, fixtures and motor vehicle 410 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
with carrying amount and are recognized in “Other gains/(losses), net”

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income or loss.

Construction in progress represents office building and leasehold
improvements under construction. Construction in progress is stated at

cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Cost includes the costs of construction and acquisition, and capitalized
costs attributable to the construction during the period of construction.
No provision for depreciation is made on construction in progress until
such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended
use. When the assets concerned are available for use, the costs are
transferred to property, plant and equipment and depreciated in

accordance with the policy as set out above.

Land use rights

Land use rights represent upfront payments made for the land use
rights and are expensed in the statements of comprehensive income on

a straight-line basis over the periods of the leases.

2 EREHEEBEE)

2.6

2.7

M - BENEREHE)

HE W RERRAEHIREREE
HRERE it AR E2HEBERT
wr Efp e (B518) %5 ] -

ERTREEERABREAEMER
& EFEITREANRKARRFRER
BB -

RN B E R BB A A A R & AR
NEBRETREBENEARCKA -
ERZTREREMEEZK R ERE
RZATTRHEITE - EHRBEE #
R AREKANDEBRENE W
R R WA AR & & P EBUR EHR T
=

T fERARE
T fE A AR T AEEL A

A YR HERBARBRERE
AR



—J\E£#R | ANNUAL REPORT 2018 161

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R SRR M
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE =T —N\F+=_A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ERSHBERBEE)

POLICIES (continued)
2.8 Intangible assets 28 MILEE
(a) Goodwill @) HE

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents
the excess of the consideration transferred over the Group's
interest in net fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-

controlling interests in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units
to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level
within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating

segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared
to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment is recognized

immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (continued)

2 EAXERHBEBEGE)

28 |BILEE(H)

(b) Intangible assets other than goodwill with indefinite

(c)

useful life

Intangible assets other than goodwill that have indefinite useful
life primarily include trade name acquired in business combination
are recognised at fair values at the date of the acquisition. The
Company evaluates indefinite-lived intangible assets each
reporting period to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support an indefinite useful life. If an intangible asset
that is not being amortized is subsequently determined to have a

finite useful life, the asset is tested for impairment.

Other intangible assets with definite useful life

Other intangible assets with definite useful life mainly including
trade names, business relationship, technology platform and
business cooperation arrangements, are stated at cost less
accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any.
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate the costs of acquired intangible assets over the following

estimated useful lives:

Trade names 5 years
Business relationship 12 years
Technology platform 6 years
Business cooperation arrangements 3-5 years
Customer lists 5 years

Internet domain names 5 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=Z— \F+=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEAESHHEEMEE)

POLICIES (continued)
28 ML EE (&)
(d) L

2.8 Intangible assets (continued)

(d) Research and development expenditures

Research expenditure is recognized as an expense as incurred.
Costs incurred on development projects (relating to the design and
testing of new or improved products) are capitalized as intangible
assets when recognition criteria are fulfilled. These criteria
include: (1) it is technically feasible to complete the software
product so that it will be available for use; (2) management
intends to complete the software product and use or sell it; (3)
there is an ability to use or sell the software product; (4) it can be
demonstrated how the software product will generate probable
future economic benefits; (5) adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and to use or
sell the software product are available; and (6) the expenditure
attributable to the software product during its development can
be reliably measured. Other development expenditures that do

not meet those criteria are recognized as expenses as incurred.

Development costs previously recognized as expenses are
not recognized as assets in subsequent periods. Capitalized
development costs are amortized from the point at which the
assets are ready for use on a straight-line basis over their useful

lives.

All development costs incurred by the Group during the years
ended December 31,2018 and 2017 do not meet the capitalization

criteria and hence are fully expensed off.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets other than goodwill that have an indefinite useful life
or intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to amortization
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject
to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by
which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal

of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.10 Financial assets
(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

® those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit or

loss), and
® those to be measured at amortized cost.
The classification depends on the Group's business model for

managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the

cash flows.
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For the year ended December 31,2018 E#{Z =%

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Financial assets (continued)

(a)

(b)

Classification (continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be
recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business
model in which the investment is held. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value

through other comprehensive income.

See Note 16 for details about each type of financial asset.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its

business model for managing those assets changes.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in

profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Financial assets (continued)
(b) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement

categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

®* Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortized cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at amortized cost and is not part of
a hedging relationship is recognized in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognized or impaired. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income using the

effective interest rate method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEAESHHEEMEE)

POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial assets (continued) Q0 EMEE(E)
(b) Measurement (continued) (b) itE (4&)
Debt instruments (continued) EHETAE)
Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): BRAREBEFAEMEERK

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive income (“OCl"),
except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognized in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognized in other gains/(losses), net. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses and impairment expenses are presented in other

gains/(losses), net.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognized in
profit or loss and presented net in profit or loss within other

gains/(losses), net in the period in which it arises.
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For the year ended December 31,2018 H#E—ZT— \FE+=-_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Financial assets (continued)
(b) Measurement (continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair
value. Where the Group's management has elected to present
fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognized in profit or loss as other income when

the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are recognized in other gain/(losses) in profit or loss
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported

separately from other changes in fair value.

(c) Impairment

The Group has types of financial assets subject to IFRS 9's new

expected credit loss model:

® trade receivables for sales of goods or provision of services;

and

e other receivables
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R SRR M
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE =T —N\F+=_A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ERSHBERBEE)

POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial assets (continued) 210 MEE(F)
(c) Impairment (continued) (c) &E (&
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit N5 B2 A AR M R G A B DA

losses associated with its debt instruments carried at a amortized
cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. Note
4.1(b) details how the Group determines whether there has been a

significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognized from initial recognition of the receivables. The Group
uses practical expedients when estimating life time expected
credit losses on trade receivables, which is calculated using a
provision matrix where a fixed provision rate applies depending on

the number of days that a trade receivable is outstanding.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit loss, depending
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a
receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then impairment

is measured as lifetime expected credit loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services

performed in the ordinary course of business.

Trade and other receivables are generally due for settlement within one

year and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest

method, less provision for impairment.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call
with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original

maturities of three months or less.

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or share options are shown in

equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

2.14 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade
payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If

not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R SRR M
For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEAESHHEEMEE)

POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Borrowings 215 B

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortized cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income or loss over the period of the borrowings using

the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortized over

the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12

months after the end of the reporting period.

2.16 Redeemable convertible preferred shares

Redeemable convertible preferred shares issued by the Company are
redeemable upon occurrence of certain future events and at the option
of the holders. This instrument can be converted into ordinary shares of
the Company at any time at the option of the holders or automatically
converted into ordinary shares upon occurrence of an initial public
offering of the Company or agreed by majority of the holders as
detailed in Note 25.
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For the year ended December 31,2018 H#E—ZT— N\FE+-_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Redeemable convertible preferred shares (continued)

The Group designated the redeemable convertible preferred shares as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. They are initially
recognized at fair value. Any directly attributable transaction costs
are recognized as finance costs in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the redeemable convertible preferred
shares are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income in the year in

which they arise.

Redeemable convertible preferred shares are classified as non-current
liabilities when the Group has unconditional right to defer settlement of

the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax
is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other
comprehensive income or loss or directly in equity. In this case, the tax
is also recognized in other comprehensive income or loss or directly in

equity, respectively.
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For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each
reporting period in the countries/territories where the company's
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the

tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill,
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is

realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which

the temporary differences can be utilized.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (continued)

(c)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to control
the reversal of the temporary difference for associates. Only when
there is an agreement in place that gives the Group the ability to
control the reversal of the temporary difference in the foreseeable
future, deferred tax liability in relation to taxable temporary
differences arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is not

recognized.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries
and associates only to the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable
profit available against which the temporary difference can be

utilized.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities

where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=Z— \F+=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Defined contribution plans

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution plans organized by the relevant governmental
authorities. The Group's liability in respect of these plans is limited
to the contributions payable in each period. Contributions to these
plans are expensed as incurred. Assets of the plans are held and

managed by government authorities.

Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonuses is recognized as a liability when the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation for payment of
bonus as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable
estimate of the obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus plans
are expected to be settled within 1 year and are measured at the

amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up
to the end of the reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick

and maternity leave are not recognized until the time of leave.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

(d) Share-based compensation

2 EXRETBEREE)

218 EEER(E)

(d) KRG BEEHEE

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates share incentive plan, under which it receives
services from employees as consideration for equity instruments
(restricted shares units (“RSUs") and options) of the Company. The
fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant of the
equity instruments (RSUs and options) is recognized as an expense
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income with a

corresponding increase in equity.

In terms of the shares, RSUs and options awarded to employees,
the total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the

fair value of equity instruments (RSUs and options) granted:

® Including any market performance conditions;

® Excluding the impact of any service and non-market

performance vesting conditions; and

® Including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

Non-marketing performance and service conditions are included
in calculation of the number of RSUs and options that are expected
to vest. The total amount expensed is recognized over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting

conditions are to be satisfied.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEAESHHEEMEE)

POLICIES (continued)
2L18EERF (&)
(d) KR BEBHE (&)

2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

(d) Share-based compensation (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)

The Company grants its equity instruments to employees of
its subsidiaries to exchange for their services related to the
subsidiaries. Accordingly, the share-based compensation expenses,
which are recognised in the financial statements, are treated
as part of the “Investments in subsidiaries” in the Company’s

statement of financial position.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of RSUs and options that are expected to vest
based on the non-marketing performance and service conditions.
It recognizes the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statements, with a corresponding

adjustment to equity.

When the share options are exercised, the Company issues
new ordinary shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital and
share premium. Where there is any modification of terms and
conditions which increases the fair value of the equity instruments
granted, the Group includes the incremental fair value granted
in the measurement of the amount recognized for the services
received over the remainder of the vesting period. The incremental
fair value is the difference between the fair value of the modified
equity instrument and that of the original equity instrument,
both estimated as of the date of the modification. An expense
based on the incremental fair value is recognized over the period
from the modification date to the date when the modified equity
instruments vest in addition to any amount in respect of the
original instrument, which should continue to be recognized over

the remainder of the original vesting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (continued)
(d) Share-based compensation (continued)

Cash-settled share-based payment transactions

Share-based compensation awards which are settled in cash upon
vesting are classified as liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheets. Compensation expense is determined based on the current
share price at the balance sheet dates, and the proportionate
amount of the requisite service that has been rendered to such
date. Changes in the fair value of the liability-classified awards, after
the requisite service period has been completed and before the
awards are vested, are recognized as compensation expenses in

the period in which the change in fair value occurs.

2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for

further operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the

same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to

passage of time is recognized as interest expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEAESHHEEMEE)

POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition 2.20 R TR

The Group offers a variety of travel related services, including
accommodation reservation service, transportation ticketing service

and, to a much lesser extent, online advertising service.

Revenues are recognized when or as the control of the goods or
services is transferred to the customer. Depending the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods

and services may be transferred over time or at a point in time.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple services, the transaction price
will be allocated to each performance obligation based on their relative
stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-alone selling prices are not
directly observable, they are estimated based on expected cost plus a
margin or adjusted market assessment approach, depending on the

availability of observable information.

(a) Principal agent consideration

The Group determines the presentation of its revenue by assessing
whether it acts as the principal of the services that are rendered.
The Group presents its revenues on a net basis (that is, the amount
billed to the users less the amount paid to the travel service
suppliers) when the Group acts as an agent with no control over
the underlying services and does not assume inventory risk. The
Group presents its revenue on a gross basis (that is, the amount
billed to the users) when the Group assumes inventory risk and acts
as a principal by pre-purchasing the travel related products from
the travel service suppliers. The purchase payments to the travel
suppliers are recorded as “cost of revenue” in the consolidated

statements of comprehensive income/(loss).

The Group presents majority of its revenue on net basis as the
supplier is primarily responsible for providing the underlying travel
services and the Group does not control the service provided by

the supplier prior to its transfer to the user.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (continued)
(b) Timing of revenue recognition

Accommodation reservation services

The Group generates revenue as a result of the booking of
travel products and services on its websites and mobile apps
and derives its revenue mainly from the commissions earned
from intermediating services for facilitating reservations of
hotel accommodations. Commissions from accommodation
reservation services are recognized at a point in time when the
accommodation reservations placed by users through the Group

become non-cancellable.
Transportation ticketing services

Transportation ticketing services primarily consist of the reservation
of air tickets and train tickets, sale of travel insurance and other
transportation-related services. The commissions from such
services are recognized at a point in time upon the issuance of the

tickets or the travel insurance, net of estimated cancellations.
Other Services
Other revenues are primarily derived from technical development

service and advertising business. The revenues are recognized over

the service period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P RRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=Z— \F+=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (continued)

(©

(d)

Contract asset and contract liability

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents
the contract in the statement of financial position as a contract
asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship between
the Group's performance and the customer’s payment. A contract
asset is the Group's right to consideration in exchange for services
that the Group has transferred to its customer. A contract liability
is the Group's obligation to transfer services to its customer for
which the Group has received consideration from the customer.
Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract, if recoverable, are
capitalized and presented as contract assets and subsequently
amortized when the related revenue is recognized. The Group
applies the practical expedient and does not disclose information
about remaining performance obligations that have original

expected durations of one year or less.

Users incentive programs

The Company provides various users incentive programs, where
participating users are awarded incentives on current transactions
or for free that can be redeemed for future reservations through
the Company’s platforms. The estimated fair value of the incentives
awarded on current transactions that are expected to be redeemed
is recognized as a reduction of revenues at the time the incentives
are granted. Incentives awarded for free to participating users are
not considered as payment to customer but recorded as selling

and marketing expenses instead.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Service development expense

Service development expenses represents the expenses incurred to
develop and diversify the travel products and services the Company's
sources from its travel service providers as well as the expenses in
relation to the research and development of service providers assist

system and the Company’s online platforms.

2.22 Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets
that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance). Interest
income is presented as finance income where it is earned from financial
assets that are held for cash management purposes. Any other interest

income is included in “Other gains/(losses), net".

2.23 Government grants/subsidies

Grants/subsidies from government are recognized at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grants/subsidies will be

received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Under these circumstances, the grants/subsidies are recognized
as income or matched with the associated costs which the grants/

subsidies are intended to compensate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P RRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of

the lease.

2.25 Dividends distribution

Dividends distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognized
as a liability in the Group's and the Company'’s financial information
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company'’s

shareholders or Directors, where appropriate.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Management of the Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. Apart from the PRC operating entities under
the Group's control through the Contractual Arrangements being accounted
for as subsidiaries as described in Note 2.2(a) above, the estimates and
assumptions that have significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

addressed below.
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FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment. Other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to

sell. These calculations require the use of judgments and estimates.

Judgment is required to determine key assumptions adopted in
the valuation models for impairment review purpose. Changing the
assumptions selected by management in assessing impairment could
materially affect the result of the impairment test and as a result affect
the Group's financial condition and results of operations. If there is a
significant adverse change in the key assumptions applied, it may be
necessary to take additional impairment charge to the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income or loss.

Valuation of redeemable convertible preferred shares

The preferred shares issued by the Company are not traded in an active
marker and the respective fair value is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group has used the discounted cash flow method to
determine the underlying equity value of the Company and adopted
equity allocation model to determine the fair value of the preferred
shares. Key assumptions, such as discount rate, risk-free interest rate,

lack of marketability discount and volatility are disclosed in Note 25.
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e P RRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

()

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for under acquisition method. On
March 9, 2018, the Group consummated the acquisition of Tongcheng
Online Business by issuing 96,721,818 ordinary shares (the “Newly Issued
Shares") of the Company as the consideration. The determination of fair
values to the Newly Issued Shares and the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed is based on various assumptions and valuation
methodologies requiring considerable management judgment. The
most significant variables in these valuations are royalty rate for brand
name, supplier turnover rate, revenue growth rate, gross margin rate,
discount rates, terminal values, the number of years on which to base
the cash flow projections, as well as the assumptions and estimates
used based on the risk inherent in the related activity's current
business model and industry comparisons. Terminal values are based
on the expected life of assets and forecasted life cycle and forecasted
cash flows over that period. Although the Group believes that the
assumptions applied in the determination are reasonable based on
information available at the date of acquisition, actual results may differ

from the forecasted amounts and the difference could be material.

Useful lives and amortization charges of intangible
assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and
related amortization charges for the Group's intangible assets with
reference to the estimated periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of these assets. Management
will revise the amortization charges where useful lives are different
to that of previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned
or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in useful lives and therefore

amortization expense in future periods.
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FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(e) Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in the PRC and other jurisdictions.
Judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes
in each of these jurisdictions. There are transactions and calculations
during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred income tax

provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and
tax losses are recognized when management considers it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilized. When the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in the

period in which such estimate is changed.

Fair value of financial assets

Fair value of financial assets, in the absence of an active market, is
estimated by using appropriate valuation techniques. Such valuation
were based on certain assumptions about credit risk, volatility and
liquidity risks associated with the instruments, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results. Further

details are included in Note 4.3.
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4., FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
4.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. Risk management is carried out by the senior

management of the Group.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognized assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the Group entities’
functional currency. The Group manages its foreign exchange
risk by performing regular reviews of the Group's net foreign
exchange exposures. The Group does not hedge against
any fluctuation in foreign currency during the years ended
December 31,2018 and 2017.

The Group operates mainly in the PRC with most of the
transactions settled in RMB, management considers that the
business is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
risk as there are no significant financial assets or liabilities of
the Group are denominated in the currencies other than the

respective functional currencies of the Group's entities.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk primarily arose from borrowings
with floating rates (Note 24), time deposits and cash and cash
equivalents. Those carried at floating rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk whereas those carried at fixed

rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

If the interest rate of borrowings with floating rate had
been 10 percent higher/lower, the profit before income tax
for the year ended December 31, 2018 would have been
approximately RMB981,000 (2017: RMB264,000) lower/higher.

If the interest rate of time deposits had been 10 percent
higher/lower, the profit before income tax for the year
ended December 31, 2018 would have been approximately
RMB2,576,000 higher/lower.

If the interest rate of cash and cash equivalents had been 10
percent higher/lower, the profit before income tax the year
ended December 31, 2018 would have been approximately
RMB6,408,000 (2017: RMB745,000) higher/lower.
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4. MERABER(E)
41 BHEBREEA)
(b) /AR

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash and bank
deposits, trade and other receivables and short-term investments

measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The carrying amounts of each class of the above financial assets
represent the Group’ maximum exposure to credit risk in relation
to financial assets. To manage this risk arising from cash and bank
deposits and wealth management products issued by commercial
banks, The Group only transacts with reputable commercial banks
which are all high-credit-quality financial institutions in the PRC.
There has been no recent history of default in relation to these

financial institutions.

Trade receivables as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are mainly
due from the third-party customers including hotels, insurance
companies or related agents, etc. in cooperation with the Group
and other receivables mainly include deposits, guarantees and
others (“Receivables”). The Group considers the probability of
default upon initial recognition of Receivables and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the Receivables as at the reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking

information. Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

- internal credit rating;

- external credit rating (as far as available);

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant change to the debtors’ ability to meet its

obligations;
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4. MBRABERE
41 BHEBREEA)
(b) /@A (4)

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

- actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the debtors; significant increases in credit risk on other

financial instruments of the same debtors;

- significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting
the obligation or in the quality of third-party guarantees or

credit enhancements;

- significant changes in the expected performance and
behavior of the debtors, including changes in the payment

status of debtors, etc.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk
is presumed if a debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a

contractual payment.

A default on Receivables are when the counterparty fails to
make contractual payments within 180 days of when they fall
due. Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in
a repayment plan with the Group. The Group categorises a
receivable for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 360 days past due. Where receivables have
been written off, the Group continues to engage in enforcement
activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries

are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group makes periodic assessment on the credit risk of the
Receivables based on the history of cooperation with customers,
settlement records and past experience and other information,
macroeconomic information (such as market interest rates or
growth rates) is incorporated as part of the internal rating model,
the Directors believe that the credit risk inherent in the Receivables
is not material, the Directors believe that the credit risk inherent in
the outstanding Receivables due from the debtors is not material.
The assessment on the expected credit loss associated with trade

receivables is performed by management, see Note 22(d) for detail.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FE M mERMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4. MEEREREE)
4.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 4.1 BEREEZE(E)
(c) Price risk () 1ErEEkE
The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of the long-term AREBFERZEASEFENRAL
investments and short-term investments measured at fair value BEE 8 L8 AEHEREN
through profit or loss held by the Group. The Group is not exposed REIRE REHREB@AHNERR
to commodity price risk. To manage its price risk arising from the %o AEBEWEEAZEMERR
investments, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Each investment br o REEREEENERER -
is managed by senior management on a case by case basis. The AEEFEREHREZ T - BB
sensitivity analysis is performed by management, see Note 4.3 for KREHSREEBERERELESE
detail. B RESNMAEEENT &

FHIER2RHME43 -
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FREMBHRRM T
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—Z— \F+=-A=1+—HILFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(d) Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents
and marketable securities. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group maintains flexibility in funding

by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents.

The table below analyzes the Group’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity grouping based on the remaining period at the
end of each reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted

cash flows.

4. MBRABERE
41 BEEABEE (A
(d) FBELEE

AEBEEERFREREIAEE
EYNEHEE S - ARAEEER
ARBEE - AREBBER M
ERBRCFEVMRRFESE)
o

TRERSHEMREANIHA
MRBHEEASESRAEI N
AREBEAR - KNBEBENEE
RAHRTRBESRE o

Less than Between Between

Tyear  Tand2years  2and5years Over 5 years Total
—£R —EZmE MERF RENE st
RMB’ 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBT ARBT T

AtDecember31,2018  RZZE-\F+-F=1+-H
Borrowings RN 28,581 27,520 76,191 81,805 214,097
Trade payables BoEFE 2,569,092 - — - 2,569,092
Other payables and accruals  Eft B 7008 R ERT B 706,598 — — — 706,598
3,304,271 27,520 76,191 81,805 3,489,787

AtDecember31,2017 ~R=Z—tF+=-A=1-H
Borrowings EEA 29643 28,581 79375 106,141 243,740
Trade payables BHRIHA 1114917 — — - 1114917
Other payables and accruals B 7B R BT E R 120610 - — - 120610
1,265,170 28,581 79375 106,141 1479267

The key terms of redeemable convertible preferred shares are

presented in Note 25.

A fE [0l AT AR B S AR ) E BIER 2
HIRAMIsE 25 o
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For the year ended December 31,2018 #Z=Z— \G+-_A=+—HILFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.2

4.3

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital (including funding from
the Group and related parties) are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for the Group
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to enhance equity value in the long-term.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyzes the Group's financial instruments carried
at fair value as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, by level of the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are

categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

«  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities (level 1);

+  inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices)

or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2);

- inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable

market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

. BBEBREE(E)

4.2

4.3

EXEREE

EEREA(BREREAKE KLY

MERR  AEEEERBESERL
EHRES KM AREERER R R
REMF AR E REME - LIRS
REEAEBUZERENRIMER -

DN ABEME

TRIZAUGTEA R BENMMERN
MEABER »MASEEMIA
RZBE-NEFERZ=ZF— t¢+_ﬂ
=+-—BERAABEIEN S
Ho ﬁﬁﬁiﬁu)\@ﬁzTXﬁﬁL”*ﬁimk
AREEIREBAN=EER

7

2

\

 HREENKEBEIRIEETSHN
BECREHE)(F1E) :

s REIEBEENBMEIN  ZEEX
BENERBERBAEER)
KA EEBERBABBIITESE
®E)(F2E)

o WHERTBRTBUENEER
S A E (DT TR R AE)
(#3/) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—Z— \F+=-A=1+—HILFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4, BERRERE(Z)

43 AREEMEF(E)

TRIMAEBBE T N\F+=
A=+ HBERAABEFENEER

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The following table presents the Group's assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value as of December 31, 2018.

BfE -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BB %28 %38 et
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’' 000 RMB’ 000
ARBT AR®BTn ARBTR AR¥Tx
As of December 31,2018 BE-Z2—N\f
+=ZBA=+—H
Assets BE
- Long-term investments —BAREEFER
measured at fair value HE8): AZBBERN
through profit or loss REIGE (3 17)
(Note 17) — — 52,442 52,442
— Short-term investments —RAnEEFEER
measured at fair value BEET AR HERN
through profit or loss REIRE (M 17)
(Note 17) = = 2,570,170 2,570,170
— — 2,622,612 2,622,612
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

4, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4. BIEEKEREZ)
4.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 43 AREEMEF(E)
The following table presents the Group's assets and liabilities that are TRINBAEEHE_T—tF+=
measured at fair value as of December 31, 2017. A=+ HRAABEMENEER
BE-
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ %2 %3 Bt
RMB'000 RMB’"000 RMB’"000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTRT ARETR
Asof December 31,2017 BE=-Z—+t#F
+=B=+—H
Assets EE
— Long-term investments —RAnBEFEAEE
measured at fair value gt A B BHIEEN
through profit or loss REIGE (M3E17)
(Note 17) — 25,239 25,239
— Short-term investments —BAREBEFEAR
measured at fair value FE)ET AE IR0
through profit or loss REIRE (M 17)
(Note 17) = — 236,107 236,107
— — 261,346 261,346
Liabilities =L
- Redeemable convertible — A & B AT IR AR
preferred shares (Note 25) B (FF5E25) — — 6,347,647 6,347,647

(a) Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is

based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market

is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly

available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing

service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and

regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

@) FIELMTA

RERMSEENERTANRR
EBEDENEEETSRE - [
S XPE &R ITERER
TE {8 AR T e 18 ol BE ' M A BB P 2 8
RHRE AZFERRREERTE
HETNRATMERS - AImGK
RATERE °
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For the year ended December 31,2018 H#E=—Z— \F+=A=+—HBItFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(b) Financial instruments in level 2

(c)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an
active market is determined by using valuation techniques. These
valuation techniques maximize the use of observable market
data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an

instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable

market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments

include:

«  Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

. Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are

used to determine fair value for financial instruments.

Level 3 instruments of the Group's assets and liabilities include
long-term investment measured at fair value through profit or loss,
short-term investments measured at fair value through profit or

loss and redeemable convertible preferred shares.

The changes in level 3 instruments of the Preferred Shares for the
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are presented in the
Note 25.

. BRERERE(E)
3 A REEG ()
(b) E2E2MITA

FENERMSEENERITAR

RBENGERTEE - ZFHE
KMBENAREIERHEH
B BEOKBERBNREMG
Mt EET AN R A EBERTHM
BERBNERFEBEREE - A&
TAKIAE2E

o

(c) FE3EZMTA

i — I8 ZHE K ABLIEER
AR MBEIE - A2 TAFTASE
3 -

REHE & B T AMNEFIAERI
s MEHREXARHEHLEUTA
HYR(E o

s WHRBASREDMEEMEIM
ARNEEERTARAEE -

|

AEEEERABENEIETAS
BRARBEAEBEEHFAE
HBEBNERE - AR EER
EREFFFAZTHIERNEHRRKR
B NI EE AT A @ e A o

BE_ T/ \FR_Z—tF+=
H=+— Eljtifﬁf‘ﬁﬂmkslﬁl
BEmEBNHITE 2553 -
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments of

long-term investments measured at fair value through profit or loss
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

iR EE(EZ)
43 AREEMEF(E)
(c) E3EFz@MTA (&

TEIBBE-_T—\ER-T
—E+Z A=+ BLEERRA
R EES S ARBBH AL MER
MEMIEE S ETANES -

Year ended December 31,

BEt-AZ=+—-HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—tF
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000

AR®T T ARBETT

At the beginning of the year
Addition

Disposal

Changes in fair value

At the end of the year

F1
B
HE
RABEE
FR

25,239 45,685
22,708 —
= (19,247)
4,495 (1,199

52,442 25,239
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—Z— \F+=-A=1+—HILFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments of

short-term investments measured at fair value through profit or

loss for the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017.

4. MERABER(E)
43 DAMEML (A)

(c) E3ELMTA (&

TRIBEZE-—ZE—NER =T
—+tF+ZA=+—HLEFEERA
REEGTEEEZFHHAEHIER
MR EEIETANES -

Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2018 2017
—B-\F —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBETT

At the beginning of the year F1) 236,107 71,041
Addition NE 9,884,640 1,673,388
Business combination E%E0 537,000 =
Disposal hE (8,161,654) (1,520,439)
Changes in fair value NREEEE 74,077 12,117
At the end of the year FR 2,570,170 236,107
Net unrealized gains for the year FRARERUWAFEE 21,567 2,062

The valuation of the level 3 instruments mainly included the Preferred

Shares (Note 25), long-term investments measured at fair value

through profit or loss in unlisted companies (Note 17) and short-

term investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (Note

17). As these instruments are not traded in an active market, their fair

values have been determined by using various applicable valuation

techniques, including discounted cash flows and market approach etc.

Major assumptions used in the valuation for the preferred shares are

presented in Note 25.

HEIBTANGEEIZEERELAK
(fiaE25) ~ RIFELTRRMRAAE
BEEREZHFAEHRNBENRY
KREME 177 MEAAEBEFEAR
BT AETHEANEHREPZ
17) » A% E T AW N RIERT 5
hR5 ERArRBEEBRBRAZE
BRFAREREERTIHEEAN
BRGERMNTAEE - BEKMA
ERRANEZRINHUIE255I3K -
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)

4.

The following table summarizes the quantitative information about

the significant unobservable inputs used in recurring level 3 fair

value measurements of the short-term and long-term investments
as of December 31,2018 and 2017.

iR EE(EZ)
43 AREEMEF(E)
(c) E3EFz@MTA (&

TRBARZF-—NFR=_F—+
F+ZA=+—HBERYEHER
B EEEEEEIEB AR BER
ERFAMNEANT A B RE A B

ERER -
Significant Relationship of
Fair Values Valuation unobservable Range of inputs unobservable inputs
Description As of December 31, techniques inputs As of December 31, to fair values
NEE BANTEE ENELE OEE N1
Description BZt-A=1+-H AR EUNE! BZ+-A=1-A R BEMER
2018 2017 2018 2017
—g-N\F “E—tE —8-N\E Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB' 000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT ARET T ARETT
Investments 52,442 25239 Marketapproach  Expected volatility 43.6%~48% 35%~431%  Thehigherthe
measured at expected volatility,
fair value the lower the fair
through profit value
or loss
BRREENE 52,442 25,239 5% BHRKE  43.6%-48% I%-431%  BEREES -
BEEHFNEY DAEERE
BaRNRE
Short-term 2,570,170 236,107 Discounted Expected rate 2.8~6.2% 15%-6.0%  The higher the
investments cash flows of return expected rate of
measured return, the higher
at fair value the fair value
through profit
or loss
BRREBENE 2,570,170 86107 HRBERE EHOHRE 28~6.2% 150%-60% BEDNREHR -
BEEHFNEY NABEEES

RaBMEHR
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FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—Z— \F+=-A=1+—HILFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)

If the fair values of the long-term investments and short-term
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss held by
the Group had been 10% higher/lower, the profit before income
tax for the year ended December 31, 2018 would have been
approximately RMB262.3 million (2017: RMB26.1 million) higher/

lower.

If the Company's key valuation assumptions used to determine the
fair value of the Preferred Shares had increased/decreased by 5%
with all other variables held constant, the profit before income tax
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 respectively, the
estimated recoverable amount shall exceed its carrying amount
listed in below table (assuming the change of key factors would
not have significant impact on fair value change attributable to
credit risk):

4, BEEREEE)
43 AREEMEF(E)
(c) E3ELHMTA (&)

WAEERANZRAABEFER
HEHFAEHBEENRARKRE
REMEENARBELEA T
fE10% - BIBZE—_T—-N\F+=H
=+ — B I FERETSE AR R
DREN, RO ARE 26238
T(ZE—tF: AR¥261 8
BT) °

o

I

WMARFAREERBERAAREE
B EEERRIEN D 5%
FBEEMEHRITITIE - AIEHZE
—E-NEFERZZE—+tF+=A
=T —HBIEFENRAEHA S
Ao AT E 2B EBEN T
XAFMEEAE(BRRFERRY
HreauEERRERNNAREER
BHELTATLE)
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HEZE—Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4. BIEREREE(E)
4.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 4.3 D RABEMLE (&)
(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued) (c) E3EFz@MTA (&

Fair value of
the Preferred Shares

As of December 31,2018
BE-2-N\F+=A=+—H

Discounts
for lack of
marketability Probability of
Discount rate (“DLOM") Volatility  IPO scenario
R W%
RENMERY
¥ 2 ([ iR
ZTiERE IPO M
BERDAEE BRIRE MHED RENE A BE M
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARBTET AR¥BTRT AR¥TRT AR%T:R

Increase 5%

Decrease 5%

H#05% (318,306) (32,049) — —
J A 5% 362,786 31,812 = —
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—Z— \F+=-A=1+—HILFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)

4. BHEARER(E)

43 AREEMEF(E)
(c) E3ELHMTA (&)

As of December 31, 2017

Discounts
for lack of

marketability

BE_T—tF+-A=+—H

Probability of

Discount rate ('DLOM") Volatility IPO scenario
=
MENIEEY
(M=
Fair value of iz et IPO 75 & HY
the Preferred Shares BERAR(EE BRI % oErie=4)) RED M A geM
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARBTT ARBFTT ARKTZ
Increase 5% 0 5% (408,866) (36,861) (9,439) (43,389)
Decrease 5% A 5% 465,319 36,847 9,247 43,388

On March 9, 2018, upon the completion of the Acquisition, all preferred
shares were converted into ordinary share on a 1:1 basis (Notes 29(b)
and 33).

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 of fair value hierarchy

classifications during the years ended December 31, 2018 (2017: nil).

RZZB-NF=ANA - WETK
% MAEBRERBZE-L-—MWE
AR 7 i AR (PR =T 29(b) B BT =

33) °

HE-_T-\F+-A=+—HL
FEBHE 2ABEERSERE
1 2R3EMTEER(Z2—+t
F:fE)e
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segment mainly based
on the measure of operating profit, excluding items which are not directly
related to the segment performance (‘combined results”). These include non-
operating income/(expenses) such as government subsidies, fair value gains
on short-term investments measured at fair value through profit or loss, and
other non-operating items. The CODM reviews the combined results when
making decisions about allocating resources and assessing performance of
the Group as a whole. Therefore, the Group has only one reportable segment
which mainly operates its businesses in the PRC and earns substantially all of
the revenues from external customers attributed to the PRC. As of December
31,2018 and 2017, substantially all of the non-current assets of the Group
were located in the PRC. Therefore, no geographical segments are presented.
No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is presented as they are
not used by the CODM when making decisions about allocating resources

and assessing performance of the Group.

5. WAR 7 & &

TERERREFTZRBEE RN E
(TEREESBRBATEEEAHNER)
([EEHEBEDFEHEED RN - ZE
SEEEWA () BB - EA
AEEFEBHZHTABRNEHRE
AREBEERARHEMIELEEISE £ 2
EERREMELBRASEEEIRIIAR R
T EAEERRERANEHCEIES -
Bt AEBEE—EAA2®KSH - Ex
BB S I 8 R ESND R P BREL
RREOWA - A-BE—NFER-T—+
F+—A=+—8 ' REEBABIIER
BEEMMARRE - Bt - WEZF|HES
HemAREZEEBRARENELBES R
&R R R R 5T AN 5 B 2R 3R R A 48 {5
DEEBEXDIBENDN - WEZ DI

mE5 o
Year ended December 31,
BE+t-A=+—-HALEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Operating (loss)/profit per consolidated FREZHEBARY
statements of comprehensive income K (B518) 8 (311,192) 28,714
Less: Other income R EAKA (33,396) (12,805)
Fair value changes on investments BRAnBETEEHEES
measured at fair value through profitorloss T ABZAEE AR EESE (78,572) (863)
Other gains, net H itz 58 (47,888) (22,610)
Operating loss presented to the CODM EWMTEELERRENKLEERE (471,048) (7,564)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 H#E=—Z— \F+=A=+—HBItFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDEER (&)
(continued)
Revenue by service type for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 HE-_FT - N\FrR=ZF—+tF+=A
are as follows: =T+ —HLEFERRBELE S AR
T

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ZE—+tF

RMB’ 000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBTT

Accommodation reservation services SEEIRER e 1,830,370 2,361,625

Transportation ticketing services RBEERTE 3,232,521 61,295

Others Hh 192,748 95,671

Total revenue HBUA 5,255,639 2,518,591
The major customers which contributed more than 10% of the total revenue HE-_FT-N\FRk=ZF—tF+=A8

:+fE¢EE’E%WA%@ﬁﬂm%
MESRFHEINMT :

for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are listed as below:

Year ended December 31,

BEt-AZ=+—-HLEE

2018 2017

—ZE-N\#F —T—tF

% %

% %

Customer A BEA 21.46% 9.68%
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HEZE—Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

6. EMEE TR

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=t—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETT

Commission expenses

Employee benefit expense (Note 7)

Cost of pre-purchased travel related products

Advertising and promotion expenses

Depreciation and amortization
expense (Note 14,18 & 19)

Order processing cost

Rental and utility fees

Telephone and communication

Professional service fees

Audit fees

Travelling and entertainment expenses

Bandwidth and servers fee
Tax and surcharges
Reorganisation cost (Note 27(a))
Acquisition-related cost (Note 33)
Issuance of ordinary shares

at discount (Note 29(c))
Procurement costs
Others

ik ha 269,807 659,761
EERMFEZ (7 7) 1,969,721 635,186
B BT IRIE AR R E m e R 188,070 532,870
BEREERS 1,205,448 356,776
EREHEMAY

(PFsE14 ~ 18 %2.19) 455,964 84,150
STEERIERA 704,228 51,841
HeERKEE 65,391 38,963
B BE 20,769 37,779
EXRGER 159,974 35,032
ZERE R 15,828 1,491
ZR R ABRFR X 56,606 23613
HE KRG RE R 116,398 23,581
18 R Bt pn 2 25,214 7,815
EHRKA (FIFE 27(2)) 220,953 —
W B B B R AR (B3 33) 9,883 —
AT AT T Mm%

(FfF3E 29(0) 113,099 —
FRIERCAR 92,160 —
EHfth 37,174 37,297

5,726,687 2,526,155
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—Z— \F+=-A=1+—HILFE

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 7. EERABEZ(BEEEHEH)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

Year ended December 31,

BE+-BA=1+—BHLEE

2018 2017
—®-NE  —BtfF
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARBTT

Wages, salaries and bonuses TE - He kit 1,081,061 446,399
Pension costs - defined contribution plans BRIRE A — REHRETE 119,558 62,881
Other social security costs, housing HiRER EFEBE7
benefits and other employee benefits K Ho A B A 196,911 69,123
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 8) AR BEREHN S (FsEs) 572,191 56,783
1,969,721 635,186
(a) Pension costs - defined contribution plans (a) BIKERAE - REMKETE
Employees of the Group in the PRC are required to participate in a AEBEPBENESESINE T
defined contribution retirement scheme administered and operated by T B 38 R AE R RE PR KRG
the local municipal governments. The Group contributes funds which AEBEE RS ETEEF(£8IR
are calculated on a fixed percentage of 14% of the employees’ salary BEMTHRNRENGEEFS2(RET
(subject to a floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments to PR EBR) 14% BB E R D HETE) - A

each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of the employees. REERKENENES -



7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

(b) Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of each director of the Company paid/payable by the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are set out as

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7S 3R 3R BT 5
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

—Z— )\&FE4F3R | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

=)
ma

7. BEERAR(BRESHFH)

(%)

(b) EEH MM

AEBRBE-T-N\FR-F—+
FT-A=t-BLFEEXN T

follows: NOARBIZEZOHESET ¢
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking
R-BATRAES (FREALARHTAAER) FREBKC A REUHH
Other
emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect
of director's
other services
in connection
with the
management
Employer's of the affairs
Estimated ~ contribution of the
money value of a retirement  Share-based ~ Company or
Discretionary Housing of other benefit compensation  its subsidiaries
Fees Salary Bonuses allowance benefits scheme expenses  undertaking Total
HES
EBA
RAIRH
SPLIES
it
EftfRd  RIER MRt Eitks
bt HEEEX  AEEM Bk
ik ¢ RETL HREY fBE #y% MeRx YEbEHM &3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETL AREBTR ARETR ARETRT ARMTRT ARETT ARETR
Yearended December ~ BIZ=F—/\F+=A
31,2018 =+-ALLEE
Ma Heping (CEO) SR (ERERARE) - 1474 - 17 10 28 65863 - 67392
Jiang Hao L — 906 1,720 17 8 50 26489 — 29210
Wu Zhixiang REH - 1625 — 17 10 28 18037 - 19717
Liang Jianzhang REE = = = = = = = = =
Lin Haifeng wge — — — — — — — — —
Brent Richard Irvin Brent Richard Irvin = = = = = = = = =
Wu Haibing REE = = = = = = = = =
Dai Xiaojing L% - - - - - - - - -
Han Yuling BEE — — — — — — — — —
Yearended December ~ HEZF—+F+=4
31,2017 =+-AIFE
Jiang Hao L - 925 1662 16 % 46 9447 = 12122
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—Z— \F+=-A=1+—HILFE

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

(b) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration received from
the Group by the director in his capacity as employee to the companies
comprising the Group. No directors waived any emolument during the
years ended December 31,2018 and 2017.

No director fee was paid to the director in his capacity as director of the
Company. No emolument was paid by the Company or the companies
comprising the Group as an inducement to join the Company or the
companies comprising the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Mr. Wu Zhixiang was appointed as the Company's Co-chairman and

executive director in March, 2018.

Mr. Ma Heping, Mr. Jiang Hao were appointed as the Company's

executive director in March, 2018.

Mr. Liang Jianzhang was appointed as the Company’s Co-chairman and

non-executive director in March, 2018.

Mr. Lin Haifeng, and Mr. Brent Richard Irvin were appointed as the

Company's non-executive directors in March, 2018.

Mr. Wu Haibing, Mr. Dai Xiaojing and Ms. Han Yuling were appointed
as the Company's independent non-executive directors in November
2018.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the independent non-

executive directors did not receive any remuneration from the Group.

7. EEE%UF‘%&(@%EE%M)

(b) EEHM (&)

EXHTEMEZEESUEERR
EEETRAREEFXEENEHER
SEKBMBEFH - RBEE_T—N\F
F_E—+tFE+-_A=+—HBItF
B - BIEEEMEEAHM -

ZEEEHEUNEEALRARESN
SO MEIHERNESHES - RE
EE-NFER=E—tF+=A
=+—BLFE ARANAERE
TRARBESINEMEM - ERMA
RARHAEEE TR AR EEE - 5%
TERREKBAIMFHE -

REFREER T /\F=ZAEZHE
REDAMELIFERATES °

EARFLEE  TIHEEERT—NF
ZABZAERARTITES -

REERER_T-/\F=ZAEZHE
RARFMEERRIFATES °

M IE 4 4 K Brent Richard Irvin 847
—E-N\F=ZAEZEAERRQREHR
TES -

RERELE BIREERBETEX
IRZZE-N\E+-RAEZERAR
BIBMIFITES °

WRE-F-N\F+-A=+-AL
FF BUANTEFHREELR
30 48 3 AR B EUE FIFN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R SRR M
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 7. EERARAX(BREESHMH)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (continued) (%)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (c) EEESHFMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the AEERREZ-T—N\FR=ZF—t
Group for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 include 3 F+-A=+—HLEFERE&SH
and 1 director whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown MALTBEIRIBES - EHbxE
in “Directors’ emoluments” above. The emoluments payable to the RIEZFHMW I LSRR DM -
remaining 2 and 4 individuals are as follows: ST 2 R4 BRAREHAT :

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=t—HLFE

2018 2017
—B-N\f —T—t&
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTT

Wages, salaries and bonuses IE& - FeRk{EL 3,230 5,306
Pension costs - defined contribution plans BRIREHRA —REH-FEE 97 198
Other social security costs, housing HinttRER - EFEEH
benefits and other employee benefits R H A g B2 H 83 234
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 8)  LARX {7 AE R BB S (Fi7Es) 29,413 6,105
32,823 11,843
The emoluments fell within the following band: BRAFMNR T3IEHE

Number of individuals

Year ended December 31,

AE

BE+-HA=t+—HLEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Below HKD 2 million 2EBBITUT = =
HKD 2 million to HKD 3 million PEEBETEIREAT = =
HKD 2 million to HKD 3 million EBETEIBEBATL — 3
HKD 3 million to HKD 4 million 3ABATE4ABAT — =
HKD 4 million to HKD 5 million ABBATESBEATT = =
HKD 5 million to HKD 10 million SEEETEI0CBEAT — 1

Over HKD 10 million 10BEBBITUE 2 —
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—Z— \F+=-A=1+—HILFE

8. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES

(@) Share incentive plans

8. MRODR/ERNM LR
(a) BRD BBt &

In August 2016, the Company adopted the 2016 share incentive plan
(the “2016 Plan"), which allows officers, employees, non-employees,
directors of the Company to (i) acquire ordinary shares of the Company
pursuant to options granted hereunder, (ii) receive RSU awards, and (iii)
make direct purchases of restricted shares. The maximum number of
ordinary shares that may be subject to the awards granted under the
2016 Plan'is 10,136,000.

In March 2018, the Company adopted the 2018 share incentive plan (the
2018 Plan"), which allows senior management, other employees, non-
employees, directors of the Company, with certain vesting conditions
being fulfilled, to (i) acquire ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to
options granted, (i) receive RSU awards, and (i) make direct purchases
of restricted shares. The maximum number of ordinary shares that may
be subject to the awards granted under the 2018 Plan is 163,240,270.

RSUs are rights to receive the ordinary shares of eLong or the Company,
when applicable. RSUs generally vest over a two to five-year period, and

are not entitled to dividends or voting rights.

ZE-RENA - ARAEM_-ZF
—NFERDABEE( = —XF&h
2 ZEERTAAAERBE -
EE - FEE EF(OREBRLEED
B B AR R U BE R A B AR - (i ik
B 52 PR Il A% 15 B8 iz 2R - K (i) B ¥
BEXREIRGD - BRIE-F—NF&t
B TRESEMNETARSSEE A
10,136,000 % °

ZE-NF=A ARAHEM=FT
— N\NFR BB a8 =T — \F&t
2 ZFAB AT AR RRER
B Efhfe8 - FEE EFEEK
ETHEBEHNBELT - ()VREBREE
REEREWEARQR LB ()
We B 52 BRI AR 1 BB (i 228 ¢ K (i) B8
BEXREIRGD - BRIE_F—/\F5t
ER TREZRENERARESEE AR
163,240,270 f% ©

XRHIB D EMLERGEERARA
BB ER (fHER) - R BIBD
BU—RARELFHEAER - M
BRKDRERZFRERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P RRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

8. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES
(continued)

(b) Equity Awards in connection with the Restructuring

In August 2017, to align the interests of key employees with that of the
Company, the Company established several employees’ equity awards
entities in the form of limited liability partnerships in 2017 (the “EAEs")
and the EAEs jointly established an employees' equity awards holding
company (“EAE Holdco"). According to the agreements between the
EAEs and EAE Holdco, the Company has the discretion to invite any
employee of the Company to participate in the EAEs by subscribing for
their partnership interest. The participating employees are entitled to
all the economic benefits generated by the EAEs with the requisition
service period. As the general partner of these EAEs are designated by
the Company, the EAEs and EAE Holdco are therefore controlled and
consolidated by the Company as structured entities and all the ordinary
shares issued to EAE Holdco for the purpose of equity incentives are

recorded as treasury stock of the Company.

Equity Awards after the Restructuring

After the incorporation of the EAEs and EAE Holdco, to assume and
replace the RSUs of eLong granted under eLong Equity Awards as
aforementioned, the Company issued 2,068,671 ordinary shares to EAE
Holdco which represented the then outstanding RSUs of eLong held by

related employees before the Restructuring.

8. URNAERNWIM SR (&

(b) REARBENRERRE

RZZF—tFN\A BRTEZEEE
M Al as AR RS BN - AAFR
—EEFNERETEREENT
ARLZEREREERER(XE
REER) BREZBERBAIKRR
3 — @& 8 Boik SRRy iR A 2 A ([ B
RBEREZERAR]) - RIELIE LR
ERRREERERIZRAR AN
W& RNARARIBRBARBEM
BEBBRABEABROCEERZ2RRK
RRBER - 2REBERTERE D
NERZERERBDERELNMA
BENGE ARZERERDERL
EREBAHARAIEE - B RE
RPpERIEERBERERARH
ARFEHRBEAKERBILER B
KRR B MR A R B R
NEEITHMEEBRIER/ARRE
TFRD 5B

EACKNRERR

ERERDEERRERDERER
RElZEMA L 2%+ BT ERELRK
EXFaiREEEREERR THE
BRI BEAL - AR R A AL 58
BN E RS R A R 8 172,068,671 IR i
B(BNEEEHZ A EHREBREER
8 AR TT 6 A PR AR 1 B L) o
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For the year ended December 31,2018 H#E=—Z— \F+=A=+—HBItFE

8. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES
(continued)

(c) Equity Awards after the Restructuring (continued)

On September 1, 2017, the Company, through the EAEs and EAE
Holdco, granted 2,350,000 RSUs to certain selected employees, 662,667
of which were immediately vested upon the grant with the remaining
portion to be vested in 5 instalments over a 2.5 year requisite service

period.

On March 9, 2018 and May 18, 2018, the Group granted 5,103,003 and
5,103,003 share options respectively under the 2018 Plan to senior
management, other employees, non-employees, directors of the Group.
The exercise price of all options granted is RMB26 and RMB55 per share
respectively. The option granted are with the requisite service period of

four years from the grant day.

On September 1, 2018, the Group granted 6,118,021 share options
under the 2018 Plan to senior management, other employees, directors
of the Group. The exercise price of all options granted is IPO issuance
price of the Company. The options are exercisable upon the market
value of the Company reaches RMB30 billion and shall be forfeited upon

optionee's resignation or retirement.

In October 2018, the Company granted certain cash-settled share
options in connection with the acquisition of additional interest of its

subsidiary, see Note 32 for detail.

Pursuant to the share premium account of the Company being credited
as a result of the Listing, the Company allotted and issued a total of
1,719,906,084 shares by way of capitalisation of the credit of the share
premium account upon the Listing. The number of share options and
RSUs in issue prior to the capitalisation issue is adjusted in accordance
with the proportional change in the number of outstanding ordinary
shares after the share issue as if the event (the de facto 1:10 stock split)

had occurred at the beginning of the years presented.

8. URMAEBNIM I (&)

ERAZENRERBD(E)

—+tFNA—H8  ARFECEB
REREERRRERIBHEEBIZERA
7)) M & T E & B &% F 2,350,000 8%
BE%IJHM““M » B 662,667 [BER T
BB - HeREH O KE25FHR
mH&f%,ﬁHWn SERSRIE o

RZE-—NF=ZANBR=ZZT—NF
A A -H\EI CAEEREBEZZ—NF
EoRmASERREEE  HittfE
8- 3EE - EER T51030031% &
5,103,003 7 5 AR 4% - P A X B Ak A2
WITEES R ARERARE 26T RA
R#ssm - BEMmBEREGREE 28
HBAE T 4F BYAR TE AR TS HA o

R=ZF—NFhLA—B AEERE
ZE - N\FHERAAEBRRRER
Hitfg B REERL6118021 5
MRk FTEREBERENTEERSR
RAHERAREBEEMNEITE - BIRE
AEARRRMEESARE300ETH
B NATE - WIERIE A BB R T
B LU o

RZF—N\FE+H  ARAHUEH
FRARBIMESREETURESEE
HIBRRHE - FHIERRE32 ©

BIEA R AE £ ARK RGO % E
BR - ARAAR EmERRGEERK
WEEERNMEARBEERETEH
1,719,906,084 i % 17 ° & A1k 2 17 Al
B BT HY B IR I X PR Il AR 1 B8 o B
BIRIER D EBEITREARITE L BRE
ENLLPIZE AR - BEEH(EERIR
1M0RESENEFMZ2IIMF £ -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HREMBHwRME

For the year ended December 31,2018 #Z=Z— \G+-_A=+—HILFE

8. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES 8. URHKAERNMESEX (&)
(continued)
(c) Equity Awards after the Restructuring (continued) ) BEACZENRERRE (&

The share-based compensation expense recognized for employee
services received during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

is shown in the following table:

REBEE_ZT-N\EFR-_F-—LFt+=
A=+—B It FEESHNEBREHE
RO REROBERIN TR
IR

Year ended December 31,

BE+-HA=+—HLFE

2018 2017
—B-N\F Tt
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTT

Expense arising from equity-settled NS ER D I NEENRX

share-based payment transactions

572,191 56,783

Share options

The following table summarizes information with respect to share
options outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the

weighted average exercise prices (“"WAEP").

BRE

TRBAEMRE-F—\ER-F
—tE T A=t AHRTERR
1 5 B O 49 15 B [ I 4965
(EE AR -
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e BRI

For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—Z— \F+=-A=1+—HILFE

8. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES
(continued)

(c) Equity Awards after the Restructuring (continued)

Share options (continued)

8. URMAEBNIM I (&)

() BEEZRNRERR (&
BRE (&)

As of December 31,
BEt=A=t+-H
2018 number 2018 WAEP 2017 number 2017 WAEP
—B-N\% —E-N\% “EB—tF “T—tF
B METHTEE ¥E IMETHETRE
RMB RMB
ARH AEE
Qutstanding at January 1 R—R—BBARTE n/a n/a n/a n/a
TEA TER TEA NiEfA
Granted R 163,240,270 5.75 n/a n/a
NEA TEA
Forfeited and expired during the year & RIBEE Rk K3 (1,069,200) 5.19 n/a n/a
TEA TEA
Outstanding at ending RERBRITHE 162,171,070 5.75 n/a n/a
TEA TEA
Exercisable at ending REKRAITE — — n/a n/a
TEA TEA
There was no new share option granted during the year ended BEASEZE_T—+tF+_A=1+—

December 31,2017.

HIEFERTHBRME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P RRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 HEZE—Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

8. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES 8. LURNAERNMERZ(Z)
(continued)
(c) Equity Awards after the Restructuring (continued) (c) EH AR ERE (&F

Share options (continued) Bl (&

Based on fair value of the underlying ordinary shares, the Company has
used Binomial option-pricing model to determine the fair value of the
share option granted in 2018. Key assumptions are summarized in the

following table:

ARREREREBARNAAEE
ER—EARREEEREAAEE =
T N\FEERNBEREAAEBE
ERIENR TR :

Year ended December 31,2018
BE-Z—\F+-A=+—HLEE

Granted on Granted on Granted on

March 9, 2018 May 18,2018 September 1,2018
—E-N\F —E-N\F —ZE-N\F
=SAhAER =A+N\AER hWA—BER
RMB RMB HKD
AR AR BT
Exercise price 1 E 2.6 5.5 9.8
Risk free interest rate EJE T ped 2.98% 3.13% 2.97%
Dividend Yield PG 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Expected volatility T8 BB B = 51.59% 51.42% 51.24%

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options

outstanding as of December 31, 2018 was 9.5 years.

HE-_ZT—)\F+ZA=1+—HHEX
TENBRENINELSRSBEHTF
fRA954F o
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FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE—Z— \F+=-A=1+—HILFE

8. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES 8. URHAERNMEME(Z)
(continued)
(c) Equity Awards after the Restructuring (continued) (c) B ZENRERRE (&
Share options (continued) Bl (&)
Share options outstanding at the end of 2018 have the following expiry ZE-N\FRHEKRTEBREFSDT
date and exercise prices: REIEIE RITEE -
Number of

share options as of

Expiry date Exercise price per share option December 31,2018
—E2-N\F
+=—B=+—H
F|H R BHBRENTEE BREYE
March 9, 2028 RMB 2.6 50,630,180
—E-NF=ANE AR 26T
May 18,2028 RMB 5.5 50,630,180
—E_NFRATNR ARB55TT
August 31, 2028 HKD 9.8 60,910,710
B2 NFNA=T—H 9.8 77T

162,171,070
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FlNANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR M
For the year ended December 31,2018 #Z=Z— \G+-_A=+—HILFE

8. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES 8. UROAERNMEM=Z (&)
(continued)
(c) Equity Awards after the Restructuring (continued) (c) B ZENRERRE (&)
RSUs ZIRFIR 7 EA
The following table summarizes information with respect to RSUs TERBABAR-_ZE-—NFE_FT
arrangements as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the weighted —tF+Z A=+ —HHZRHBKRHG
average fair value ("WAFV"). BANLTEEARMEFES AR EE(

EFARAREEDOER

Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=1+-BLEE

2018 2017
“E-N\E B of 3
number WAFV number WAFV
T IET
%8 AREE L RAREE
usb usb
EY =
Outstanding at beginning REmARTE 44,186,710 091 21,586,790 086
Granted during the year FREL - — 23,500,000 095
Forfeited and expired during the year & RIE R kK — - (32,290) 09
Repurchased during the year FRED (129,760) 091 (867,790) 0.74
Outstanding and exercisable at ending FA EiREATEINR AT71E 44,056,950 091 44,186,710 091
To determine the fair value of RSUs granted during the year ended AETREE-_Z—tF+=A
December 31, 2017, the Company used discounted cash flow method St HLEFERHMNZRHIRMDE
to determine the underlying equity fair value of the Company and U AREE AARFAKRRRE
adopted equity allocation model to determine the fair value of the MEEBEEARNTEBERENR FTE
underlying ordinary share. There was no new RSU granted during the A T2 £ A AR R 9 Bic 45 =\ 72 T AH A i
year ended December 31,2018 BARBE - BE_ZE-N\F+= )EJ

=+ — B L FE W B R R SR

(VA
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

9. OTHERINCOME

9. Hitlg A

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1+—RHLLEE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ET—+F

RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBFT

Government subsidies BB 33,396 12,805

10.0OTHER GAINS, NET

10. B fth W 72 75 58

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=t—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F T F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®ETT

Investment income from short-term investments EAnBEFEEEEE AR
measured at fair value through profit or loss FAE HAIR B R9IR B IA — 10,056
Foreign exchange gain P H A 17,017 1,294
Gain on disposal of long-term investments HERHRENKRA — 753
Gain on disposal of other asset i H A B E A YA 584 —
Others Hth 30,287 10,507

47,888 22,610




11.FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R SRR M
For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

N.UERARER

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1t—BHLLEE

—Z— )\&FE4F3R | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T

Finance income BRI A
Interest income on bank deposits IRITIF A F BHA 12,734 9,800
Others EHAfth 154 345
12,888 10,145

Finance costs &R
Service fee for bank guarantee RITERAORE & (241) (475)
Others EHfth (3,095) 312
(3,336) (163)
Net finance income R N2 9,552 9,982
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FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 12.FiB 8% (E%)
The income tax expense/(credit) of the Group for the years ended December AEBEBE-Z-\FR_Z—tF+=
31,2018 and 2017 is analyzed as follows: A=+t—RLEFEMMERHAX (EkE)
DT

Year ended December 31,

BE+t-A=+—-HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F =T +F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTT

Current income tax BVERFRIS AR 215,596 5,603
Deferred income tax (Note 20) IRIEFT1SH (5T 20) (148,609) (65,959)
66,987 (60,356)
(a) Cayman Islands income tax (a) HEHEMRBH
Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not BIERSHEERITER  ARAIHBAE
subject to tax on the Company's income or capital gains. In addition, AR B AW A S E R A BT o 11
no Cayman Islands withholding tax is imposed upon any payments of N BER B IR B SRR = B
dividends. STEF ©
(b) Hong Kong income tax (b) BEFRIEF
Entities incorporated in Hong Kong are subject to Hong Kong profits tax REBAMK YN ELZERIESFER
at a rate of 16.5% on the assessable profits for the periods presented, 50 REREMNRTE2FRBEIE
based on the existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect T2 16.5% FiFE SR T A B A B B 715

thereof. i e



—Z— )\&FE4F3R | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P RRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued)

(c)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

CIT provision was made on the estimated assessable profits of
entities within the Group incorporated in the PRC for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, calculated in accordance with the
relevant regulations of the PRC after considering the available tax
benefits from refunds and allowances. The general PRC CIT rate is 25%
during the the year ended December 31, 2018 (2017: 25%).

One of the Company's subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC is qualified
as High and New Technology Enterprise, and accordingly, it is subject to
a reduced preferential CIT rate of 15% for the year ended December 31,

2018 according to the applicable CIT law.

Another subsidiary of the Company acquired upon the Acquisition, is
qualified as High and New Technology Enterprise, and accordingly, it is
subject to a reduced preferential CIT rate of 15% during the year ended
December 31,2018 (2017: 15%).

Other subsidiaries of the Company incorporated in the PRC are subject
to the general PRC CIT rate of 25% during the year ended December 31,
2018 (2017: 25%).

12.Fi88x% (ER) (&
(c) FREIEEMES([EEMED])

REBEEZZE-—N\FEZZFT—tF+=
A=+—HBLFE Bt EEM
B AREEANE A G ERT R
FIEHDEMGHRERE  CEMBH
BEDKEERRERT RN TH
MEBEERBEREABEERTH -
RBE_Z-N\F+_HA=+—8I
FE - PECEMESHBHEEER 2%
ZE—F 1 25%) °

ARA—RERFBEEMKZNFRA
EERERGHEMEE - Bt R
BERCEMBRE  ZTRARE
ET-N\F+_A=+—HILFE
EREEIRAEEEHEETE15%
B -

AARRBESTEFRENS —RF
REERERSNEMEZE - Bitt
ZTREIRBE=ZZE—N\NF+=A
=+ —BILEFEEREERNDERR
BHREERER156(—T—+4F : 15%)

RARR AP BEFMAZEMFRA]
RBE-_Z-N\F+_A=+—8I
FREERBE—MREMERTE 25% 8
B(ZT—+%F : 25%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

For the year ended December 31,2018 H#E—ZT— \FE+=-_A=+—HILFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued)
(d) PRC Withholding Tax (“WHT")

12.Fr88iBA% (%) ()
) FREITRNBL(T TR

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends distributed
by a company established in the PRC to a foreign investor with
respect to profits derived after 1 January 2008 are generally subject
to a 10% WHT. If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong meets
the conditions and requirements under the double taxation treaty
arrangement entered into between the PRC and Hong Kong, the

relevant withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group does
not have any plan to require its PRC subsidiaries to distribute their
retained earnings and intends to retain them to operate and expand
its business in the PRC. Accordingly, no deferred income tax liability on
WHT was provided as of December 31, 2018 (2017: nil).

The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the tax rate of 25% for the year ended
December 31, 2018 (2017: 25%), being the tax rate of the major

subsidiaries of the Group. The difference is analyzed as follows:

BIBERTBEREER - ERBIKL
WARRIIEEZREEDRBER =T
TNF—A—BEEENRNARS
—RRIBBIAN 10% TR o MR E BT
MR HINEIRE B TS R BEES
Z BRI K& ERT 0T 2 BRI GG
RAETE - AFERETEMNRIR E 45 R 10% 8

DE5Y o

RBE_Z-N\FR_ZE—+F+=
A=+—HItFE" $%@Iﬁ&ﬂ
AEERETBEFRRDIRERER
ﬂ&ﬁ%1m%ﬂuﬁ¢lﬁ & I f
REXK - At RBEE_T—N\F

A=+—R BERBRARER

&+
EREE
n
4@

SHEaE(ZTE—tF &) -

ERAEERBANZFOBIEE R
FABE-_Z—N\F+=-ZA=+—H
I FEORIR2506(ZF—+H4F 1 25%)
(NAEBEZEFARINBR)EEE
ERERERE EEAOMAT ¢
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=Z— \F+=A=+—HILFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued)
(d) PRC Withholding Tax (“WHT") (continued)

12.FrBHMAx, (ER) (&)
(d) REITRINBL(TFRINBL D) (4

Year ended December 31

BE+-A=1t—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Profit before income tax KR FR 4S8 A F 601,526 134,021
Tax calculated at PRC statutory tax rate of 25% 32 BIATE R R 25% st EHFIIA 150,382 33,505
Tax effects of: NI EIEHREZE
Preferential income tax rates and tax differential B FTS = R AT
from the statutory tax rate R =78 (133,190) (18,075)
Super deduction for research and ft 35 2 B NETHABR (a)
development expenses (a) (40,951) (18,142)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (b) BEHFFRX (b) 210,019 16,148
Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses &)l ¢ B R FERR B TB A5 18 )
and temporary differences TR AR (122,778) (74,079)
Others Ht 3,505 287
Income tax expense/(credit) 8w (ER) 66,987 (60,356)

(@) According to the relevant tax laws and regulations in the PRC,
that was effective from 2008 onwards, enterprises engaging in
research and development activities are entitled to claim 150%
(it was updated to 175% in September 2018 and applicable
for the year ended December 31, 2018) of their research and
development expenses so incurred as tax deductible expenses

when determining their assessable profits for the year.

(b) The expenses not deductible for tax purposes for the year
ended December 31, 2018 mainly attributes to the share-based
compensation expenses (Note 8), and reorganization cost (Note
27(a)).

@ REFPBEE-ZTZTNFREZN
HEBBERENR  REHEE
FNCENEBETFERERTAE
K ARZERKEHEENHERS
B 1500 (KR =T — N\FNAEH
Z175% BEEARBE_T—N\F
+TZA=+—HIEFE)IETN
WIIERE -

b) BE_FT-—NFF+_A=t—HLE
FE - FAEHARAENRAX T ER
BRI A B A7) 73 EE it &0 385 B A S (PHY
it 8) REMARA (K 27(a)) °
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FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

13.EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(a) Basic

Basic earnings or loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2018

and 2017 are calculated by dividing the profit or loss attribute to the

Company's equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the respective year.

13.8RER(FHE)
xR

BHE-_Z—\FRrR=ZZE—tF+=A
St —HLEFENTRERNE R LE
BIRARRBIERFFE ABRBERRER
LA F AL ZEITL @R INEEISE
ETHE o

(a)

Year ended December 31,

BE+=-A=t—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —ET—+F
(restated)
€<=7)

Net profit attributable to the owners RABER NER SR FEE
of the Company (RMB'000) (ARETT) 529,957 195,575

Weighted average numbers of ordinary BT T RN T 58

shares in issue(' 000) (Note (i), (ii)) (FR%) CBRZE ) ~ (i) 1,584,181 260,518
Basic earnings per share (RMB) (Note (ii)) BRERZN(ARE) (MEE ) 0.33 0.75

Note:

Wi

(ii)

Please refer to the notes on share capital and share premium (Note 29)
regarding the change in the number of shares.

Pursuant to the share premium account of the Company being credited as a
result of the Listing, the Company allotted and issued a total of 1,719,906,084
shares by way of capitalisation of the credit of the share premium account
upon the Listing. The number of ordinary shares in issue prior to the
capitalisation issue is adjusted in accordance with the proportional change
in the number of outstanding ordinary shares after the share issue as if
the event (the de facto 1:10 stock split) had occurred at the beginning of
2018. For the purposes of historical comparison, the historical figure for the
average number of shares in each fiscal year ending prior to the conversion
date will be adjusted for the Stock Split when calculating the earnings per
share.

(i)

(ii)

FRRMHBERD  F2HERARRN
a1 8 BT E (P RE 29) -

BIEA R B E £ AR & E
B ARATR EHE RS HER
NEBEEA LT AEEREITAHE
1,719,906,084 8% 5 - EAR{LEITAIE
BITERREBERIBRMBITERERIT
FEBERHE OO EEETHE - B
mEYF (BEELRIMBESS) %L
EZT—N\F - BRBELRER
G E BRI  EREBHRIESE
FREENFHRMEBENBERTHE
1TR% -
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE =T —N\F+=_A=+—HItFE

13.EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (continued)
(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion

of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

As of December 31, 2018, 4,405,695 (December 31, 2017: 4,418,671)
ordinary shares were issued to certain employees. However, the
shareholder’ rights of these shares were restricted and would be vested
over certain service periods. Accordingly, these shares were accounted
for as RSUs. The Group did not include these ordinary shares in the
calculation of basic earnings per share for the years ended December
31, 2018 (2017: nil) as these shares are not considered outstanding for

earnings per share calculation purposes.

As of December 31, 2018, 163,240,270 share options were granted in
total and were not included in the calculation of dilutive loss per share,

as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

13.8REF,(&ER)(F)
(b) 378

FREBAEN(BR)VBERRED
BOTEBREOMEFOBEE - IR
RAIEEEHELARDESES -

ESZ —ET-NF+=ZA=+—8"
4405695 EBBR(ZE—+F+ =
HE+ H:441867108) B %17 F
HETEE - A ZERMDBOKRFR
FZEIR G - W R E T RS R A

BE o Hib - ZFBROIERRRHIK
MEMAR - BEZ-_T—-N\F+-A
=t—BLEEFE AEERFEESR
EXBNSYEFARSTEER(ZF
—tF 8 RESZSEBRMNHMFTE
BREN NS LEBR DD BHITEI

BE-Z-/\FT-A=+—-0 4
1632402700 AR WX L - BEF

EORBEEERTEST AZSER
- AATAZSERESSABR
BEEE o

225



226

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | FEfR2E5EZERER AT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FE M BIwRMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

13.EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (continued)

(b) Diluted (continued)

13.8REF,(BE) (&)
(b) #E (A&

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1t—RHLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
(Restated)
(#&:7)

Net profit attributable to the owners RABER NEMLRF)FEE

of the Company (RMB'000) (ARETT) 529,957 195,575
Adjustment for redeemable convertible AJ & [] AT $A AR (2 5T AR F B

preferred shares (RMB'000) (AR¥%F7T) (907,734) (97,576)
Net (loss)/profit for calculation of diluted ATEERES R (FBE)8

earnings/(loss) per share (RMB'000) (B18) #FFEARET T (377,777) 97,999
Weighted average number of ordinary BEIT T AR N T HE(FR’R)

shares in issue ('000) 1,584,181 260,518
Adjustments for redeemable convertible ] i [B] AT #A AR 8 S R B (%)

preferred shares ('000) 111,117 605,340
Adjustments for RSUs granted to BT EENZR GG B

employees (' 000) B FEE (FAR) = 11,666
Weighted average number of ordinary ATHERESRT (B8

shares for calculation of diluted TR N e (TR

earnings/(loss) per share ('000) 1,695,298 877,524
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (RMB) gl (BE) BAI(ARE) (0.22) 0.11
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R SRR M
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE =T —N\F+=_A=+—HItFE

14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.9% - MERZE

Furniture, fixtures Leasehold Construction
Building  ITequipment and motor vehicle Software  improvements in progress Total
K- BHE
BT EfiRE RERER B HEHE HEIR S
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTT ARBT T N S ARBT T NS ARBT T
At January 1,2018 R=E-N§E-A-AH
Cost AR — 174,841 11,420 174,167 13,564 356,565 730,557
Accumulated depreciation ZiE - (107,512) (9,406) (162,567) (9,350) - (288,835)
Net book amount BEFE — 67,329 2,014 11,600 4214 356,565 441,722
Year ended December 31,2018 BZ=Z-N\F
TZA=+-BLEE
Opening net book amount FREFE — 67,329 2,014 11,600 4,214 356,565 441,722
Addition through business BREBEHRE
combination (Note 33) (FiH3E33) - 136,114 1,644 23,273 8123 89,646 258,800
Transfer from construction EEIiENES
in progress 391,768 = = = = (391,768) =
Other additions HiRE - 182,849 5278 3,037 2,655 166,105 359,924
Depreciation charge hEE (2,478) (96,342) (1,905) (10,322) (5,608) = (116,655)
Disposal & = (3,151) (550) (496) (4,060) (1173) (9,430)
Closing net book amount FREAFE 389,290 286,799 6,481 27,092 5324 219,375 934,361
At December 31,2018 RZF-N\F
+=R=1+-8
Cost PR 391,768 589,270 18,274 208,290 15,440 219,375 1,442,417
Accumulated depreciation i (2,478) (302,471) (11,793) (181,198) (10,116) - (508,056)
Net book amount BEFE 389,290 286,799 6,481 27,092 5,324 219,375 934,361
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

14.9%  BERREB(E)

Furniture,
fixtures and Leasehold Construction
IT equipment motor vehicle Software  improvements in progress Total
RE BEEEE
ERRE REH g4 HEHE HEIR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBT T ARBTR AR®T T ARBTR ARETR
At January 1,2017 R=E-t5-A-H
Cost AR 158,034 12222 174824 13719 358,799
Accumulated depreciation  23HHTE (95,101) (9088) (145,300) (8236) (257,725)
Net book amount WREFE 62933 3,134 29524 5483 101,074
Year ended BE-Z—tF
December 31,2017 +ZA=t-HLEE
Opening net bookamount ~ EHIREFE 62933 3,134 29,524 5483 — 101,074
Additions AE 30,239 446 130 138 356,565 387,518
Depreciation charge nEE (24311) (1387) (18,054) (1,325) — (45,077)
Disposal HE (1532) (179) — (82) — (1,793)
Closing net book amount FREDFE 67329 2014 11,600 4214 356,565 441,722
At December 31,2017 R-E—t&§
+=A=+-A
Cost B 174,841 11,420 174,167 13,564 356,565 730,557
Accumulated depreciation  REHHTE (107,512) (9,406) (162,567) (9350) — (288,835)
Net book amount REFE 67329 2014 11,600 4214 356,565 441,722
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R SRR M
For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 14.9% - MERRE(E)
Depreciation expenses have been charged to the consolidated statement of R EHXREHROFEBRDT :

profit or loss as follows:

Year ended December 31,

BET-A=+—-HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000

AR®T T ARBTT

COST OF REVENUE Wea AR 101,442 39,961
Service development expenses AR 75 A 25 5 <2 8,773 4072
Administrative expenses TRER 6,159 905
Selling and marketing expenses HERZIHER 281 139
116,655 45077

Note:  As of December 31, 2018, buildings with carrying amount of RMB391,768,000 izt : HZEZZ—N\F+_A=+—8" @

was pledged as security for the Group's bank borrowings of RMB172,305,000 B 5 AR ¥ 391,768,000 7T F9 1 F B K 3§

(Note 24). TERZ R BIRTT &R AR 172,305,000

TURVFER (FfRE 24) -

The total interest of borrowing were fully capitalised in construction in HE-_ZT-—N\F+_A=1+—HIEFE"
progress with amount of RMB1.7 million (2017: RMB8.7 million) for the ERIREFNNEABEARBI7TAEET
year ended December 31, 2018, with the capitalisation rate of 5.39% (2017 ZE—+F: ARBTEET)EEBH
5.39%). B BERMERDR/S390%(—F—+

F :539%) °
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

15.INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

15. X AR EARNKRE

Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=t+—ALER

2018 2017

—E-N\E T4

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREFT

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR F1) 37,618 39,869
Addition (b) NE (b) 15,681 —
Shares of results DIhELE (4,568) (2,251)
At the end of the year FR 48,731 37618

Note:

Equity Method Investment - 2012 Affiliate Company

In 2012, the Group acquired 30% equity interest in an unlisted company (the “2012
Affiliate Company”) at RMB5.6 million. The Company accounted for its investment
using the equity method. In 2013, the 2012 Affiliate Company changed its
business focus to property management software development, which was
considered as better business collaboration with the Group. As such, in 2014, the
Group acquired an additional 19% equity interest in the associate at consideration
of RMB76,663,000.

In 2015, the Group reached an agreement with a third party to sell a 2.5% equity
interest in the 2012 Affiliate Company with the carrying value of RMB3,736,000 for
cash consideration of RMB13,750,000, and recognized a gain of RMB10,014,000
on the date of the disposal.

The Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate are impaired at each reporting date. Based on the
Company's assessments, although the 2012 Affiliate Company incurred operating
losses in the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company concluded
that no impairment charge against its investment in the associate is required after
considering various factors in assessing the fair value of the associate, including
but not limited to its business developments as measured by revenue, transaction
volume and market shares as well as the reference to the equity transactions in
the market and equity value of benchmark companies.

A1 & — 2012 Affiliate Company

RZZE—ZF AEBUARKS6H
Bt A — B LA E2012 Affiliate
Company ) 45 & 30% R # o ZX X & £% F #&
HAARERE - RZT— =4 2012
Affiliate Company i E EBKE LB RS
BEAME  WERAEAEERE—PER
A Al R-ZT—M4E - KEEURE
A R ¥ 76,663,000 7T Y g B & 2 B BB AN 19%
f&HE o

RZZE—RF AEEE-—FF=FEK
Wik LIRS NREARM13,750,0007T H
£ 2012 Affiliate CompanylRE B & A R
3,736,000 7L Y 2.5% AR #E - SR E E B i#ER
WA AR 10,014,000 7T ©

ARBRIAR T ERBEEREARBE AN
BEEERE B HSERE - BEAQATH
FF{E - B 9R 2012 Affilate Company REIE =
T N\ERZT—+tF+ZA=FT—HILHF
ERBEERE  BRARQ RS BT EH
ZEARABESRNSERZ(BEETR
RERBA - RHSBRTBNEFENFEL
BERUARSEMSRER S REEQTHR
REBE)RGLHER  ARBEANKRER
MRERX -
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For the year ended December 31,2018 #{Z= =

15.INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Note: (continued)

(b)

Addition

In May 2018, the Group invested 15% equity interest in an unlisted company (the
2018 Affiliate Company”) with a consideration of RMB 12.5 million. The Company
has right to appoint one director of the 2018 Affiliate Company. In addition, the
Company also obtained a call option to increase its equity interest in the 2018
Affiliate Company by additional 3.75% with zero consideration if the 2018 Affiliate
Company fails to achieve certain pre-agreed performance target in the next 12
month after the date of the investment.

The Company accounts for the derivative of call option as financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss and bifurcates from the total
consideration. As of the date of the investment, the fair value of the financial
assets was RMB2,708,000. The remaining consideration of RMB9,792,000 is
attributed to the 15% equity interest of the 2018 Affiliate Company and is
accounted for using equity method.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group's shareholding percentage
in two of the then subsidiaries was reduced to 40% due to either share transfer or
share dilution caused by capital injection of the shareholders and thereafter the
Group acounted for them as associates using equity method.

The Company's investments in affiliates, either accounted for using equity

method or measured at fair value through profit and loss, are not considered

material in individual or aggregated basis in the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017.

e M RAR R
—NF+-A=+—ALLFE

15. 5% AR EARNIRE(F)

M - (&)
) AE

RZZ-NFHA AEEUAARK125
BETHRER —KIE LW RRI(2018
Affiliate Companyl) & & 15% 8 Ik #E - KA
RAIBREZE—52018 Affiliate Company H)E
= o kAN ¢ /2018 Affiliate Company Ri%#&E
HEABE % 1218 A K § iﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%iﬁ'ﬂ%xﬁ
BiE - RARMALERERS—IEREH
HE - EMEEE M 2018 Affiliate Company HIAR
REIEAN3.75% °

RNARERBIRETERARIER AR E
B EEHEHFAZHBEINEREE
THARE B HEREAH  SpEE

E’J’Aﬁtﬁﬁi)%/\iﬁgzjo&oooﬁ o FERMK

BEARY 9,792,000 T 5 A 2018 Affiliate

Company 15% &A% #E 3F i F #E 2202 51) B o

BE-T—N\F+-A=+—ALFE &
R HR SR AR E R HRE - &
EERARBENT A TNOERE H 1 TR
5] 40% - A BR 2 BT R EABLES

BEAF -

ADRERHETIRRIEZA A BET B
BB BT AY BN BE 2 TR
ERBE-T-\ER-F—+tF+=5
=+ BULFE AL EIRERIR R
BRBERX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRERMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 HEZ —Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

16.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

As of December 31,
BE+=-A=t-H
2018 2017
—B-N\E —tF
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARMET T ARBFT
Assets as per consolidated statement of REMBRRRNEE
financial position
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: BARBEFELHZEHTA
EHBERNeREE
— Long term investments measured at —RAnBESEEREHEH
fair value through profit or loss (Note 17) AEHBERAHRIKRE
(BtzE17) 52,442 25,239
— Short-term investments measured at fair —RAnEENEEEEZHAEH
value through profit or loss (Note 17) BEMEHREE (ME17) 2,570,170 236,107
Financial assets at amortized costs: REERAAENEREE
~ Trade receivables (Note 22) — & F A (i 22) 857,326 539217
— Other receivables (Note 21) — H U EoE (s 21) 298,119 115,400
— Time deposits (Note 17) —EHER(EE17) 261,086 —
~ Restricted cash (Note 23) —RBHIRE (MEE23) 140,930 170,541
- Cash and cash equivalents (Note 23) -Re KR EFEW(HE23) 3,143,883 701,748
7,323,956 1,788,252
Liabilities as per consolidated statement of REMBRRENEE
financial position
Financial liabilities at amortized cost: REHENAARNSRAE
— Trade payables (Note 26) B 5 5E (3T 26) 2,569,092 114917
- Other payables (Note 27) — H b e 3R IE (Pt 27) 706,598 120,610
- Borrowings (Note 24) — &R (FT3E 24) 172,305 191,997
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: ZAREEFEEEEZETA
EHERNERARE
- Redeemable convertible preferred shares (Note 25) — A FE B TR R B S AR (P 3E 25) — 6,347,647
3,447,995 7775171
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17.INVESTMENTS 17.88
As of December 31,
BE+=-RA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEF T
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Short-term investments measured at HHARE
— Amortized cost (a) — IR AT E () 261,086 —
— Fair value through profit or loss (b) —RARBHEFEEHEH
T AR BIER (b) 2,570,170 236,107
2,831,256 236,107
Non-current assets FRBEE
Long-term investments measured at mAnEEFEAHEHA
fair value through profit or loss (c) EHBRARIIEE 52,442 25,239

(@) Short-term investments measured at amortized cost

Short-term investments measured at amortized cost are time deposits

within one year with fixed interest rates, denominated in RMB. The

investments are held for collection of contractual cash flow and the

contractual cash flows of these investments qualify for solely payments

of principal and interest, hence they are measured at amortized costs.

None of these investments are past due.

(a) RBEAAFTTENEHRE

BRBHER AT ENERREREER
TN —FAEHEFHR RARKES
B - HEREANRKBMADORER
B MZFRENANRTRERE
RERRINASEME - Btz
HKAE - ZFREMESS -
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For the year ended December 31,2018 #{Z =%

—N\F+ZA=+—HILFE

17.INVESTMENTS (continued)

(b) Short-term investments measured at fair value through

(c)

profit or loss

The short-term investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss are wealth management products, denominated in RMB, with
expected rates of return ranging from 2.8% to 6.5%, per annum for the
year ended December 31, 2018 (2017: 1.5% to 6.0%). The returns on all
of these wealth management products are not guaranteed, hence their
contractual cash flows do not qualify for solely payments of principal
and interest. Therefore they are measured at fair value through profit or

loss. None of these investments are past due.

The fair values are based on cash flow discounted using the expected
return based on management judgment and are within level 3 of the

fair value hierarchy.

Long-term investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, long-term investments measured at
fair value through profit or loss are equity interests and derivative held

by the Group in several private companies in the PRC.

The equity interests held by the Group in the private companies are (i)
less than 20% of each entity and the Group does not have control nor
significant influence over each of these entities, or (i) not considered
to be substantively the same as ordinary share due to the investment
having a substantive liquidation preference or redemption rights.
Therefore, these investments are classified as long-term investments

measured at fair value through profit or loss.

17.R& (&)

) BERAEEER
S EHRE

BRAABEFTEEHEEH T ABEN
CHIRE REMER UAREKEE
B BE-_Z—-N\F+=-A=+—H
LEFE SFBEHRHKRENN28%E
65%(ZF —HEF : 15%FE60%) ° BT
EZERMERNERTEER B
IEENEHNREREALTEERE
ARAEEFMEMNR - B ERFELEA
ABEFEAHEIHT AERTE -
ZERER EEE o

HEBBITAR

T

nl

AEENERAEREEEAHBNE
B RIZA RN S REFE - WES
/% /L\/Lfg@u

||| zEé D)

BAnEEITEAEZEHTAR
@M RAKRE
RE-F-\FR-F—LF+-7
=R AL EEEEELE
SHARESHRBRAATEERED

FEETRARRNBRERITER -

REBRILARRRAENRERIE
HERESEREMN20%  AEEHZEER
BEEHEZENETREATE

(WAREHEELEEB A ENE
MR AT EREEER -
It ZEREDERBRAABENE
BEHZSF ABRNRBIKRE -

=

|H|E]E35|7/



17.INVESTMENTS (continued)

(c)

(d) Amounts recognized in profit or loss

Long-term investments measured at fair value through

profit or loss (continued)

As of December 31, 2018, the derivate held by the Group are

—Z— )\&FE4F3R | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FE M mERMEE
For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=Z— \F+=A=+—HILFE

17.R& (&)

? Y bﬁﬁﬂ’iﬂ LSBT AR

BHE_Z-—/N\F+_A=+—H K

the derivative call option with equity investee’s shareholders of SEBEENTERARERKRERR

RMB2,969,000 (December 31, 2017: nil) (Note 15).

R PT A R B R A R 2,969,000 7T
—E—+EFE+-A=+—08: )M
£T15) ©

The fair values of the long-term investments are measured using a RHBRENAAEBENRBAEETT

valuation technique with unobservable inputs and hence classified as
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The major assumptions used in the

valuation for investment in private companies refer to Note 4.3.

BB ABEBENBETEANE 8O
BRAAEBEEANFE=H LAR
AREGBEPEANTIZERRZ2EM
FT430

(d) I'K\\EEEEWUE’J« )\IE

Year ended December 31,

BE+T-A=1+—HLEFE

2018 2017
—EB-N\E S
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARETT

Fair value changes in long-term investments

Fair value changes in short-term investments

measured at fair value through profit or loss

REPKENAAREBEE 4,495 (1,199)
T L\\) 1 {EE‘I—EHE ibn-l-A
BEEBREAAEBEES 74,077 2,062

78,572 863
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18.LAND USE RIGHT 18. L ihfE FARE
RMB'000

AR®ET T
AtJanuary 1,2018 R=—Z—N\F—H—H
Cost AR =
Accumulated amortization BT =
Net book value BRI A =
Year ended December 31,2018 BE-Z—\F+-A=+—HLFE
Addition through the business combination (Note 33) BRFEBEAE (FFE33) 16,310
Amortization charge BB A (272)
Closing net book value HREREHE 16,038
At December 31,2018 R=B-NF+=-H=+—-H
Cost BN 16,780
Accumulated amortization BT (742)
Net book value BREF(E 16,038




19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE =T —N\F+=_A=+—HItFE

19. 8L EE

Business

cooperation

Business arrangement

relationship and internet

and domain

Goodwill customer Trade  Technology names
(Notec) lists names platform (Note a) Others Total

EBafERY

B EBEE REBRLE
(M) REFLE B%  BWYa (GET) At @t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTn ARET:R

Yearended December31,2018  HZE=F-N\§E

TZA=t-HLEE
Opening net book amount HEEFE 184,242 212 10,015 - 114272 90 308,831
Addition through business BBEBAMRE

combination (Note 33) (PzE33) 3,608,555 1,755,976 1,762,340 240,265 598,677 25,993 7,991,806

Other addition HiRE — — — — 40 — 40
Amortization charge BiHER — (122,045) (5,676) (33,370) (175,739) (2,207) (339,037)
Closing net book amount HREEFE 3792797 1,634,143 1,766,679 206,895 537,250 23876 7,961,640
At December 31,2018 RZE-N\%

+-A=t-R
Cost R 3,798,321 1765677 1850377 240265 1,164,207 37995 8,856,842
Accumulated amortization ZitEH = (131,534) (43,296) (33,370) (626,402) (14,119) (848,721)
Impairment WA (5,524) = (40,402) = (555) = (46,481)
Net book amount REFE 3,792,797 1,634,143 1,766,679 206,895 537,250 23,876 7,961,640
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19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

19. 8L EE(&E)

Business
cooperation
Business armangement
relationship and internet
and domain
Goodwil customer Trade  Technology names
(Note ¢) fists names platform (Note a) Others Total
EBEERH
HE EHBE &L e
(Mo REPEE ki Riita (Mizra) £t @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR AREBTT ARETR ARETT ARETT AR%ETR
Yearended December31,2017  BE=ZF—tf
TZA=t-HLEE
Opening net book amount BEHEE 18424 895 15,742 - 146921 104 347,904
Amortization charge BHER - (683) (5727) = (32649) (14 (39073)
Closing net book amount BAREEFE 184,24 212 10015 - 114272 90 308831
At December 31,2017 RZZ-t%
t=A=1-H
Cost KA 189,766 9,701 88037 - 166,295 5,159 458958
Accumulated amortization 23t = (9:489) (37,620) — (51,468) (5,069) (103646)
Impairment WA (5.524) — (40402) - (555) - (46:481)
Net book amount REFE 184,24 212 10015 - 114272 90 308831
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19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Note:

(a)

Business cooperation arrangement

In July 2016, the Company entered into a Strategic Cooperation Arrangement
with one of its shareholders (the “Shareholder”), which includes a Business
Cooperation Arrangement and a compensation to promotion and marketing
service rendered by the Shareholder to the Company by issuing 11,111,111
Preferred Shares of the Company. The Business Cooperation Arrangement
has a term of five years and the Shareholder will deploy certain agreed-upon
business resources to the Company to increase the user traffic of the Company’s
platform. The Company assessed and concluded that the Business Cooperation
Arrangement was qualified as an intangible asset to recognize in separate from
the total consideration. Based on the valuation performed by the Company with
assistance from the independent appraisal, the fair value of the 11,111,111 newly
issued Preferred Shares was RMB1,208 million, out of which RMB163 million
was attributable to the fair value of Business Cooperation Arrangement which
is recorded as intangible asset and amortized over five years under straight line
method, the remaining RMB1,045 million represented the compensation for the
promotion and marketing service rendered by the Shareholder and was recorded
as selling and marketing expense upon the issuance of the Preferred Shares.

Upon the Acquisition of Tongcheng Network consummated on March 9,
2018, a separate business cooperation arrangement with fair value of RMB599
million was acquired by the Group. In July 2015, Tongcheng Online Business
entered into business cooperation arrangement with the Shareholder, who
would deploy certain agreed-upon business resources to Tongcheng Online
Business. Tongcheng Online Business assessed and concluded that the business
cooperation arrangement was qualified for capitalisation as an intangible asset
and amortized over the contractual beneficial period of 3.4 years under straight
line method.

Trade names

The trade names balance as of December 31, 2017 represent trade name
acquired by the Group before the years presented which is with finite useful life
of 5 years (“trade name with finite useful life"). The balance as of December 31,
2018 comprised of the trade name with finite useful life and the trade name of
Tongcheng brand arising from the Acquisition on March 9, 2018 (Note 33) which
is with indefinite useful life. Impairment assessment of the trade names are as
follows:

(i) Impairment tests for trade names with a finite useful life

In 2015, changes in circumstances in the geographical territory covered by
one of the Company's subsidiaries indicated that the carrying value of the
trade name might not be recoverable. With the assistance of an external
valuer, the management of the Group decided to write down the value
of trade name to its fair value less cost of disposal, which was measured
using the relief from royalty method. As such, an impairment charge of
RMB40,401,740 was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2015.

The Company did not identify any impairment indicator as of December 31,
2018 and 2017.

19. 8 EE (&)

Wi

(a)

X AERH

RZT—RFtA ARAHEEP—FRE
(TRRR DI BB A ELHE - BRBIEER
BELRHERBRRAAQBIRME B REHR
B - FRXREIT I NLINBRAEARR
BR - EBAELTHABRE - RBRFES
FARE THEEBER T AR AEMAER
RITFEMBERE - NAREERE - %
BEEL R ERIERBER EEHBARE
DR o RIBEARRQREB LT EEIHE T
ETOFE 1IN BB TEERSY
AAEBEAARKI28EETL EFAR
BI3EBTAEBESELHNAREBET
REAETLEESAESENTFERNEH -
BRTARKIM-EETARRREHRNEE
R RIS RN R B ATE R E R A
HEREHEMASL -

HRABMEMOEBR - NF=ANBx
K% AEEEG-—NAAEBEASARK
599 B BT ERI KRB A FLHE - R4 L
EBR_T-AFE ARBRRILEBAE
2 ZBRRARRR EEBLES THE
MEBEIR - AR LEBFELREZE
BEAERHAERERNCREREE KA
XML EAORETHEIE - RERLED
HERRBA  EBAFRIERRERNMEAE
WEEGRHUBRBEREEIAFNANE
s AR -

B

 E_E—tE+-A=+—BNREREH
RRAEERFA2NFEEMBENER(E
AfEAFEHER - A5 FIEARAEHAFH
WEkl) BE-_Z—N\Ft+-A=+—A8
WEHRBIEERRERAFHNERL=-F
—N\FZANBRBEANAERAFEASF
MM RR RIS (R 33) - ERARERT
(ERORNE

() RBERAERFHEREERR

RZZE—RHF ARRHA—FEFAF
F s i i S B B R e SR AV BRTE B 7]
REMEILE] o TEINBIGERTEHEIT
AEBERBATEEROEEHRE
ERRnBEBEEKRA WEHRARHNE
FEELNE - Bt BE-_T—HF
TZ A=+ —HIEFESSRERIA
R ¥ 40,401,740 TC °

ARFREBEZZE—\FRZE—tF
T A=+ BRERI(TREIEE -
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19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Note: (Continued)

(b)

Trade names (Continued)
(i) Impairment tests for trade name with indefinite useful life

Given the trade name with indefinite useful life and goodwill arose from
the acquisition of Tongcheng Online Business are attributable to the same
group of CGUs of the Company, the Company performed the impairment
tests for trade name with indefinite useful life together with that for
goodwill as of December 31, 2018. Please refer to impairment tests of
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life as disclosed in note
(c) below for details.

Impairment tests for goodwill

As of December 31, 2018, the Company's goodwill includes (1) goodwill of
RMB3,609 million recognized from the Acquisition of Tongcheng Online Business
on March 9, 2018 (Note 33); and (2) goodwill of RMB184 million recognized from
the acquisitions before the years presented.

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company performed
impairment reviews for the goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful
life annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. For impairment purpose, the carrying value of the group
of CGUs containing goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life,
is compared to the recoverable amount which is determined based on the
higher amount of the fair value less cost of disposal (‘FVLCD") and value-in-use
("VIU") calculations. Since management reviews the business performance of
the Group and operates the trade name of Tongcheng brand at group level as a
single segment, the Company used one group of CGUs (the “group of CGUs") in
assessing the impairment for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful
life (including the trade name of Tongcheng brand as disclosed in note (b) (i)
above).

As of December 31, 2018, the recoverable amount of this Group was determined
based on FVLCD, which was estimated by management with reference to the
transaction price of the Company'’s listed shares in the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Management considered the recoverable
amount of the Group was higher than its carrying amount as of December 31,
2018.

Based on the result of the above impairment testing, the estimated recoverable
amount exceeded its carrying amount of the group of CGUs (the “Headroom”) by
approximately RMB11,204 million as of December 31, 2018.

19. 8L EE(&E)

MsE - (&)

(b)

w5k (&)
(i BRI A F AR SRR E A&

NN RZ R E X ES R RERA
EAFHNER ARG RENARR
F—ARRESELEM  AARHEE
—E-N\F+ZA=+—HHNEERA
ERFHOERNLEEET T RER
Ao FBEFL2HATXMEORENE
BRAERAERAFHNETLEERE
A o

A ERE R

HE_ZT—N\F+-_A=+—8 " &~RaH
BAERENOR-ZE—N\F=AhB5KkE
FARRG - EXBEIRNEEBARE36008 B
TC(MIFE33) + R Q)R FT 25 F E ATt U8
ROEEBARKI4EET -

REE_ZTE—N\FER-_ZE—+tF+=A
“+—HLEFE  ARGRESEHEERAE
PR fE A EHNEREEETRER - M
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EHEEERAERAFERAEFHNEREAE
(B EXHE b)) HENRIZREER)
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SEEBEMMER]) -

BHE_ZT—N\F+=-A=+—8 ' x£EHN
AR EI & EIRE A BESERLERA
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19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Note: (Continued)

(@]

Impairment tests for goodwill (Continued)

As of December 31, 2017, the management did the VIU calculations to determine
the recoverable amount. These VIU calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the management for the next five-year
period using the estimated growth in revenue with a range of 5.9% to 19.8% and
gross profit margin with a range from 67.8% to 75.1% based on the following
considerations:

® The revenue growth rates was determined by the five-year sales volume
and commission rate forecast, which is determined based on the past
performance, the current industry trend and management's expectations of
market development; and

®  Gross margin is the average margin as a percentage of revenue over the
five-year forecast period. It is based on the current gross margin levels
and products mix, with adjustments made to reflect the expected future
commission rate and products mix.

The cash flows are extrapolated using the terminal growth rate not exceeding the
long-term average growth rate. The discount rate and the constant growth rate
used for VIU calculations in the year ended December 31,2017 are as follows:

19. 8 EE (&)

BeE - (42)

(o)

PEERE A A (&)

R-ZT—tF+_-_A=+—H BHEEEH
FREEMEEEINETTKREESEE - 2%
FREEMEREAERAHRAIRS RERE -
EHABAIRSREEANERNERERBE
AT AU A R E(DF59%F19.8% 2
) REME(NF67.8%E 75.1% 2 ) K
RAEF B ENT EEELERATEE
FS e

o WAHRRZRAFHERMSEAAE
E o RBRERBELRR - BAfTRES
ZREEBHMSERNTAEREE - &

o ENEARAFRUHMABRABALL
E IR o pETIRIRE BIEF RKE
RERHEAFE  UELRBARRE
HARASERERES -

RenBERATEERETHERKN K
ABRERE - REE-_T—+tF+=A
=t+—BLLEE EREEHREEMER
MBLER R MR RENT

As of December 31,
qHE
+=—A=+—8
2017

—T—+tF

Discount rate BIE =

Constant growth rate FHEIER®

14.50%
3%

Based on the result of the above impairment testing, the estimated Headroom
was approximately RMB7,657 million as of December 31, 2017.

Based on above, it is unlikely that any reasonable possible changes in key
assumptions would lead to impairment as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

BIEEXREARER  BetBhERN T
—tF+ZA=+—BBHOARK7657H
)

B EXF - BE-B—N\FR-B—
F+=—A=1—A  TEHERNEAAET
SR BIAT S BBOR(E -
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19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 19. 8B EE (&)
Note: (Continued) MisE : (48)
(d) Amortization charges were expensed in the following categories in the d) BEERRGAZEBRARAUTERZ
consolidated statements of comprehensive income: %

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—-HLFE

2018 2017

—E-N\F T+

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T AREETTT

Cost of revenue SHEM A 352 —
Service development expenses RIS RS 156,863 —
Selling and marketing expenses SHE REHEAT 175,750 32,649
Administrative expenses TR X 6,072 6,424

339,037 39,073




20.DEFERRED INCOME TAX
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The amount of offsetting deferred income tax assets and liabilities is
RMB1,010,000 for the year ended 2018 (December 31, 2017: RMB3,071,000).

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

20 JEEFR 1S

BHE-Z-—N\FILFE KEETHE
MEERBENSEAARK1,010000
T(ZE—tFE+=A=+—0: AR%
3,071,000 7C) °

As of December 31,

BE+=-A=+—AH
2018 2017
—B-N\fF —F—tF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT

Deferred tax assets: EERIBEE ¢
—to be recovered after more than 12 months —BiE 1218 A& UKD 219,025 50,506
— to be recovered within 12 months — 1218 ARk [E 31,766 14,442
250,791 64,948
— offsetting deferred income tax liabilities —EIBRLEMEH AR (1,010) (3,071)
249,781 61,877

Deferred tax liabilities: EEBIBAE -
—to be recovered after more than 12 months —BiE 1218 A& Uk (530,655) (2,072)
—to be recovered within 12 months — 128 A Rk (40,409) (1,200
(571,064) (3,272)

- offsetting deferred income tax assets —EBREMEHEE 1,010 3,071

(570,054) (201)

243



244

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited

EREERERERAE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRERMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 HEZ —Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

20.DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 20 EEFRSBL(E)
The gross movements in the deferred income tax assets are as follows: RIEFTISTHEEBZFIT ¢
Impairment on
investment,
trade
receivables and Future
Accrued  prepayment deductible
liabilities and and other expenses Tax losses
provisions receivables and others (Note) Total
RE E5
FEWRR -
B
P&zt HigER  RRANE BARE
BERERE HERE  AXRHM (Ff=E) #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARBTR AR¥TR AR¥Tz AR%Tz AR®Txn
At January 1,2018 R-E-\F-A—H 14,576 4,247 35217 10,908 64,948
Addition through business BREBEHRE (HFE33)
combination (Note 33) = 360 67,395 3,829 71,584
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss RERBETA/ (1)
for the year (Note 12) (Fi3E12) (4,752) (1,177) (18,943) 139,131 114,259
At December 31,2018 RZB-NE+ZA=+-H 9,824 3,430 83,669 153,868 250,791
At January 1,2017 R=ZE—tF-A—H — — — 4,165 4165
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss RERBETA/ (H1R)
for the year (Note 12) (Fi3E12) 14,576 4,47 35217 6,743 60783
At December 31,2017 R-Z2-t&+=A=+-H 14576 4247 35217 10908 64,948
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20.DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 20 EEFRSBL(E)
The gross movements in the deferred income tax liability are as follows: RIEFEHaEREHIT
Fair value
changes in
Intangible  investments
assets measured
acquired at fair value
in business through
combination  profit or loss Others Total
RAREE
SrEEHSE
REBEH FTAEHER
RESH  HREAR
BREE BEZS Hity st
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTT ARBT T ARBT T ARBTF T
At January 1,2018 R=—ZE—-NF—HF—H (2,199) (1,060) (13) (3,272)
Addition through business BREHAMHRE (H7E33)
combination (Note 33) (602,118) = = (602,118)
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss RERBETA(HBR)
for the year (Note 12) (F5E12) 33,830 496 — 34,326
At December 31,2018 R=ZZE-N\F+=ZRA=1+—H (570,487) (564) (13) (571,064)
AtJanuary 1, 2017 R=—Z—+t&—HF—H (3,399) (5,036) (13) (8,448)
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss RERBRETA (F0RR)
for the year (Note 12) (FH5E12) 1,200 3976 — 5176
At December 31,2017 R-ZE—+t&+=RA=+—H (2,199) (1,060) (13) 3272)
Note: BT

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and
tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realization of the related tax benefit
through future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognize deferred
income tax assets of RMB137,137,000 as of December 31, 2018 (December 31, 2017:
RMB236,713,000), in respect of tax losses amounting to RMB685,501,000 (December 31,
2017: RMB1,381,382,000) of certain subsidiaries comprising the Group as at those dates,
respectively, that can be carried forward against future taxable income, and will expire
between 2021 and 2028 under PRC tax regulations.

BEMEHEESRA MBS REERBIEE
B MR - M LA R] RSB IB R R FE SR B i A
BAERBEEEAR BE_T—N\F+=A
=t+—H AEEVERNZEAHRREEET
ETFRAIMNBEEEARK685501,0007T(=
Z—tF+-_A=+—8: AR¥1,381,382,000
TR B AR 137137000 T(—E—+&F+ =
B=+—H: AR 236,713,0007t) MIEEFTE
REE  ZSHEBE &SR ERRERSE
WA RERIEFEFEEER S _—FE2_F
ZN\EEE -
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE =T — \F+-_A=+—HILtFE

21.PREPAYMENT AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

21 AN RER A MERRTE

As of December 31,

BZE+t=-A=+-—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T

Included in non-current assets STARBEE
Advances to suppliers ) 4 R s A K 1,841 —
Total non-financial assets IERMEERTE 1,841 —
Deposits (Note 23(b)) Ze (M5E23(00) 23,308 38,303
Others A, 6,336 10,869
Total financial assets TRIEERR 29,644 49172
Non-current, total JEBPER - 4858 31,485 49172

Included in current assets FARBEE

Advances to accommodation suppliers M{ETE HER R 46,393 51,682
Prepaid taxation AR IR 37,708 46,588
Advances to tickets suppliers [ E RS FE R R 108,284 12,389
Prepayment for advertising ENEEE 25,676 4,875
Prepayment for office rental SEERE Nk 1,214 2,656
Prepayment to related parties (Note 38) TR B 5 R IE (PR 38) 5,833 —
Others EHAith 29,887 11,520
Total non-financial assets FEREERTE 254,995 129,710
Deposits (Note 23(b)) Ze (MEE 23(00) 171,464 52,386
Receivable from related parties (Note 38) JiE s B gt 75 ke (B Rk 38) 76,794 —
Receivables from Nanjing Xici disposal 5 5 70 4] (65 Y FE WK IE = 7,650
Others EHAfth 20,217 6,192
Total financial assets TRIEERR 268,475 66,228
Current, total BIHR - #4858 523,470 195,938




—Z— )\&FE4F3R | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P RRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 #EZ—ZF— \F+-_A=1+—HILFE

21.PREPAYMENT AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of
asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. Other receivables that are
measured at amortized costs mainly included deposits, interest receivables
and receivables from related parties. The Group considers the probability of
default upon initial recognition of other receivables and whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period. Based on the assessment and analysis conducted by
the Directors, no actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
increase of credit risk, and thus the impairment provisions during the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were limited to 12 months expected

losses.

(@) Movement in impairment of other receivables are as

21. BN RIERE M ERFRIA(F)

AEBERVIHREERELEENNT
BEMEERREREHEEARBRTERE
RIEIL AN o H 85 AR AR 5T 2 9 L th 8 UK
BEZRERS - BWH .S REWEE S
FRIE o ANEE E R 5 TR E M W RRIE
BB AR R RN SRS R (E A
FERREEHBEANGLM - BEZFHET
B EE I R AT - ER - B SEEAMRR I
ERLEBRLTEAERTFES) - A
SrefEERRBARELM ALBEE=F
—NEFERZZF—tF+-A=+—8BIL#F
ERRANBERERBRN 1+ @A HNE:T
518 -

(a) HttBWRHAVRESEMT

follows:
Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=1t—HIL=EE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBETTT
At the beginning of the year F1) (2,227) (2,350)
Reverse for impairment HERE 1,063 521
Provision for impairment BERE (805) (398)
Written-off b6 440 —
At the end of the year FR (1,529) (2,227)
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22.TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. B ZENRIE

As of December 31,

BEZE+=-H=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F ZE
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Receivables from third parties REE =R EWRIE 481,032 213,696
Receivables from related parties (Note 38) R B BAEE 77 H FE YR IE (I 3T 38) 380,256 329618
861,288 543,314
Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables & : B 5 & UK IBR BB 5 (3,962) (4,097)
857,326 539,217

Note:

(@) Movements on the Group's allowance for impairment of trade receivables are as

AEENE SREFERERBEESNT

follows:
Year ended December 31,
BE+=-A=t—HLEE
2018 2017
—EB-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AR¥ETTT
At the beginning of the year REA] (4,097) (5,470)
Provision for doubtful receivables JEU GRIEIE BR B (4,009) (700)
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible  FA4F A £i5 #9 7~ 7] Uk (5 g U 7k 1B 4,144 2,073
At the end of the year RER (3,962) (4,097)
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22.TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note: (continued)

22. 8B ZEWFIE (&

iz : (&)

(b)  The Group normally allows a credit period of 30 days to its customers. An ageing (b) ALEBEBBREFELTHERFIOKNEER - RBIE
analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows: BEAMHE SRR ETRRR TN
T
As of December 31,
BE+-A=1—H
2018 2017
—E2-N\F T —tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Up to 6 months =%NMAA 847,053 539217
Over 6 months NEA M E 14,235 4,097
861,288 543,314
(c)  Trade receivables are classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost, () BISEWZBINDEAREBHEKATENS
their carrying amounts approximated their fair values due to their short maturities. BEE  EEEmERSEREMEEALE
BIEE °
(d)  The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit losses (d) ZANEEFERREMEREELFEIOFERTN
prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision B EARBEEEEERRE - Z2EL
for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables REFAREE S EWIEE BREFESRN
have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past TEHEERE - AtERHEESRE 25
due. The provision is determined as follows: FEWZBEERIELEEER M- LB X
HoHME - BEBEREENT
Up to 2 months 2to3months  Over 3 months
Current past due past due past due Total
bl A bl
Uk 55288 2Z318A BiB3fEA st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARBTR ARBT T ARBTR AR®T T
As of December 31,2018 BE-Z-NE+-A=+-H
Expected loss rate BHEBEX 0.11% 0.49% 3.00% 10.56%
Gross carrying amount REAE 770,320 36,653 36,676 17,639 861,288
Loss allowance provision BRERRE 819 179 1,102 1,862 3,962
As of December 31,2017 BE-T—+tF+-A=1—A
Expected loss rate BHEBEX 0.22% 0.80% 11.28% 46.78%
Gross carrying amount fRmaE 466,582 65,505 7,632 3,595 543314
Loss allowance provision BREERE 1,032 522 861 1682 4,097
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For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=—ZT— \F+A=+—HItFE

23.BANK BALANCES AND CASH 23.BITHERREE
(a) Cash and cash equivalents (a) BERBEEZEEY

As of December 31,

BE+=-A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-)N\F —E—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARKETTT

Cash on hand FEBRE 71 82
Cash at bank RITHRE 3,143,812 701,666
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHEEAS 3,143,883 701,748
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit RITHRESREARITHERIELZH
rates. The conversion of the RMB denominated balances maintained in FERBDMAE - RPEFHHARKE
the PRC into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of R R INEE R <pHh B IS AR
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. BN 1135 Bl R AR o
(b) Restricted cash (b) SREERE
As of December 31,
BE+=-RA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARETT

Deposits to business partners TEBBANZS 140,930 170,541
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23.BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

(b) Restricted cash (continued)

Restricted cash represents cash that cannot be withdrawn without the
permission of third parties. In connection with the Group's air ticket

business and the accommodation reservation services, the Group

23.£E?Tmn %&Iﬁﬁ(ﬂ‘/g)
(b) ZRHIRE(EF)

XRHRESEREE=TFATEE
BWRe HmASENREXRERE
BHEARBME - EEBBHERK

was required by its business partners to pay deposits as guarantee
in order for the issuance of air tickets and timely payment. As of
December 31, 2018, the amount of the deposit placed in commercial
banks under these guarantee arrangements was approximately
RMB81 million (December 31, 2017: RMB115 million) and recorded as
restricted cash; and the amount of the deposit deployed in commercial
institution under these guarantee arrangements was approximately
RMB132 million (December 31, 2017: RMB38 million), and recorded as

prepayment and other receivables (Note 21).

SR TIRSIERER - AEE R
EWRENR - BEZT—N\F+=
A=+T—HIEFE BEZZFERZ
HEABERITNIEZSCSENAAR
o BB (ZE—tF+=A=1T—
H: ARBISEET)  MEAXR
HIREAR  MBBZEERRZHET
ABERBHSBOARARBK 1288
T(ZE—+tF+=ZA=+—A8: AR
K38 EHEIL)  EATENREREME
WK ABR (FisE21) ©

24.BORROWINGS 24 8K
As of December 31,
BE+-A=+-A
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Secured bank borrowings (Note a) BEHEMRITER(MIEEa) 172,305 191,997
Less: current portion B BNERER (19,692) (19,692)
Non-current portion FERNERER 152,613 172,305
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24.BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(@)  The borrowings were secured by property, plant and equipment of the Group
(Note 14) and bear interest at CHIBOR floating rate with 10% per annum.

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group's borrowings were repayable as

248K (&)

()

fERAR BB Y - B MR AR (fY
i1 14) WIZH BRTT R R R FRA K FEFF
B 10%:T A -

RZE-—NFRZZE—+tF+_A=+—

follows: B AEEEFEERBRIOT
As of December 31,
BE+=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E2-N\E —E—tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREETTT
Within 1 year 1F AR 19,692 19,692
1~2 years 1225 19,692 19,692
2~5 years 2ESF 59,076 59,076
Over 5 years S5FERE 73,845 93,537
172,305 191,997

The Group is in compliance with all banking covenants as of December 31, 2018
and 2017.

25.REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES

In connection with the Restructuring as discussed in Note 1, all of eLong’s
then outstanding ordinary shares were cancelled and all of its then existing
ordinary shares were exchanged for the ordinary shares or the Preferred

Shares of the Company in the following manner:

e Al the then outstanding ordinary shares of eLong were exchanged to

the same number of ordinary shares of the Company;

e All the then outstanding high-vote ordinary shares of eLong were
exchanged to the same number of the Preferred Shares of the

Company; and

® In connection with the Restructuring, the ordinary shares of eLong that
were purchased by the Buyers were re-designated and exchanged to

the same number of the Preferred Shares of the Company.

HE_Z—)\FE_FT—+F+-A=1+—
B ANEBEETHARTEE

25. 0] B O] m] S 4 St AR

MR PR R EAT S - BEERMA

BITEINE BT IAGEH - H,\Eaﬁﬂﬁfr*ﬁ‘
RETBRATI T AERSARRR]ER
edipile

BEMAERZETEINEBRESRES
RREREHE T B

EMBEERBETEISREEAERYE
Tﬁ%$’&ﬂ|ﬂ%§19 MERR &

HEAMS  AEXRBEMNEELA
BEHEELERAAAFRREZHE

B SER



—\4E4#R | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P RRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2018 HE=Z— \F+=A=+—HILFE

25.REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES

(continued)

After the completion of the Restructuring, the equity shareholdings of eLong,
as if-converted basis, by its then existing shareholders have not changed. The
Preferred Shares were recognized based on its fair value of RMB3,527 million,
and the difference between the fair value of the Preferred Shares and the
carrying value of the high-vote ordinary shares relinquished was recorded

against the other reserve of RMB3,527 million.

The Company also assessed the re-designation of ordinary shares purchased
by the Buyers and concluded that the difference between the fair value of the
Preferred Shares that the Buyers obtained and the fair value of the ordinary
shares purchased and relinquished by the Buyers should be recognized as
expenses to reflect the benefit received by the Buyers. Therefore, the total
difference between the carrying value of the ordinary shares that the Buyers
purchased and the fair value of the Preferred Shares that the Buyers obtained
with amount to RMB1,662 million was further allocated as (1) RMB742 million,
being the difference between the fair value of the Preferred Shares that the
Buyers obtained and the fair value of the ordinary shares purchased and
relinquished by the Buyers, was deemed as share based payment received
by Buyers and recorded as administrative expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2016; and (2) RMB920 million, being the difference between
the carrying value and fair value of the ordinary shares that the Buyers

purchased was recorded as deduction of other reserve.
In July 2016, the Company issued 11,111,111 preferred shares to one of its

shareholders with the total fair value of RMB1,208 million on the issuance

date. Please refer to Note 19 for details.

The key terms of the Preferred Shares of the Company are as follows:

25. 7 FE B Al IR E LR (E)

BHETKE  BERRERRERRDHE
BRELERFENBERBITEES - EXR
BEARBEARKEIS/IEEILER  ME
ERARBEHENEREREBERET
BEzHNEZEREREMBEEARE32788
TLARR ©

]
eall

W&ETEH%% 3f IR ) E TR
BLERRE BEFMESELR
F@ﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬂ%m el
EECHENERERRAAAT - UK
HEHIEEATBEA Fz o BELt
st @R EmERE HESE
%%mLﬁEﬁz%mwﬁﬁAEMm@
BETETE—FTOERNWDARK72E
BT(NEHFFESELIRN AR EBEEE
FRBETHENEBARALEE MY
ZH RBE-_ZT—X<F+t=-A=+—8
iiﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%m%u%ﬁﬁ%%mﬁ
RRARIETHRAR) k) AR 920
BET(ANESMEYL Lk%@ﬁﬁAﬁE
BZMEMZERE  ARIEIREMEE) -

il

M%»»ﬁ

\
/

mE P Z A M
>

M

RZZE—RNFEtA ARRAKREZ —%
TN REBSER - RETHHOR
hEBEEAEAAR1208EE T - BHFH
& - 219 -
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25.REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES

25. 0] BB O] o] BB S R (42

(continued)
Voting

Each ordinary share has one vote. Each of the Preferred Shares carries a
number of votes equal to the number of ordinary shares into which such
preferred share could be converted into. The holders of ordinary shares and

the Preferred Shares shall vote together as a single class.

Dividends

The holders of the Preferred Shares shall rank senior to the holders of
ordinary shares in respect of any dividends declared by the Company and
shall be entitled to participate in dividends on the ordinary shares on an as-

converted basis.

Liquidation

Upon any liquidation or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary
or involuntary or any deemed liquidation event, to the extent lawfully
possible, before any distribution or payment shall be made to the holders of
any ordinary shares, the holders of the Preferred Shares shall be entitled to
receive an amount with respect to each preferred share equal to the greater

of:

(@) the liquidation preference (“Liquidation Preference”) means the
higher of (i) $13.50 or (i) $9.00 plus an 8% compounding annual rate

commencing on the date of issuance; and

(b) the amount distributable to such holder of Preferred Shares if the
funds and assets of the Company available for distribution to the prefer
shareholders are distributed pro rata amongst all the shareholders of

the Company on an as-converted basis.

®

BREBRAKR T - SRELKRMFE
ZEABRATERNEBRRBEASTHNR
B TBEREABRKEABERE -8
BIFRER -

3B

8=\

BEBRFTEARERRTIRO IR EE
EREBRFBEAN  UKAERCEBRE
EZRELABRKE -

2

==
F:4

ARRBERIFE (T BRIEMRIEF
BEM)E - LAAAEES/SR - REEMA
EABRE AMERERDIRSEA KA - B
ERFEARBE AT RELEREIRER
AT RESEER TR

@ BEEES(ELBEESIE1IZS50
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25.REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES

(continued)
Redemption Rights

If (i) a Qualified IPO has not been completed before the fifth (5th) anniversary
of May 31, 2016, or (ii) the Company or any other group company is in
material breach of the shareholders’ agreement, each of the preferred
shareholders shall have the right but not the obligation, to require the
Company to redeem and purchase all (but not part) of the Preferred Shares
held by such preferred shareholder (the “Redemption Right”) at a price
(the “Redemption Price”) equal to the Liquidation Preference per preferred
share to be paid in cash, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
corporate “solvency” requirements or similar laws. The Redemption Right
may be exercised at each preferred shareholder's discretion but may only be

exercised once.

Conversion

Each of the Preferred Shares shall be convertible, at the option of the holder
thereof, at any time and from time to time, and without the payment of
additional consideration by the holder thereof, into such number of fully
paid and non-assessable ordinary shares as is determined by dividing the
Liquidation Preference by the applicable Conversion Price in effect at the
time of conversion. The “Conversion Price” shall initially be equal to the

Original Issue Price and such Conversion Price shall be subject to adjustment.

On December 28, 2017, in connection with the merger agreement entered
into between the Company and Tongcheng Network and Tongcheng
Network’s shareholders, the holders of the Preferred Shares agreed to
change the conversion of the preferred shares as immediately prior to the
completion of the Acquisition, each of the Preferred Share shall be converted
into one ordinary share of the Company (the “Revised Conversion Price").
Such change of the conversion constituted a modification to the Preferred
Shares and resulted in, excluding other factors, a decrease in fair value of the

Preferred Shares.

On March 9, 2018, upon the completion of the Acquisition, the Company
re-designated each of the Preferred Shares with a par value of US50.0005
each into one ordinary share with a par value of US$0.0005 and such re-
designation is considered as the conversion of the Preferred Shares to
ordinary shares by the Revised Conversion Price. Immediately before the
conversion, the Preferred Shares’ fair value were RMB5,439 million. The
difference between the fair value of the Preferred Shares and the par value of

ordinary shares was recorded as share premium of RMB5,439 million.

25. 0] BB O] o] BB R R (42
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MR —E—AR"EFERA=FT—HRFERG)
BER BT S BB XA RS 3)
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25.REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES 25.1

(continued)

Conversion (continued)

The Company designated the Preferred Shares as financial liabilities at fair

value through profit or loss. The Preferred Shares are initially recognized at

fair value.

The movement of the Preferred Shares during the years ended December 31,

2018 and 2017 is set as below:

e EREER(E)

iR (E)
ARBHEBEBREERRBAABENER
HEHtAZHERSNERMARG - LK
R AR EEER -

BERREE ’2*/\@& —aE&E

Number Carrying
of Shares amount
RHOEE IREE
RMB’000
ARBTT
At January 1, 2018 R=ZE—N\§—A—H 60,534,008 6,347,647
Changes in fair value - attribute to changes in NRBEEEH -FEN
the credit risk of the financial liability CRIBENEERKRE = (932)
Changes in fair value - others NRAEEEE—Hi — (907,734)
Conversion to ordinary shares it A TR (60,534,008) (5,438,981)
At December 31,2018 R-ZB-NF+-A=+—H — —
AtJanuary 1,2017 R=—ZE—+tH&—-HF—H 60,534,008 6,398,631
Changes in fair value - attribute to changes in NRABEEZH -FBN
the credit risk of the financial liability CRIBENEERRKRE — 46,592
Changes in fair value - others DREEEZE - Hi — (97,576)
At December 31,2017 R=Z—tH&+=-A=+—8 60,534,008 6,347,647

The Group has used the discounted cash flow method to determine the

underlying share value of the Company and adopted equity allocation model

to determine the fair value of the Preferred Shares as of the dates of issuance

and conversion and at the end of each reporting period.

AEBERMBRAESREEIEEARA
*H?ﬁﬂxfﬁf‘;fﬁ IR Ay B AL
FEHEHTREBRABRNARZSRESR
E’\JL%?EHXD\/LM“TE
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25.REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES

(continued)
Conversion (continued)

Key valuation assumptions used to determine the fair value of the Preferred

Shares are as follows:

25. 7 FE B Al IR E LR (E)

B (E)

ARNETEIBRAABENEZZMEER
B UNNE

Immediately As of
before the December 31,
conversion 2017
RIB—+%F

REEBE +_A=1t—H

Discount rate BHIR R
Discounts for lack of marketability (‘'DLOM")

Volatility B EME
Probability of IPO scenario IPO 75 2RI AT BE 1

Discount rate (post-tax) was estimated by weighted average cost of capital
as of each valuation date. The risk-free interest rate based on the yield of
US Treasury Strip Bond with a maturity life equal to the expected terms as
of valuation date. The DLOM was estimated based on the option-pricing
method. Under option-pricing method, the cost of put option, which
can hedge the price change before the private held share can be sold,
was considered as a basis to determine the lack of marketability discount.
Volatility was estimated based on annualized standard deviation of daily
stock price return of comparable companies for a period from the respective
valuation date and with similar span as time to expiration. Probability weight
under each of the redemption feature and liquidation preferences was based
on the Group's best estimates. In addition to the assumptions adopted
above, the Company’s projections of future performance were also factored
into the determination of the fair value of the Preferred Shares on each

valuation date.

The fair value changes in the Preferred Shares that are attributable to
changes of credit risk of this liability amounted to RMB(932,000) for the year
ended December 31,2018 (2017: RMB46,592,000).

Changes in fair value of the Preferred Shares were recorded in “Fair value
change on redeemable convertible preferred shares measured at fair value
through profit or loss” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.

R T B A IR
(TBR=mSRE TR

14.50% 14.50%
12.00% 12.00%
40.65% 40.85%
100.00% 60.00%
B R(BE) BB E S5 E RO METF S

BEARKAGE - mERAEENDBHFER
HEREEHERANEFFHNERES
[ % (US Treasury Strip Bond) 4 A =& £
o Bz MG RB T EENBEEE
EfhED o RIBAEEEE - ROAHREAK
$(—f?’ﬂ>¢ﬂ}\ﬁﬂ—rﬁx@ﬂﬂimHIJE"Jf?ET%
""""" SE)REETHR=MERBETEOHE
A o R BN M E R HABR B LAY A EE B A AR
HEGEEBER A AN T B KRER R
W (CIREEMbE - SERFHBRIEEE
EEETHHENEENREENRER
STEH  Br EMUERA VRSN - AN DA E
RREBEOBEATEREESHEBRES
BRAREBENREE -

BHE-_Z—N\F+-_A=+—HLEE"
FERZBENEERREDHNEBLRA
hBEZEAARE (932,000 (ZF—+
F: AR#46,592,0007T) °

BEBRAABEEGNGEEZABARA
EIH’EHE’A/LCETEJEEE FEEt AE B8
S BRI ERE LR AL EEES]
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26.TRADE PAYABLES 26.E ZE(TFIE
As of December 31,
BE+-A=+-8
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

Payables to third parties ENE=F%E 1,277,180 960,940

Payables to related parties (Note 38) FE {<F A ESE 75 718 (P 5F 38) 1,291,912 153,977
2,569,092 1,114,917

Trade payables and their aging analysis based on invoice date are as follows: EoRNFEBERERNEZAHEEFEN

FIAFTER R DATAA T -

As of December 31,

BE+t=-A=+—8H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT

Up to 6 months &% 75 i A 2,545,696 1,114,917
Over 6 months NEA M E 23,396 —

2,569,092 1,114917
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27. Hit BN RIE R BT E A

As of December 31,

BE+=-A=+-—8
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Accrual for users incentive program P &EET S e E A 106,508 67,862
Payable to travel service suppliers JE A8 i 3% AR 745 41 B S RKOR 23,426 25,759
Deposits from sales channel REHERBNIZS 88,678 26,336
Payables to related parties (Note 38) JRE AT RS 75 SRIE (B9 7T 38) 8,064 653
Payable of reorganisation cost (Note a) FEfSEHRER (MizEa) 220,953 —
Payable to insurance companies FERRBE A BIES1E 209,518 —
Others Hth 49,451 —
Total financial liabilities TRIBERE 706,598 120610
Advances from users EISEEN 583,707 116,044
Accrued payroll and welfare EEtTE ktEF 292,393 77,919
Accrued commissions fEztRe 18,270 13,701
Business and other taxes EHEB R EMTIE 31,949 13,573
Accrued advertisement expenses FERTEERE 80,661 30,788
Accrued professional fees BETEEER 51,042 11,100
Payables to related parties (Note 38) FE 1<) A ESE 5 718 (P 5E 38) 356 —
Others Hith 41,447 55,462
Total non-financial liabilities FERBERE 1,099,825 318,587
Total et 1,806,423 439,197
() After the Acquisition, for the purpose of meeting certain listing @ WEEEE RREEHARAGA%Z
requirements on its equity interest on the consolidated PRC operating R RPE S ETERENSE T
entities using contractual agreements, the Group carried out an internal THRE AEERBSETRELSE
reorganisation by transfer certain equity interests of its PRC operating R(EREEESK)NETRERZSE
entities, including Tongcheng Network, from the equity holders of these FRELEENRERERE AEZR
PRC operating entities to its subsidiaries. Pursuant to the contractual ZETRAIMNARETAZEHE - 1B
arrangements of these PRC operating entities, the pertinent expenses of BEZEPRHESBERNAOLTE R
the equity holders in relation to the share transfer shall be borne by the EREEAEABBRMOEZNMEER

Group.

XAMAEEALE -
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28.CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group has recognized the following revenue-related contract liabilities:

28. AR
AEERRRA TR0 A O AR

Year ended December 31,

B8=+=-A=t-H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETT

Contract liabilities: EREE -

Deferred revenue for online reservation TERTER] BRAS MR I M 2= (P 7 33)

service (Note 33)

15,084 —

Contract liabilities primarily consists of the sales of various eCoupon
programs and deposits received, for which an implied obligations are to be

provided by the Group over time.

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognized in
consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the year ended

December 31, 2018 relating to contract liabilities brought forward:

ANEBEI2EREESZ T %ﬁﬁ%“r
RBEWEH RS (REE AR I ETT
RERME) -

T

TREJIRBE_Z-NF+_A=+—
ALFEEGFAEEANRERERNELES
HWEEABENKEEE -

Year ended December 31,

BZ+=-A=+—H
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —T—+tF
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETT

Revenue recognized that was included in PIAWEE BIEFTRIES L
the contract liability as assumed by the Acquisition B ERH B RIS

37,859 =
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29.SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 29. AR B 47 55 (B
Number of Ordinary Ordinary
ordinary share share Treasury
shares capital premium stock Total
EEREE EERRE EEREE EFRG #ct
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARETRT ARETR ARETR AR¥TR

At January 1,2018 R=-Z-N\§¥-A—-H 30,470,481 99 1,514,310 (15) 1,514,394
Issuance of ordinary shares in SUEZERTERR ()

connection with the Acquisition (b) 96,721,818 307 8,689,960 = 8,690,267
Issuance of ordinary shares mERETLEER (O

to Tencent (c) 3,374,369 1 303,176 = 303,187
Conversion of the Preferred Shares HEERER ALK 25)

to ordinary shares (Note 25) 60,534,008 192 5,438,789 = 5,438,981
Issuance of ordinary shares in s EMETERR )

connection with the Listing (d) 165,415,200 574 1,436,609 - 1,437,183
Capitalization issue (e) BRI ET () 1,719,906,084 5,973 (5,973) - —
Share issuance costs (f) BRIDEATRA () - — (65,651) — (65,651)
At December 31,2018 R-B-NF+=B=1+—-H 2,076,421,960 7,156 17,311,220 (15) 17,318,361
At January 1,2017 RZZE—tF—A—H 26,051,810 84 1514310 — 151439
Issuance of ordinary shares (a) ?é‘ﬁ%ﬁﬂ& (a) 4418671 15 — (15) —
At December 31,2017 RZB—tF+=B=t+—-H 30,470,481 99 1514310 (15) 1,514,394
(@) In 2017, the Company issued 4,418,671 ordinary shares to EAE Holdco (a)

with amount of RMB15,000 for the purpose of granting RSUs to the

employees (Note (8)).

(b) In connection of the Acquisition of Tongcheng Online Business, the

Company issued 96,721,818 ordinary shares to the then shareholders

of Tongcheng Network, a share premium of RMB8,690 million was

recognized for the difference between its fair value and par value.

RZT—+tF ARARREREE
BTl A AET4418671 IRABAR
¥ 15000 TR E @R - AAERERTEE
PR 51l A 1 B8 oz (PfT 3 (8)) ©

HUBRBREEBEMS - A2 AM
ERAEERIREETT96,721,8181RE
AR REAABEHEAEMNZERE
RIEMEEARE8690BETT
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29.SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
(continued)

(0)

In conjunction with the Acquisition, the Company issued 3,374,369
ordinary shares to Tencent for a cash consideration of approximately
US$30 million with a share premium of RMB303,176,000 recognized
for the difference between its fair value and par value. The difference
between the fair value of the newly issued ordinary shares and the
purchase consideration, with amount to RMB113 million, was deemed
as compensation paid to Tencent and recorded as administrative

expenses in 2018 (Note 6).

In 2018, upon the Company’s Listing on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Company issued
165,415,200 new shares with par value of USD0.0005 per share
for cash consideration at HKD9.8 per share for a gross proceeds of
approximately HKD1,621,068,960 (equivalent to RMB1,437,183,000).
The respective share capital amount was approximately RMB574,000
and share premium arising from the issuance was approximately
RMB1,436,609,000.

Pursuant to a shareholders' resolution passed on October 12, 2018 and
the share premium account of the Company being credited as a result
of the Listing, the Company allotted and issued a total of 1,719,906,084
shares by way of capitalisation of the sum of USD859,953 standing to
the credit of the share premium account of the Company upon the

Listing.

Share issuance costs mainly include share underwriting commissions,
lawyers' fees, reporting accountant’s fee and other related costs,
associated with the Listing. Incremental costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the new shares amounting to
approximately RMB65,651,000 were treated as a deduction against the

share premium arising from the issuance.

29.RAEK ROEE(E)

(0

HERKESE ARQRMEMET
3374369 R E AR - I ENRELR30
BEEEL BEAAEEEEED
Z R RRG % E AR %303,176,000
T FBITEBRRMNA L BEERES
RENZBEARE113AETHER AR
A NEEE JERZFT—N\F
B7TERBA 2 (FisE6) ©

RZZ—N\F ARREBBBER
SEHAERARER LT’ - AARE
77 9 B ™ & 0.0005 3 7T 89 165,415,200
R - BRIBERERISHET
48 F7T 15 3% TH #91,621,0689607% JT(48
R AR ¥1,437,183,0007T ) » 18
RASEROANRBS740007T ©
BOMEENRMDEBEEANHARK
1,436,609,000 JT

BE_ZT-N\F+A+TZAEBNHK
FRBRENARRELEMARNKGD
HER S ARAREMEEBER
A Al B 19 i (8 BR B 2 BR & 88859953
EFTBEARA AT ABEBERETEH
1,719,906,084 &A% {7 ©

BROBITHRAZTEZRER ETEBRN
BROBEME  EE  BWRE:
MEREMABKE EEFER
BIHBRONEERANAEARE
65,651,000 7T * 15 A ¥ HATFE £ 1)
M7 s BRI HRR o
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30. E i

preferred shares of eLong before the years presented and the fair value

30.0THER RESERVES
Currency  Share-based
Capital Statutory translation compensations
reserve reserve differences reserve Others (a) Total
NR G RER
BEXGHE EERE ERZE NEMEE Hith(a) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE AR¥Tn AR%¥Trn AR%TRT AR®Tx AR¥TR
At January 1,2018 EA —2-\F¥-A-H (5,371,486) 9,826 — 1,617,801 473,802 (3,270,057)
Fair value change of the FRANEERBE
Preferred Shares attributable HBERALEEE
to changes in credit risk = = = = 932 932
Reclassification of the BARBERNEERR
accumulated fair value change BEHMRABERLA
of the Preferred Shares attributable BEEZYENIEA
to changes in credit risk to Rt (5 25)
accumulated losses
upon conversion (Note 25) = = = = 8,879 8,879
Transactions with non- FERRERNIAE (F32)
controlling interests (Note 32) (18,123) — — = = (18,123)
Purchase of Equity Awards HEAREREEB (M)
in connection with
the Restructuring (Note 8) — — — (739) — (739)
Currency translation differences ERER — — (15,917) — — (15,917)
Share-based compensations (Note 8) AR {7 AEEREAIEREN (FizE ) — — — 572,191 — 572,191
At December 31,2018 -N\E+=-A=t+-H (5,389,609) 9,826 (15917) 2,189,253 483,613 (2,722,834)
At January 1,2017 EA —2-t%-A-H (5,371,486) 9,826 — 1,565,400 520,394 (3,275,866)
Fair value change of the SARNEERBREZEMN
Preferred Shares attributable BERRABEZS
to changes in credit risk — — — — (46,592) (46,592)
Purchase of Equity Awards in connection 7t 4838 B IR Z 12 E)
with the Restructuring = = = (4,382) = (4,382)
Share-based compensations (Note 8) AR A ZE R SN (B 8) — — — 56,783 — 56,783
At December 31,2017 R=B-t£+=A=+-H (5371,486) 9826 — 1617,801 473802 (3270057)
@ £ Igiﬁﬁé%@m’]x1¢ﬁﬁﬁ@}ﬁ
(@) Others mainly represents the reserves arising from the conversion of BEBARELENEERERANEE

RpEBHNEERD /LETE“@J

change of the Preferred Shares at attributable to changes in credit risk.
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31.DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company or the companies
now comprising the Group during each of the year ended December 31,
2018 (December 31, 2017: nil).

32.ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTEREST OF ITS
SUBSIDIARIES

In October 2018, the Group acquired the remaining equity interests of
its subsidiary Beijing Zhuzhe Information Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Zhuzhe") at a consideration of RMB36 million. The difference of RMB18
million between the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests of
RMB18 million and the consideration need be paid was recognised in equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company. The Group effectively owns

100% interests in Beijing Zhuzhe after the acquisition.

The following table summarises the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests acquired, considerations need to be paid to non-controlling
interests and excess of consideration paid recognised within equity of these

subsidiaries at the acquisition date.

31.

32.

3=\

HE_ZT - N\F+ZA=+—HILEEF
B RNARHAEEBRFET A F L EIR

HRERRE(ZE—tF+=A=+—
ERE K
WIS E ¥ A R WEESMER

RZE—NF+A rEEKREETFTAA
IFREEEEREERAR(ERES D)
MR TIRE REAARKICEEL - 3F
TRESEAEARKISESTRFTEN
REZAARE SEETEZHEBRRA
NEEREE ABGRE RNEEBTWE
BEREAILFET 100% s

TERBUAAMKREFFERESREE - F
B FIEEREENRE R B H
EZEFARREARRNENBHAE -

2018

—E-N\F

RMB’ 000

AR¥T

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired P U B FE 15 RO 2R BV BR TEL (B 18,105
Consideration need be paid to non-controlling interests XA T IHFERERNRE (36,228)
Excess of consideration paid recognised within equity RIEAEEROENBHARE (18,123)

In connection with such acquisition, the Group entered into a share-based
payment arrangement with certain employees of Beijing Zhuzhe under
which the Company granted 831,830 cash-settled share options totally. The
share options would be vested in 4 instalments over requisite service period
under which the employees will receive a cash payment equal to the share
price of the Company on vesting. It is treated as a cash-settled share-based
payment whenever the Group received services in consideration for cash

payments based on the price of the Group's equity instrument.

nm—

FHZEWE  AEEEIEREANET
BRI ARG BEBO N RETH - BIE
ZEREE - NRRI R IR 831,830 LAER
SREANBIRE - BARES N R E RS
ANHES  EEKESHEERAQF
FERNNBESMR  EREERERE
ERETENERKRRSNRRER -
BERABUIESEEN ARG BEMRA M
e

-
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33.BUSINESS COMBINATION 33.EB A6
Acquisition of Tongcheng Online Business WBERERER
On March 9, 2018, the Company consummated the Acquisition of RZZE—NF=ANE " KRRIZEKYE
Tongcheng Network. The Company accounted for the Acquisition of FEIRAGKEEE - AR HREZEEEK
Tongcheng Network as business combination and started to consolidate the BEEARINAEBEN TE=-Z—N
financial statements of Tongcheng Network from March 9, 2018. F=ZANBREEE ARRIZESE Y B®
%o
Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill BERE MBEAEEFEREENGE
are as follows: LU
March 9, 2018
—E-N\F
=HAH
RMB’ 000
ARET
Fair value of the Consideration RENQIAEE
Cash consideration RERE -
Fair value of ordinary shares issued BEITERRNAAEBE 8,690,267
Total consideration paid by the Company AATRXHFHRELRE 8,690,267

The fair value of the 96,721,818 ordinary shares of the Company issued as the EATREREYNORBARKS00HE

consideration paid for Tongcheng Network (RMB 8,690 million) was based on the JC) MEIT AR EA 96,721,818 R EBARM A R
valuation of the Company's ordinary share price of RMB 89.85 per share on March 9, BEIERARAIR_ZE—N\F=ANAEE

2018. IR (B Z I AR E 89.85 JTLHYEHTE -
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33.BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Acquisition of Tongcheng Online Business

33.

The preliminary price purchase allocation (PPA) of the Acquisition is as

follows:

EXREO(E)
WEERBERER
WEEEEMN VS IEEEDE (PPA) T ¢

Identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date: Fair Value
RUBEHITRIEEREE: AREE
RMB’ 000
ARET
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEEY 941,181
Restricted cash R HIR e 11,067
Trade receivables 2 S rEWGRIE 289,489
Prepayment and other receivables TR R S H b E IR 401,958
Short-term investments measured RAnBEFEAHEZS
at fair value through profit or loss AT ABEMERIRE 537,000
Property, plant and equipment EN =N 258,800
Land use rights T A 16,310
Intangible assets M AE
— Trade name (Note a) — A5k (Mt a) 1,762,340
— Supplier relationship (Note b) —HERE R (T b) 1,755,976
— [T platform (Note c) —IT¥& (MsEo) 240,265
— Business cooperation arrangement (Note d) —EBEERHEFE) 598,677
- Others —Hitb 25,993
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTSTIEE 71,584
Trade payables E S ENFRIE (627,924)
Other payables and accruals Hib e RIERERTE A (491,662)
Contract liabilities EREE (37,859)
Current income taxes liabilities BNEAFRIS T AR (69,365)
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFETHEE (602,118)
Total identifiable net assets AR E A EEFE 5,081,712
Goodwill (Note e) P& (ffate) 3,608,555

8,690,267
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33.BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Acquisition of Tongcheng Online Business (continued)

Note:

The identified intangible assets for the acquisition primarily consists of trade name,
supplier relationship, IT platform, business cooperation arrangement and other
intangible assets. They are initially recognized and measured at fair value if they are
acquired in business combinations.

(a)

The trade name is attributable to brand of Tongcheng Online Business which
is considered with indefinite useful life as the Group considered i) it is an well
recognized brand in the market, i) the Group have demonstrated its ability to
efficiently manage similar brand and will continue to put significant resource to
maintain and promote the brand, iii) there is no technical obsolescence nor legal
limits on the use of the assets, and iv) stability of the online travel service industry
without any downturn in foreseeable future.

The business relationship represents the contractual business relationship with
the existing suppliers of the acquired business, i.e. the transportation service
providers of Tongcheng Online Business, of which the Company assessed and
estimated the useful life at 12 years based on the considerations of the long term
relationship built up with the suppliers, market practice in the transportation
ticketing service industry as well as that the turnover and churn rate of suppliers
in the past. The Company also benchmarked with the useful life of the similar
intangible assets from the comparable deals in the market.

The IT platform mainly includes Tongcheng Online Business self-developed
metasearch platform and the related technologies. The Company assessed
and estimated the useful life of these assets at 6 years primarily based on the
comparable market deals of similar technology platforms.

The business cooperation arrangement represents a Strategic Cooperation
Arrangement entered with the Shareholder in 2015. The business cooperation
arrangement initially had a term of five years and was extended for additional one
year in 2017. The shareholder will deploy certain agree-upon business resources
to Tongcheng Online Business to increase the user traffic of the Tongcheng
Online Business's platform.

Goodwill is primarily attributable to the synergies expected to be achieved from
the Acquisition. Following the Acquisition, benefiting from the experience and
technological development of Tongcheng Network and eLong Group and their
complementary resources, the Group will achieve greater economies of scale,
solidified its market leadership and accomplished a stronger ability to provide
comprehensive travel products and services offering.

The fair value of acquired trade receivables is RMB289,489,000. The gross
contractual amount for trade receivables due is RMB290,697,000, of which
RMB1,208,000 is expected to be uncollectible.

33.XBE 6 (F)

WIERRERER(E)

WEERNCHNBTLEETRRREDSR  #
ERERBE TYE  XBAFERERAEGBELE
E - WRZEETWEENEBAMHITREA - BV
WIEARBEERRE -

(@)

AEBR AR EXBHmE - HRABAR
BERAEREY  BAXEERA/IES
mELRAMARNRE ) ARBEERRA
BREREUMRBHRE N - WHEERAK
BERGRMERRE ) HRAENER
W\ RAMBE FORRRS - Riv) ERIKE
1THIBE - AR ERRRLEERTR o

KRR ERMB AR A R R (B
RER EEFHBERREHER)NG
MEBRAE - b - AARERNEHRERE
VHERBBER  BERREREITENT
SEOIARFREAENEEBRRAERE
ZERRFE G EATERFHA12F -
ARBIFSEHG EAELRI HELNE
BT EERREREH -

TYeXEeRERRERXBEERAENT
BRT A RBARMN - B NARERE
BT F & A & L BT5 2 5 R R b at %
SEEAEAFHMR6F -

XA E T AFRAF—EZRE
FISLHV B AR B - RIBBER BTG
FHARLFE R_T—LFERBE—F-K
RERREE L XBEHEE T HENXREE
R AEMARR EXBFENRPRE -

BEIEZRBENUBEERAERKERNHR
BHE - WEERIREK - RN R REE
SENEBERMABEAREEHER - K
SECEREANRRYEE - ZEHMIHE
By R R E R BB AR R EIRTTE
o M AR

FIBAZSRBFENAREBEAARYKE
289,489,0007C ° H|HAIM B 5 FE WK IB A &
wwEE A AR 290697,0007T 0 EF AR
1,208,000 T T8 A& AT YL [E] -
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33.BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Acquisition of Tongcheng Online Business (continued)

The acquired business contributed revenue of RMB3,468 million and net
loss of RMB52 million to the Group for the period from March 9, 2018, the
acquisition date, to December 31, 2018. If the Acquisition had occurred on 1
January 2018, consolidated pro-forma revenue and profit for the year ended
December 31, 2018 would have been RMB6,090,787,000 and RMB732,860,000

respectively. These amounts have been calculated using the subsidiary’s

results and adjusting them for:

* differences in the accounting policies between the Group and the

subsidiary, and

® the additional depreciation and amortization that would have been
charged assuming the fair value adjustments to intangible assets and

land use rights had applied from January 1, 2018, together with the

consequential tax effects.

Acquisition-related costs of RMB9.9 million that were not directly attributable
to the issuance of shares are included in administrative expenses in

consolidated statements of comprehensive income and in operating cash

flows in the statement of cash flows.

3.EKEO(E)

WEERERER(A)

ZE-NF=ZAABAkEBRE)E
—Ai+:ﬂ:+—5%ﬁ%%k%%ﬁ
AEEEEKRSARE 3468 EHETLRER
%%AE%QE%%oH%%%EM—"
—NF—A—HBEL AEEZE-ZT-N\F
+:ﬂ£+*5¢¢&%ﬁaﬁ%%ﬁ&
w1 5 Bl A A R ¥ 6,000,787,000 7T R A R #E
732,860,0007T © ZE @K A FRARIME
BatE - WA TS EHEIEL A

e AEFEEFARZHEGTHRENE
2Rk
e RE& —NF—-—A—BREREFEE

E&iﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ%E%
FERABATEARENEIMERE
i ERERRERE -

TEEBBRETRMOKBEEBABEA
R¥09BE LI ALRE 2 H Wz KR AITH
AYRBESRERNEERSRE °
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Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F “T—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBEFT
Profit before income tax BR PSR & 7 601,526 134,021
Adjustment for: BLATIEE % :
— Foreign exchange losses —INEE R (16,502) 1,365
— Issuance of ordinary shares at discount (Note 29) — A E T L @R (KEE29) 113,099 —
— Issuance of ordinary shares for the Listing —mEMETEER 91,508 —
— Allowance for doubtful accounts —EREE 3,751 1,098
— Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, = Hj’%%¥ Jﬁ’i%& SR
plant and equipment (Note 14) =/ (E18) (FisE14) (500) 534
— Depreciation of property, plant = ’WJ% BB K& 1%?)?%
and equipment (Note 14) (PfF5E 14) 116,655 45077
— Amortization of intangible assets (Notes 19) — B (MIEE19) 339,309 39,073
— Share-based compensation (Note 8) — DARR 1 /% BT 6 357 B (Bt = 8) 572,191 56,783
— Gain from disposal of equity investments — N EEERENRE = (753)
— Fair value changes on investments measured at —EBARBEFEEEEEA
fair value through profit or loss EHERNREAREE
2e) (78,572) (863)
— Fair value change on redeemable convertible —RAnBEFEEHEEH
preferred shares measured at fair value FTAEHEmA ] fE D
through profit or loss (Note 25) ATEBEER AR EESE
(K& 25) (907,734) (97,576)
— Finance income — BB A (12,888) (10,145)
— Finance cost — BB 1,633 —
- Other gains, net — H A a5 55 (1,933) (10,056)
— Share of results from investments — RS ARIIRE RS
in associates (Note 15) (PfFEE15) 4,568 2,251
Changes in working capital: BEEREE
— Trade receivables — B S EWIEA (846,377) 343,464
— Prepayment and other receivables — TR FRIE K E A FE YR IR 61,617 84,881
— Trade payables — B EMNFIE 1,674,085 199,640
— Accrued expenses and other current liabilities — PR R EMRB A E 790,664 (73,773)
Cash generated from operating activities BEEBERE 2,506,100 715,021
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34.NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH
FLOWS (continued)

(@) In the consolidated statements of cash flows, proceeds
from sale of property, plant and equipment comprise:

. GERERERMEE

() EFEERERERR HEY
X BERRBFREIHEESE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-HA=+t—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBFT

Net book value BREFE 6,985 596
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEME - RE RBRED

plant and equipment Wz, (F18) 500 (534)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BRER

plant and equipment HREBATSRIE 7,485 62

(b) Non-cash investing and financing activities

(b) FRERERMETH

Year ended December 31,

BE+t-A=+—-HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBETT

Issuance of ordinary shares in connection PUEE S IEEITEBR
with the Acquisition (Note 29) (P 5E29)
Conversion of the Preferred Shares to HHE S IR B 75 3 AR

ordinary shares (Note 25) (P 25)

8,690,267 —

5,438,981 —
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34.NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH  34.5F&HRE&RERM T (Z)
FLOWS (continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities generated from financing (c) MMEEBHFEEEENYEER
activities
Redeemable
Borrowings Borrowings convertible
due within due after Interest preferred
ayear ayear payable shares Total
—FR —£# AEE
B HME EE R EAFE AEEEER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR NS AR%T T ARBTR ARETR
As of January 1,2018 BE-Z-\5-A-H 19,692 172,305 = 6,347,647 6,539,644
Cash flows Hene (19,692) - (10,346) - (30,038)
Fair value changes of the BERAREEEZEY
Preferred Shares = = = (907,734) (907,734)
Converted into ordinary shares BARLRR = = — (5438981)  (5438,981)
Fair value change relating to preferred 6 B 5 {5 E RIS BM & 5% ik
shares due to own credit risk EHEAREEE — — — (932) (932)
Accrued interest expenses M BRI - — 10,604 — 10,604
Other non-cash movements HihER a8 19,692 (19,692) - - —
As of December 31,2018 BEZZ-N\&
+-R=+-H 19,692 152,613 258 = 172,563
As of January 1, 2017 BE2-_Z—+F—-H—H — — — 6,398,631 6,398,631
Cash flows Heng 19,692 172,305 (1,740) — 190,257
Fair value changes of the BERAABEZE
Preferred Shares — — — (97,576) (97,576)
Fair value change relating to preferred  #1 B & {5 SRR EH A E LK
shares due to own credit risk =R — — — 46,592 46592
Accrued interest expenses Rt SRS = = 1,740 = 1,740
As of December 31,2017 HE-T—tF
+-A=+—-H 19,692 172,305 — 6,347,647 6,539,644
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35.BANKING FACILITIES

As of December 31, 2018, the Group has banking facilities available in the
form of letters of guarantee of RMB1,807.4 million (December 31, 2017:
RMB39.1 million), in which RMB592.1 million (December 31, 2017: RMB39.1

million) are utilised and provided to a business partner in connection with air

ticketing business for financial security.

36.CONTINGENCIES

As of December 31, 2018, the Group did not have any significant contingent

liabilities (December 31, 2017: nil).

37.COMMITMENT

(a) Operating lease commitments

The Group leases offices under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements. The future aggregate minimum lease payments under

non-cancellable operating leases at each of the balance sheet dates are

—N\F+ZA=+—RHIFE

5. BITEEME
BE-_T—\F+-A=+—8 4A&E
BEEUERIEARRNBITIEERES
RAARK18074FEL(ZE—+tF+=
A=+—08: AR®30088x) EFA
REsoIBET(ZE—+tF+=A=+—
H: AR¥30I0BEIT)ED BRI
THBAMEEGIEM IR -

36. 5 AEIH
BE-_T—\&+-A=+—0 £A%£H

WEAMNEASKAEBE(ZZE—+F+_-A
=+—H:&)-
37.7KIE

(a) WEHERE

AEBRBEIAIRECLEHERER
ENRE NEEEAGBRAH T
AHEEEHETREZEBEENK

as follows: MR
As of December 31,
BE+=-RA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT
No later than 1 year TEBB—F 38,040 15,131
Between 1 and 2 years —EME 3,239 5736
Between 2 and 5 years MERF 4,195 7,027

45,474 27,894
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37.COMMITMENT (continued)

(b)

Purchase commitments

The purchase commitments represent the minimum payment that
the Company would pay for the prepurchase of hotel room nights

assuming inventory risk pursuant to the existing agreements with

37.7KIE(E
(b) BBE&AIE

BEAREREARRREEBEENRA
195 5 15 54 B o 7R A R A R AR A SR G
BEERR)

hotels.
As of December 31,
BEZ+=-A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBFT
Purchase commitments i BRIE — 54,436

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for not yet incurred as of December 31,

2018 and 2017 is as follows:

(c) BEAELE

BHE_Z—\Fh-_ZT—+F+_-A8
=—+—8 BIHNEBEHAELENEAR

KT
As of December 31,
BZ+=-A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—tF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTT

Property and equipment LI EINE

187,530 —
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38.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or
indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence over the

other party in making financial and operation decisions. Parties are also

38.FH AR Z
M—H BN EEREEES S~ - &
EEEHEREEREEN R — T EE
KRB BT ERAEET - My

considered to be related if they are subject to common control. Members RERES - TR BB c AREE

of key management and their close family member of the Group are also

considered as related parties.

Save as disclosed in other notes, the following significant transactions were
carried out between the Group and its related parties during the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. In the opinion of the Directors of the
Company, the related party transactions were carried out in the normal

course of business and at terms negotiated between the Group and the

respective related parties.

(a) Names and relationships with related parties

The following companies are related parties of the Group that had

balances and/or transactions with the Group during the years ended

December 31,2018 and 2017.

Company
A

REREK B R F IR IR RAR S R R
e

BREMMFMBEREEIN ATEARRS
DHASBREBABRAREE-_T—N\F
;F—E—+F+-_A=+—HILEFERE
1) e RRRESZRE  %E@BARST)
MR BEEGEIETIRAEE R Q)R
T EE IR TETT

(a) BB EFAE L HNEBR

LTRREARNEEMEAE S - WK
BHE-_ZT - \FER=ZZE—tF+=A
—t+—HLEFEHEAEEELEHRE S
R °

Relationship with the Group
BRAE B HRA R

Ctrip and its affiliated companies
A2 N HLE R 1 A

Tencent and its affiliated companies
P R BB B A )

City Legend International Limited
EERBRARAR

Tongcheng Holdings and its subsidiaries
[EES2 9N o]

Beijing Miot Technology Co.,, Ltd.
EFORR TR BR A A
Subsidiary A diluted to associate
HERHE RNRINFARIA
Subsidiary B diluted to associate
BERBE TN FRAB

Shareholder with significant influence over the Group
HAEEAREATZE KR

Shareholder with significant influence over the Group
HEAEEARERZENNRE

Shareholder with significant influence over the Group
HEAEEARERZENNKRE

Controlled by shareholders with significant influence over the Group
HEAEEEFEATE AR ER
Associate

= /NC]

Associate

/NG

Associate

(YNl
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3B.EREHERE (&
(b) EHEABSHWEARS

38.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Significant transactions with related parties

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1t—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-)N\F —E—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR®ET T
Commission and other service income WE B B s e &
received from related parties: EMARIEUBA
— Ctrip and its affiliates —EREREEBAR 1,127,980 243783
- Tongcheng holdings and its subsidiaries —RBERREFAF] 1,699 —
- City legend international limited —ESEEBRAR 124 —
Total #aEt 1,129,803 243,783
Commission, settlement and other M R Ae
service fees paid to related parties: HEEREMREE
— Ctrip and its affiliates —EBREIEBB AR 183,827 573,128
~Tencent and its affiliates — AL EEE AR 552,918 31,655
- Tongcheng holdings and its subsidiaries —RBERREFAF] 62,375 —
Total it 799,120 604,783
(c) Balance with related parties (c) EEREEE &8s
As of December 31,
BE+=-H=+—~H
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E 5
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Trade receivables, prepayment and R B a7 Y E S EGRIE
other receivables from related parties TE - 308 I E A FEUGRIE
(Note 21 & 22): (MisE21 & 22) -
— Ctrip and its affiliates —EBREEABE AR 315,615 273,480
- Tencent and its affiliates o 8 YN 45,677 56,138
— Tongcheng Holdings and its subsidiaries —RREREREFAR] 72,890 —
— Others —HAi 28,701 —
Total it 462,883 329618
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38.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Balance with related parties (continued)

The receivables from related parties arise mainly from ordinary course of
business. The receivables are unsecured, interest-free and with no fixed
term of repayment. No provisions have been made against receivables

from related parties.

3B.EREHRERE (&
(c) EABAEETS G564 (4F)

FEM BB T SRR E BN —REH B
hEL BESNE - RKRKFIAEE
HR - A EEEBEEERMR - I
R RE UK BEHSE 77 SRR B o

As of December 31,

BZ+=-A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000

AR¥T T ARETT

Trade payables and other payables to S TR B S RN RIE R
related parties (Note 26 & 27): A pE A R IE (B 3 26 2 27) -
— Ctrip and its affiliates —EREREBEBAR 1,277,103 152,826
- Tencent and its affiliates — B R H BB AR 1,381 362
- Tongcheng Holdings and its subsidiaries —RRRER &R EFAF] 15,265 —
- Others —Hity 6,583 1,442
Total et 1,300,332 154,630

The payables to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and with no

fixed term of repayment.

MBI FRER - REFBRETE
£ BEZUHE - BNRE/ER
- RERERTEEFHR -
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38.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 3BBERBWARZ (&
(d) Key management personnel compensations (d) TEEE ASHH
The compensations paid or payable to key management personnel REERBENIERNEZEERAES
(including CEO and other senior executives) for employee services are (BREITHREZREMSRITERAE)
show below: NS R -
As of December 31,
BZ+=-A=+—H
2018 2017
—2-N\F —FtF
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Wages, salaries and bonuses IE& - FeRk{Ea 11,626 6,188
Pension costs - defined contribution plans BRRERA —REEEE 336 198
Other social security costs, housing benefits HMgRERE - EEEMNR
and other employee benefits HAth{g 524 300 234
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 8)  LARX {7 A E i R BH & S (FiaEs) 152,685 11,916
Total st 164,947 18,536
A
39.SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 30.FHREEN
There were no material subsequent events during the period from December RZZE—N\F+ZA=+—HEZFT—AN
31,2018 to the approval date of these consolidated financial statements by FZATHhBESSUZSEMHUBRE

the Board of Directors on March 19, 2019. o B IFEIER B A ERBEETE o
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40.FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY

40. X RN A M BRRRFEEE

(i) Financial position of the Company (i) ADEHBEARR
As of December 31,
BZ+=-A=+—8H
2018 2017
—EB-N\F —E—+tF
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B aE ARBT ARBTIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries KERFRAT] 18,792,536 9,530,826
Prepayment and other receivables TE A FRIE R H A FE YRR 15 15
18,792,551 9,530,841
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment and other receivables A IR Ko B A JE W IR 3,429 —
Short-term investments measured BARBEAEEEZEHTA
at fair value through profit or loss EHEENERERE 205,896 —
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRSZEY 1,328,234 —
1,537,559 —
Total assets EERE 20,330,110 9,530,841
EQUITY Em
Capital and reserves attributable RATERTE AESL
to equity holders of the Company EXR#EE
Share capital fi& 7 7,156 99
Share premium & mE 17,311,220 1,514,310
Other reserves H A 40(ii) 2,173,438 1,607,990
Retained earnings 25t &EF 822,063 60,795
Total equity fERER 20,313,877 3,183,194
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40.FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 40. XD B ER R R AEEH
OF THE COMPANY (continued) (&)

(i) RRFHBARRE)

As of December 31,

(i) Financial position of the Company (continued)

BZEZ+=-RA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B & AR¥T R AREET T
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities kFRBEE
Redeemable convertible A B [B] A] s (8 ST A%
preferred shares 25 — 6,347,647
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals HithE I R FERHE A 16,233 —
Total liabilities BEAR 16,233 6,347,647
Total equity and liabilities EERkBERE 20,330,110 9,530,841
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40.FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(ii) Reserve movement of the Company

40.?5’25§Jﬂ7ﬁ%#|ﬁ555&ﬁ%1%ﬁ§b

(i) XA FEEE

Retained earnings ~ Other reserves

wEEF Hitw R
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T T AR¥T
At January 1,2018 R=-ZB—N\§—A—H 60,795 1,607,990
Profit for the year F K5 ) 770,147 —
Fair value change of the Preferred HERNEERRZEH
Shares attributable to changes in credit risk BEBRAREBEZS — 932
Reclassification of the accumulated fair value A NME B R #8898 5k R
change of the Preferred Shares attributable BHARBEEDHENHIEE
to changes in credit risk to accumulated E e REHEE
losses upon conversion (8,879) 8,879
Share-based compensations (Note 8) LARGAD BB F BN (M 5E8) — 572,191
Purchase of vested Equity Awards in HELABEERBREER
connection with the Restructuring = (739)
Currency translation differences fEH =% — (15,815)
At December 31,2018 R-B-N\F+=ZA=+—H 822,063 2,173,438
At January 1, 2017 R=—Z2—t§—HA—H (36,781) 1,602,181
Profit for the year FNm A 97,576 —
Fair value change of the Preferred Shares HEREERBRZEHE LR
attributable to changes in credit risk N EEZEE — (46,592)
Purchase of vested Equity Awards in NEAEECRBREEE
connection with the Restructuring — (4,382)
Share-based compensations (Note 8) VARG AR A EE R M3 BN (B 5 8) — 56,783
At December 31,2017 R-B—tH+=A=+—H 60,795 1,607,990
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41.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as of December 31, 2018

are set out below:

TRF]
AREN-F-\ET-A=+-AEEB
FRRFERINT -

Country/place of Equity/beneficial
operation and Particulars of issued/ interest held as at
Company name date of incorporation paid-in capital December 31,2018  Principal activities
R-B-N\F
EEAR/ HER t=A=t-B%E
ARER AL A BRT/BBRAFE HRE/BEES ITEY
Directly held:
EERE:
elong Inc. PRC/April 4, 2001 US$0.01 100%  Investment holding
23 HE/ 001%7T REER
—ZZ-FNARA
Indirectly held:
BERA
elong Net Information Technology (Beijing) Co., PRC/August 17,1999 US$214,277,229 100%  Platform service of
Ltd. hotel business
EEREERIWER)BRAT HE/ 214,277,229 7T BEEBOT & RS
—AANFENATLR
el.ong Information Technology (Hefei) Co,, Ltd. PRC/July 09,2012 US$5,000,000 100%  Hotel business service/
business process
outsourcing service
BRESRM(AE)BRAR e/ 5000000 7T EEEBRS,/
—Z-_%+ANA EBRRINIRS
Beijing eLong Information Technology Co, Ltd. PRC/November 28, 2000 RMB16,000,000 100%  Information technology
outsourcing/advertising
service
ERERERRITERAR hE/ AR 16,0000007 R,/
“ERRE+-AZTNR &5 R
Beijing eLong Air Services Co, Ltd. PRC/October 23, 2002 RMB23,000,000 100%  Air ticket service
It REEMERBEERAR hE/ AR¥ 23,000,000 7T BB
—ZE-FTA-t=H
Beijing eLong International Travel Co, Ltd. PRC/July 29, 2004 RMB1,500,000 100%  Hotel business service/

T REERRKTHERAR

R,/
“ZEMFLA=+ANA

AR 1,500,000 7T

other travel service
G EBRE
HARITRS
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41.SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Company name

NEAEB

Country/place of
operation and

date of incorporation

BEER, HER
SR A

4. FRFE)
Equity/beneficial
Particulars of issued/ interest held as at
paid-in capital December 31,2018
R=ZB-N\%&
t=A=t-B%%

BRT/BRRARE HRE/HEER

Principal activities

TREHR

Tianjin Chengmei Technology Development
Co, Ltd.
REREMBERERAA

Shenzhen JL-Tour International Travel Service
Co, Ltd.
AT REREER R T BRAF

Xinyi Insurance Brokers (Beijing) Co, Ltd.

EERRELLR)BRAF

Beijing Asia Media Interactive Advertising Co,, Ltd.
EREMNEYEEERERAR

Suzhou Longyue Tiancheng Information
Technology Co, Ltd.
FMEEREESMRARAR

Suzhou Chenghuiwan International Travel Agency
Co, Ltd.
FMRemBERRTHEERAF

Nanjing Tongyou Car Rental Co, Ltd.
ARFABERTAEREERAF

PRC/December 31,2013

mE/

—T-—=F+-A=+—H

PRC/October 09, 2001

R,/
—TE-F+ANH
PRC/May 09, 2016

i/
~2-AEEANA
PRC/August 02, 2000
i/
“ZEETEN\AZA
PRC/September 07,2017

HE/
“E—+FNAtA
PRC/November 24, 2015

mE/

—T-RF+—A=T@EA

PRC/October 28,2016
HE/
—FE+AZTAR

RMB15,000,000 100%
AR#15,000,0007T

RMB2,430,769 54%
AREE 2,430,769 TC

RMB50,000,000 100%
AR 50000,0007T

RMB30,000,000 100%
AR#30000,0007T

RMB0.00 100%
AR 0007T

RMB1,000,000 100%
AR 1,000,000

— 100%

Investment holding
REZR

International travel service
BB AT IR

Insurance brokerage
business

RBELE

Advertising service

BE R

Information technology
outsourcing
BB

Travel related services

IRITHRB RS

Travel related services

IRITHRB RS
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41.SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 4. FRaE(E)
Country/place of Equity/beneficial
operation and Particulars of issued/ interest held as at
Company name date of incorporation paid-in capital December 31,2018  Principal activities
R=B-N%F
EEER HER TZA=1+-BER
NEAEH AL B 5 BRT/EBRAFE HRE/BREE ITEY
Suzhou Chenglv Tianxia Information Technology ~ PRC/December 23, 2015 RMB100,000 100%  Travel related services
Co, Ltd.
FMEIRA TERRMAERAR hE/ AR¥100,0007C IRATIERAR TS
“E-RFtT-AZt=H
Beijing Tongcheng Huading International Travel PRC/January 12,2011 RMB5,000,000 100%  Travel related services
Agency Company Limited
ERARERBERKTHERAR hE/ AR H 5,000,000 7 TS
—F——%-A+=H
Beijing Tianyuan Difang Insurance Agency PRC/May 28, 2010 RMB50,000,000 100%  Travel related services
Company Limited
REHH (LR RBREER AT HE/ AR 50,0000007C RATARR AR
“E-ZERA-TNR
Suzhou Chengyi Technology Co, Ltd. PRC/March 21,2018 = 100%  Travel related services
FMEREEBRRRER AR HE/ - IRATAR R AR
“E2-\$=A-+—-H
Tongcheng Network Technology Co, Ltd. PRC/March 10,2004 RMB111,319,969 100%  Travel related services
FREEMRR N ERAF HE/ ARE 1113199697 IRATAR R AR
—ZEEWME=A+H
(@ The English names of certain subsidiaries referred herein represent (@) WLEARIMETFRARIMNEELTHE

REEEFEZRABNHZERFNF
NEBELOBE  BAZS QAN
BERLAXAME -

the Directors’ best effort at translating the Chinese names of these

companies as no English names have been registered.

(b) All companies comprising the Group have adopted December 31 as (b) HAKRAEENRBERARZEMAT A
=t+—AREMRELEH -

their financial year end date.
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In this announcement, unless the context otherwise require, the following RARE  BXESEEN LW THE=ESH

expressions shall have the following meaning:

“2016 Share Incentive Plan”

[ZZ—RFERMD B S ]

“2018 Share Incentive Plan”

[ZZ—N\FRO S ]

AGM”

[BRRBFERE]

Al
[AICATIER) ]

“Articles of Association”

[AABERAR]

“Audit Committee”

[EZZEE]

“Beijing E-dragon”

[bmEse ]

“Board”

£33

“China” or "PRC"

=0

‘Company”

[R27]]

INCE

the share incentive plan adopted and approved by the Company on August 26, 2016
RARRZZE—ARFNRAZ T RNBRARIENR D BB 2

the share incentive plan adopted and approved by the Company on March 9, 2018
ARARRZZE—NF = BB EHRAER D B8

the 2018 annual general meeting of the Company to be held on May 29, 2019 or any
adjournment thereof

ARRBR-B-NFRA-TARBTHN -2 - \FRRBFRGREEME

=

=

artificial intelligence
ATERE

the articles of association of the company adopted on October 12,2018 and effective on
November 26, 2018 and as amended from time to time

RoF—N\F+A+ - BRMER - T \F+— A HRBERORA TGS
A GENEZERD)

the audit committee of the Board

EFxgE%RZEBE

Beijing eLong Information Technology Co, Ltd. (1t REARE(Z BRI AR A 7)), a limited
liability company established under the laws of the PRC on November 28, 2000, which is
one of the Contractual Arrangement Entities

IREEFEERMARRAT  RZZBZZF+ A+ N\BREBEHBUEEK A
REERTF  RENTHERZ —

the board of directors of the Company

ARREEE

People’s Republic of China, except where the context requires otherwise and only for the
purposes of this announcement, excluding Hong Kong, the Macao Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China and Taiwan

FEARKNME  RXEBESEREINERARENS - TEESE  FEARH
AERPISRITRE & &4

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited ([A] 72 £ 8 1% I B BR 2 7)), an exempted company
with limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on January 14, 2016
FRSEEZERERAR  R-Z—RF-ATHERBERASHESEETMKIZHN
EHRRAR QT



“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”

[PFREBE R

"

“Contractual Arrangement(s)

(A%

“Corporate Governance Code”

[FERSTA

"Ctrip”

[ 4572

"Director(s)”

[E=%]

“E-dragon Beijing WFOE"

[ #4384t = WFOE

‘eLong” or “eLong Cayman”

(&8 [ 2R

“Global Offering”
[EIREE

GMV”

[ 5%

”GI’OUD”, “We”, HUSH, or "our”

(RS s 2]

—ZT— )\FE4F3R | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

DEFINITION

the entities we control through certain contractual arrangements

HFBEE TANLHHENNER

the series of contractual arrangements entered into by, among others, E-dragon Beijing
WFOE, Longyue Tiancheng WFOE and the Contractual Arrangement Entities, details of
which are described in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus

B (EPBE)#EI R WFOE « BEMRIRWFOE RA XL HFERAEILH —RIEH
28 FIBRANBRER SR 6

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

N TR A S AT E (R EERSTRID)

Ctrip.com International, Ltd., a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of the
Cayman Islands on March 3, 2000 whose shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: CTRP)
Ctrip.com International, Ltd. * —HIRZZEZEZTF = A= HRER S FH S EEFMAK
SEBERAT - HRMIEMNETER T (RGHARSE - CTRP)

the director(s) of the Company

RRFES

elong Net Information Technology (Beijing) Co,, Ltd. (B3EME BT (Ibm) BRAAD),
a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established under the laws of the PRC on August 17,
1999 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

BEVBELSEMELR)BERAT - R—AANENA T+ BRBERBUEER I
HBELE  RARFRNEEFAA

elong Inc, a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on May 19,
2004
elong Inc. ' RZZETMFR A TN ARERSHE EEFMKZAEE

the offering of the Company's Shares as described in the Prospectus

BRERMMAN AR BN E

gross merchandise volume, the total value of merchandise sold in the specified market or
through a specified platform during a given period
EmR 5 ERERBANEETRERET TS LHENEmEE

the Company, its subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entities from time to time and,
unless otherwise indicated, the historical results of operations and financial condition of the
Group for the years ended and as of December 31, 2017 and 2018 presented and discussed
in this announcement do not reflect those of Tongcheng Online Business

RRAR) - BB FRARRHRBEER  KRSAHAN - AREMRE5 K
WOAEEEE T —tE R - NFT_ A=+ —-BLEFEURBEZEH
HAR R & 38 R I SR T R R AR AR | 3T e A8 & 2548 IR IR0
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DEFINITION

“Hong Kong”
[&E]

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange” or
"Stock Exchange”

[ E B S e B s P

ASB”
[BIfR &t EREES |

“|CP License(s)”
[CPRFAI 3 |

“IFRS”

[ BFR B 75 3 5 2 A

[ Latest Practicable Date |

[RIZBRRATTHH

“Listing”

[E7]

“Listing Date”

[EmEH]

“Listing Rules”

[ Er#RAI]

“Longyue Tiancheng WFOE"

[ BE R F2 WFOE

“Main Board”

[E1R]

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China

FEARAMBEBFHITHRER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

EEBMERHMARRAT

the International Accounting Standards Board

BERetEAEES

Value added Telecommunications Services Operating Permit for Internet information

services

NEBBERRBAEBEENEETERBRLETIE

International Financial Reporting Standards, amendments, and interpretations, as issued
from time to time by the IASB
Bt AR Ee MR EMHOBERMEHREER - EFTANEE

April 16, 2019, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this annual
report for the purpose of ascertaining the information contained herein
ZE-NFEA+TRAE  BARFRMNEFTHEEETAEE TEHNNREBRA(T
A

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, which occured on the
Listing Date
BRI LT BB R R EH

November 26, 2018, the date on which the Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange

“E-N\E+-AZTARB - BRORBRATIRETEEH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

EAMERHMARARER LWRA - ETRERT - BRIARMIER

Suzhou Longyue Tiancheng Information Technology Co, Ltd. (&R BB # K215 B BHE
BBRAF]), a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established under the laws of the PRC on
September 7, 2017 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
FNEBREEEMEABRAR  RZE—tFNA L BERBEFBUAEKZAING
BELE  RARFINEZETFAR

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange which is
independent from and operates in parallel with the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange

ML ENESR (T RIEHETS) - BB GEM - I B EFF1T
BIE



“MAUSs"
[ AR

“Model Code”

EEoEl

“MPUS”

[ANERFE]

"

“Nomination Committee’

[REZBE]

“OTA”
[OTA]

"Prospectus”

[ R E?E

“Renumeration committee”
=2 P ==

“Reorganization”

[E4]

“RMB"
AR

SO

[ &7 KRR D]

d

“Share Incentive Plans”
=GR
“Share(s)"

[ ]

“Shareholder(s)"

[ A% R

“substantial shareholder(s)”
[EBRE

“Suzhou Chengyi”

[FRMI2E

—ZT— )\FE4F3R | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

DEFINITION

monthly active users who access our platforms at least once during a calendar month
—fEERAREEARMTE RO AERRP
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix

10 to the Listing Rules
AR RIS E TR IT AE S HITE SRR HHIRESPR

monthly paying users who make purchases on our platforms at least once during a calendar
month

—EEAZELEE-RWANERP

nomination committee of the Board

ExgR¥%Be

online travel agency
AT &

the prospectus dated November 14, 2018 issued by the Company
RRABR T N\F+—A+HBETIENERERR

the remuneration committee fo the Board

ExeVMEzRe

the reorganization arrangements undertaken by the Group in preparation for the Listing

AEBEAEHB ETMETHNEATH

Renminbi, the lawful currency of China

AR - RBUETEEH

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,

supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BREHIE 571 BCEGZRIIB IR - B AEHER] - MFERAE T A EK

the 2016 share Incentive Plan and the 2018 Share Incentive Plan

T REFRD AR 8 R B \F RO BB S

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, currently of nominal value US$0.0005

each

AR B B A o 3R B 4 AR TET {6 0.0005 27T R B B AR
holder(s) of the Share(s)

ROFEE A

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules

BB EmARRIE T 2 RE

Suzhou Chengyi Internet Technology Limited (% M 12 2 48 4% &L £ B BR 2 &), a limited
liability company established under the laws of the PRC on March 21, 2018, which is one of
the Contractual Arrangement Entities

FIMNEBBEMFAERAR BB N\FZA -+ —HRBEPEEEZRINER
BERR RENRHERZ—
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“Tencent”

=]

“Tencent-based platforms”

[EAETFa ]

“Tongcheng” or

“Tongcheng Network”

REEEN ARGEES
“Tongcheng-eLong Merger”
[FFZEEES B

“Tongcheng Holdings”

[ AR

“Tongcheng Online Business”

[FI2 4R £ 57

Tepr
[TSP]

“USD” or “US$”
[T

Tencent Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on
November 23, 1999 and subsequently redomiciled to the Cayman Islands on February 27,
2004 as an exempted company under the laws of the Cayman Islands, whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 700)

BARERERAF  —HAR—ANNFt A -+ =R ERERXESEMAL
BWRE HER -ZZEMF A -+t ARBEH A EZERERR A RIEM
ZHRENS - HIROEBAER T (RGHARSE - 700)

(i) our proprietary Weixin-based mini programs, which can be accessible by Weixin users
through the “Rail & Flight” and “Hotel” portals in Weixin Wallet, the mobile payment interface
of Tencent's Weixin or from the drop-down list of the favorite or most frequently used mini
programs in Weixin; and (i) the “Rail & Flight” and “Hotel” in QQ Wallet, the mobile payment
interface of Tencent’s Mobile QQ and certain other portals in Mobile QQ

O BERMENERF - MERFPATEBMEES(BMMENBS X NAE) M AE
EWE IRDEEIAQKRBERESZTER/NEFH TRIIRPEA : & ()QQ
BER(BBHRENEABHQQNRAME) KRB FHQQHhE T HEMA AR NEEH
EIRDEE ]

Tongcheng Network Technology Limited ( (Al 2 48 #& &} 52 I8 17 B BR 2 7)), a joint stock
limited company established under the laws of the PRC on March 10, 2004, which is one of
the Contractual Arrangement Entities

FRREEMEBRHERAR R _ZTWF =+ BREBERBEEKNZINRNE
RAR  RAENRHERZ—

the acquisition of Tongcheng Network by the Company

ZNCIE AR

Tongcheng Holdings Co, Ltd. (7] 12 1% I& J& 3 & BR /2 &)), a joint stock limited company
established under the laws of the PRC on March 17, 2017 pursuant to a spin-off from
Tongcheng Network

FARERBRMARLIGF  —KBEBERBEEHS A RBPEEER _T—+F=
A+ BN BRA R

the online business unit of Tongcheng Network which comprises transportation ticketing,
accommodation reservation and certain other travel-related online services offered through
its online platforms

FREMMNG EEKEN  BREBERLEFARANEBRY  EEEILSE
T H o iR Bz AR B AR AR TS

travel service providers

T AR 765 (L FE 7

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America

7t XBEEEEHN
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